# NEW TEACHER INDUCTION IN THE AGE OF SOCIAL MEDIA: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF TEACHERS IN THEIR SECOND AND THIRD YEAR IN THE CLASSROOM

by

Loretta Ann Carter

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University

2020

# NEW TEACHER INDUCTION IN THE AGE OF SOCIAL MEDIA: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF TEACHERS IN THEIR SECOND AND THIRD YEAR IN THE CLASSROOM

by Loretta Ann Carter

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2020

APPROVED BY:

Gail Collins, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Christopher Clark, Ed.D., Committee Member

# ABSTRACT

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. Social media is described as blogging, discussion boards, Facebook, Google Hangouts, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Snapchat, Twitter, or YouTube videos. The theories guiding this study were Knowles' adult learning theory and Bandura's social cognitive learning theory as they relate to how adults learn and are motivated by following the examples of role models. Transcendental phenomenology was selected as the research method to consider the experiences of teachers returning for their second or third year of teaching and attempt to discover what their induction encounter was like. This study considered if social media has become a formal or informal part of induction programs. The central research question that guided the study asked, What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience? Ten teachers provided input through three data collection methods that included online participant journals, semi-structured interviews, and focus group discussions. Five themes were developed during data analysis including social media usage, communication between new teachers and mentors, reasons teacher quit, teacher induction experiences, and what support is needed. These themes confirmed that social media plays an informal yet important role in the new teacher induction experience. All participants connected with social media resources daily for assistance with lesson planning, classroom management, advice for interactive and engaging activities, and for questions and emotional support.

Keywords: teacher induction, social media, teacher attrition

**Copyright Page** 

© Loretta Ann Carter, 2020

All rights reserved.

# Dedication

This paper is dedicated first and foremost to God. He led me in the right direction and always held me up even when I turned my back and doubted him. To my late husband, Anthony Carter, one of the finest men I have ever known. Even while he struggled with his health, he was always encouraging me to complete this great effort. His love and support are what kept me going. I know his spirit helped push me forward many times when I wanted to stop. To my family, words cannot explain how much your support and encouragement have helped me throughout this journey. You were my lifeline keeping me going during some of the most challenging times of my life. I have been so richly blessed by your love and commitment.

#### Acknowledgments

I must acknowledge the amazing teachers who helped me as I learned to be a better student and a stronger educator. I modeled your behaviors and that is a big reason why this research is so special to me. Dr. Collins, you were insightful, kind, and one of the best communicators with whom I have had the pleasure of working. I don't think I could have completed this work without your help, encouragement, and prayers. Thank you seems entirely too small compared with the efforts and support you provided. A special thank you to Dr. Clark for being such a supportive team member. Thank you to Dr. Spaulding for being so encouraging and supportive and for guiding me to Dr. Collins. Thank you to Dr. Todd for understanding what I was trying to create with this research and helping me to find a clear voice.

I would like to thank the Texas Independent School (TISD; pseudonym) administration team that worked with me as I got approval to complete my study in your district. I would like to recognize the 10 teachers from the district for graciously agreeing to be a part of this study. You have my greatest appreciation for opening up and sharing some very heartwarming and challenging stories and for being open and honest during the interviews, emails, phone calls, and focus groups. Your input, experiences, and ideas are so inspiring and the only reason this study can be shared with others. Thank you for all the children you help each and every day, and the other educators you inspire, now and in the future.

ABSTRACT
Copyright Page4
Dedication5
Acknowledgments
List of Tables
List of Abbreviations
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION14
Overview14
Background14
Historical Context15
Social Context16
Theoretical Context18
Situation to Self
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study21
Research Questions
Definitions26
Summary26
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW28
Overview
Theoretical Framework

# **Table of Contents**

Adult Learning Theory	
Social Cognitive Theory	
Related Literature	
Teacher Induction	
Teacher Attrition	
Teacher Mentoring	43
Social Media	53
Summary	
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	61
Overview	61
Design	61
Research Questions	63
Setting	63
Participants	65
Procedures	66
The Researcher's Role	69
Data Collection	69
Participant Journals	70
Semi-structured Interviews	71
Focus Group Interviews	74
Data Analysis	76
Horizonalization	76
Reduction and Elimination	77

Clustering and Thematizing the Invariant Constituents	78
Validation	78
Construct of Individual Textural Description and Individual Structural	
Description	78
Construct of Textural-Structural Description	79
Trustworthiness	79
Credibility	79
Dependability and Confirmability	80
Transferability	81
Ethical Considerations	81
Summary	82
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	83
Overview	83
Participants	84
Ms. Violet	84
Ms. Purple	86
Ms. Magenta	86
Mr. Jade	88
Mr. Red	88
Ms. Orange	89
Mr. Green	90
Ms. Black	91
Ms. Amber	92

Ms. Teal	93
Results	94
Theme Development	94
Research Question Responses	
Summary	
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	150
Overview	
Summary of Findings	150
Discussion	155
Empirical Discussions	155
Theoretical Discussions	158
Implications	161
Theoretical	162
Empirical	
Practical	165
Delimitations and Limitations	165
Recommendations for Future Research	166
Summary	167
REFERENCES	169
APPENDICES	195
Appendix A: IRB Approval Letter	195
Appendix B: Recruitment Letter	
Appendix C: Demographic Survey	

Appendix D: Acceptance Email	198
Appendix E: Rejection Email	199
Appendix F: Consent Form	200
Appendix G: Participant Journal First Entry	203
Appendix H: Participant Journal Second Entry	204
Appendix I: Participant Journal Third Entry	205
Appendix J: Interview Questions	206
Appendix K: Focus Group Questions	207
Appendix L: Researcher Reflexive Journal	208
Appendix M: Audit Trail	212
Appendix N: Open Codes and Descriptions	213

# List of Tables

Table 1. Description of Participants	66
Table 2. Open Codes Leading to Themes	95
Table 3. Social Media Usage Sub-Themes	96
Table 4. Teachers' Use of Social Media	101
Table 5. Mentor Communication Sub-Themes	102
Table 6. Why Teachers Quit Sub-Themes	109
Table 7. Teacher's Support Sub-Themes	119

# List of Abbreviations

Assistant Principal (AP)

Early Career Teachers (ECT)

English as a foreign language (EFL)

Institutional Review Board (IRB)

New Teacher Support Program (NTSP)

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)

Professional Development (PD)

Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM)

Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS)

Texas Education Agency (TEA)

Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS)

Texas Independent School District (TISD)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. This chapter looks at the historical, social, and theoretical background of new teacher induction programs. In this chapter the problem, purpose, significance of this research, and the research questions are introduced along with the relationship between the researcher and the topics to be explored. This chapter concludes with a list of terms relevant to this study and a summary.

## Background

In the United States, for more than 40 years there has been very high attrition for new teachers within their first year. New teachers face a difficult transition upon leaving their university training and stepping into a role where they are expected to be the leader in the classroom (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). Costs of this exodus nationally are projected as billions of dollars a year (Sass, Flores, Claeys, & Perez, 2012). Many teachers feel such a great sense of frustration, isolation, and dissatisfaction that they leave the field of teaching within their first few years in the classroom (Farrell, 2016). Mentoring of new teachers by experienced educators is an important part of a successful induction program (Washburn-Moses, 2010). Research is now looking at the results of ineffective induction (Kearney, 2016). Nearly half of new teachers leave the classroom within the first five years, so teacher induction plans are clearly not as effective as they were intended to be (Perry & Hayes, 2011). Teachers feel extremely vulnerable, unprepared, and alone when they start teaching. They start out with an idea in their mind of what

teaching will be like but are unprepared for the solitary nature of teaching (Cherubini, Kitchen, Goldblatt, & Smith, 2011).

## **Historical Context**

The loss of new teachers has played a role in the teacher shortage for many years (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). When beginning teachers enter a new work environment, they encounter issues from a variety of areas. School politics are generally a behind-the-scenes issue that pre-service teachers do not always see until they finish their training and take the lead role in the classroom (Newberry & Allsop, 2017). New educators deal with peer pressure and trying to fit into what can often be a socially challenging environment. This type of negative experience in which a first-year educator may not feel supported by leadership, mentors, or associates creates a professional complexity that can grow exponentially in the mind of a new teacher (Den Brok, Wubbels, & Van Tartwijk, 2017). In addition to pressures from school politics, teachers are also faced with the implications of educational policies. Mandates on education place additional pressure on experienced educators and novices alike (Heineke, 2018). All educators are required to deal with new mandates, certifications, and evaluations. Newer teachers who are not properly trained and do not receive enough support sometimes feel these daily struggles make it difficult to stay in the classroom (Verma, 2017). The frustration is felt by the teachers who are left behind to pick up the pieces as well (Glazer, 2018).

One possible solution was to use a new teacher induction program that included a mentoring component to help lower new teacher attrition rates (Lejonberg, Elstad, Sandvik, Solhaug, & Christophersen, 2018). A mentoring component is common with many induction programs, but not all programs have mentors, and the training for mentors is not consistent (Lafferty, 2018). In the 1980s the majority of mentoring that occurred was informal (Wunsch,

1993). When the attrition level for new teachers in the 1990s began a sharp increase in numbers far outweighing that of other fields of employment, mentoring was seen as a way to increase the retention of newcomers to education (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). Wunsch (1993) posited that for a mentoring program to be effective at providing novice educators with the developmental growth needed to decrease attrition, it must possess a structured and formal curriculum. Howe (2006) completed a study that examined the mentoring and induction of new teachers and how they evolved from the 1980s to the early 2000s. Howe cited studies that showed the programs being developed in the United States in the early 1980s were less than 10 but increased to more than 30 by the end of the decade before declining due to budget tightening by the year 2000.

Research has shown that adding a mentoring component does not always solve problems as it was intended (Dishena & Mokoena, 2016). In some cases, the assigned mentors may not be trained properly to be a mentor. If mentors in a school are limited and teachers are paired with a mentor who does not have the skills to help them, this could be another source of stress for both educators. If mentors were effective and supportive, they could provide a strong example of how to be an excellent educator and leader (Gilles, Wang, Fish, & Stegall, 2018). If new teachers could reach out to motivated and effective mentors outside of their school district, perhaps they would find a connection with a teacher more suited to help them grow into their educator role. As new communication methods continue to emerge, and social media is readily available to more people than ever before, this may be a solution for finding the right mentor for each new teacher (Friedman, 2006).

#### **Social Context**

In a review of empirical research, Ingersoll and Strong (2011) examined the topic of new teacher induction and the mentor component. During their research process, they examined

more than 500 papers of varying types covering the topics from different perspectives. However, the current empirical research did not investigate what role, if any, social media played in the mentoring of new teachers during their induction year. This apparent gap in the literature formed the basis for this research study.

Teachers who are technologically strong will have an unquestionable head start when working with students in their own classroom but also when they work on improving their professional development (Tomczyk et al., 2017). Social media is a dynamic medium and new technology makes it easy to stay in touch with people around the world and around the corner. Vivakaran and Neelamalar (2018) found that half of the teachers they surveyed used YouTube as their most popular source for aids in the classroom and for their own personal education. There may be an opportunity to help new teachers reach out to both their peers and experienced teachers during their first year in the classroom via this technological advancement. Anthony, Haigh, and Kane's (2011) study revealed that most teachers who rated their induction experience very favorably were involved in positive mentoring relationships with other educators. When a mentor is an ally, this can help to offset the isolation and manipulation felt by teachers (O'Donnell, 2018).

The topic of e-mentoring was found in various research, but none of the studies were specific to e-mentoring of new teachers. Williams, Sunderman, and Kim (2012) studied the success of e-mentoring using an online class, but the focus was on graduate students. In this case the mentors and students both experienced a positive and beneficial outcome. Removing some gender bias may also be a possibility on social media platforms that do not involve a face-to-face connection but depend on a pseudonym and a gender-neutral avatar (Rockwell, Leck, & Elliott, 2013). This was also examined by Veletsianos, Kimmons, Larsen, Dousay, and Lowenthal

(2018), who concluded that when an animated character was used in place of a male or female presenter in a video, there were no gender specific comments posted online. This lack of bias may be an additional benefit for e-mentoring. While e-mentoring and social media for students and experienced teachers has been a research topic, I had not located any studies involving mentoring through social media for first year teachers.

## **Theoretical Context**

The two theories used to develop this study were adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) and Bandura's (1985) social cognitive theory. When working with teacher education topics, the first concept to explore was how adults learn most effectively. By using adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) to frame how educational information should be presented, the materials can be communicated in a way that will make teachers motivated to acquire and absorb the material. The second theory steering this research was Bandura's (1985) social cognitive theory. Bandura theorized that having a role model to demonstrate and explain what to do and to provide a clear example of how positive outcomes occur is important when learning new skills. If positive mentoring examples can be developed using virtual methods, Bandura's theory can be effectively used with a wide variety of social media platforms.

#### Situation to Self

My motivation for this research was to help make the journey for new educators one that will last more than a couple of years. Having been an educator for many years, I knew how difficult the first year of teaching could be. As a researcher I wanted to help others understand the experiences and viewpoint of the new teacher. When placed in my first educational role, I made many common mistakes and I did not have the luxury of a mentor to turn to or ask questions. The feeling of being overwhelmed and in a difficult situation was a daily occurrence. There were times when I questioned if I had made the correct decision to leave my previous job and become an educator.

When placed in the role of mentor to new teachers, I recognized the educator's need for accessing best practice recommendations of experienced teachers. When I worked as a regional education director in Texas, I was asked to create an intensive induction program for new teachers. The induction program had a feedback and communication component that consisted of e-mails and conference calls. Using e-mail was quick, less intrusive, and required less coordination than a conference call but it lacked a social connection. I could not hear the tone of voice used by the new teachers and communicating humor or frustration was difficult. The thought of using social media as a communication method in 2010 was not considered a professional option in education. However, since that time, attitudes about social media and its acceptance have changed significantly.

Social media has continued to emerge and play a prominent role in daily life. As it has grown in popularity, many people have become very comfortable using various forms of social media. The variety of platforms available has expanded and helped with social media's popularity (Ranginwala & Towbin, 2018). It was a logical progression to use social media to help ease the new teacher transition into the classroom. One of the greatest benefits of social media is that one can access people around the corner or around the globe any time of day. That kind of access to a mentor could be the difference between a new teacher feeling frustrated or reaching out to a fellow educator for advice.

The philosophical assumption for this research was ontological. Creswell (2013) explained that the focus of this type of research is based upon the lived perspectives and beliefs of the participants in a study. My ontological assumption is that each teacher will feel more comfortable being guided through the difficulties that arise during a stressful transition into teaching. Each person will have to deal with daily challenges along the way. When there is someone to reach out to for help, the obstacle is easier to overcome. This research explored each teacher's reality and experiences from their first year in the classroom.

My epistemological assumptions are that genuine knowledge obtained during research is meaningful and trustworthy. Established qualitative methods were used to obtain accurate and reliable data for this research. Social constructivism was the paradigm that guided this research. The traditions, customs, and thoughts the educators have established through interactions with others within the school setting form a knowledge foundation. This blends a social aspect and a cultural component, forming the development of the learning environment (Bozkurt, 2017). Braun and Clarke (2013) described the constructivist epistemology as one that adjusts to the changes made to our realities based upon the facts of the world around us. They change and are formed and reformed by our interactions. These interactions were examined and compiled during this research.

#### **Problem Statement**

Previous research examined the duration, information, and values of a quality induction program (Saglam & Alan, 2018). There has been extensive research covering the high attrition rates for teachers in their first five years in the classroom (Dunn & Downey, 2018; Farrell, 2016; Glazer, 2018; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Perry & Hayes, 2011; Torenbeek & Peters, 2017; Verma, 2017; Weldon, 2018). Social media has been used as the topic of numerous research studies (Albert, 2015; Arshad & Akram, 2018; Bharucha, 2018; Chugh & Ruhi, 2018; Cooke, 2017; Hanson & Yoon, 2018; Neier & Zayer, 2015). The focus for most of the studies available is concerning student usage of social media at various levels of their education, providing learning resources to students by means of social media, or continuing education for experienced teachers via social media platforms. However, even with the plethora of studies examining social media in educational settings, the use of social media by new teachers during induction has not been explored, leaving a gap in the literature. The problem this study investigated was to see if social media can be used to provide mentoring to first-year teachers that, if successful, may help them stay in the classroom.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. Social media is defined as blogging, discussion boards, Facebook, Google Hangouts, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Snapchat, Twitter, or YouTube videos. The theories guiding this study were the adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) and Bandura's (1985) social cognitive theory. Knowles' (1990) adult learning theory breaks down intrinsic and extrinsic motivation factors to better understand how to teach adults. This can be used to help new teachers learn the skills they need to be successful. The social cognitive learning theory (Bandura, 1985) relates to how adults learn and are motivated by following the examples of role models. The social media interaction explored during this study will share how new teachers responded to the experiences and advice provided by virtual role models.

#### Significance of the Study

The theoretical significance of this study may add to the body of knowledge in the areas of adult learning theory and social cognitive theory. Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) introduced the different motivations needed to engage adults. Andragogy explains the principles that set the stage for the adult learner to acquire new information (Knowles, Holton, & Swanson, 2011). Focusing only on the topics to be taught will not help the adult learner. Andragogy involves concentrating on learners and what will best motivate them to retain the information (Mansfield & Stacy, 2017). The delivery of a lesson should be grounded in andragogy for it to be effective (Rismiyanto, Saleh, & Mujiyanto, 2018). Building on assumptions of andragogy creates a framework that allows the educator to present new information in a way that adults can associate connections between conceptual learning and performance (McCauley, Hammer, & Hinojosa, 2017).

Using the social cognitive theory, Bandura (1985) explained that having a role model to demonstrate and discuss what to do is important when learning new skills. This theory describes why having a mentor who demonstrates how a new teacher can be successful is a beneficial part of an induction program (Zembytska, 2016). The importance of selecting a positive role model must also be addressed. If someone is not happy in their mentor role, they could just as easily be demonstrating negative behavior (Wrye & Pruitt, 2017). This study may provide additional support for Bandura's theory by showing that the social cognitive theory is relevant to new teachers in a virtual environment as well as a classroom environment.

The empirical significance of the study may help to identify new methods of support for first year teachers through social media. The exploration of the use of social media during teacher induction may help to fill the gap in current literature and serve as a starting point for future research as more developments continue in both teacher induction and social media applications. On the simplest level, social media support could be the encouragement to keep teachers from leaving their jobs in the first few years (Hanson & Yoon, 2018). When new teachers stay on the job, the benefits would be reaped by students who maintain continuity in their classroom (Blake, 2017). The rest of the educational team also benefit from the improved

retention as well as the teachers who stay in the profession for which they trained (Cross & Thomas, 2017).

The practical significance of this study is that it may provide additional help for educators as they are facing many difficult situations. New teachers often experience many challenges their first year, and having a mentor who will help them overcome their struggles by sharing previous teaching predicaments may help novice teachers (Daly & Milton, 2017). If inexperienced teachers receive guidance and positive reinforcement from their mentors, the new teachers can connect their skills discussed in a beneficial way (Kandemir & Akbas-Perkmen, 2017). A role model could also show a recorded video that demonstrates the exact way to do something in the classroom environment (Ünsal, 2018). In an informal learning environment, new teachers could comfortably use their personal electronic devices, like a phone or a tablet, to ask a question or draw on previously discussed topics in real time (Viberg & Grönlund, 2017).

#### **Research Questions**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. The theoretical framework used to create the research questions were guided by adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985). Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) explains how teachers learn to be educators. By applying this learning theory with today's developing technology, adult educators may benefit from and develop new learning opportunities (Yarbrough, 2018). Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) focuses on learning from modeled behavior as well as how personal and environmental factors affect individuals.

Central Research Question: What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience?

Many studies have explored the use of social media in education. These studies mainly focused on working with students (Cooke, 2017), teaching in higher education (Karim & Gide, 2017), or creating educational materials (Prasojo et al., 2017). For most of the research, social media contact was viewed as an additional source of information and feedback (De León, Peña, & Whitacre, 2010), rather than a primary communication tool. This research seeks to understand what role social medial can play during the first year in the classroom.

Sub-Question 1: What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience?

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) explains that having a mentor or role model can provide a positive effect on learning new skills. Social cognitive theory helps explain the transition from behaviors that are observed to how this information will be absorbed and reused by the learner (Connolly, 2017). Williams and Kim (2011) examined a group of graduate students in an online program who worked with an e-mentor. Of the 53 students who were paired with mentors, 100% completed the course and all the e-mentors who started the project returned for a second year of mentoring. This was a win-win proposal where the educators and the students all achieved great success. In this instance, virtual mentoring was successful with graduate students.

Sub-Question 2: How do second and third year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year?

Some school districts have recognized the need for continuing assistance after formal induction has been completed. By setting up a virtual repository for advice, tools, discussion

boards, continuing education and e-mentoring, teachers will still have electronic resources available (Kahraman & Kuzu, 2016). New advances in technology and communication are happening so quickly that educational resources cannot keep up with the transition (Borba, Chiari, & de Almeida, 2018). Williams et al. (2012) explained that by utilizing these advancements such as "e-mail, video-conferencing, voice mail, and other electronic means, ementoring can be used as an innovative tool where shared knowledge can be transferred in a synchronous and asynchronous format" (p. 235).

Sub-Question 3: When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher?

The first year in the classroom can be a very difficult experience for new teachers (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). Hartung and Harvey (2015) created a new teacher induction program using Goggle Hangout as a virtual meeting space where teachers were able to freely share ideas and get help with issues they encountered. During the induction curriculum development phase, the research identified networking as an essential component for teachers to share concerns and support. Having a mentor to guide teachers through the difficult first years in the classroom can easily be the one factor to keep a new teacher in the classroom (Perry & Hayes, 2011). While technology makes new ways of learning in a virtual environment possible, the lessons should be rooted in the concepts of adult learning theory (Yarbrough, 2018).

Many school districts do not have resources to provide mentors who can help new teachers whenever they have questions or need support. By using social media and the variety of communication modes available, there is a world of opportunity to provide the support needed to guide new teachers through the difficulties of the first year in the classroom and beyond. Their excitement and enthusiasm for education and working with their students will bring a fresh perspective and new opportunities for learning (Gee & Gonsier-Gerdin, 2018). When teachers have the learning resources, they are more likely to stay in the classroom (Baker-Gardner, 2016). The students they teach will have continuity and better outcomes in the classroom (Wong & Luft, 2015). School administration does not have to bear the burden of teacher turnover and the expense of hiring and training new educators (Dunn & Downey, 2018).

#### Definitions

Terms pertinent to this research study are defined below:

- Social Media Any digital medium allowing its users to interact, communicate, and utilize information. Many of these focus on building a user profile and creating connections and linking with friends and associates. Different sites focus on various types of sharing to include pictures, videos, and stories. Some sites protect a user's identity and others can be shared with anyone (Veletsianos, Kimmons, Shaw, Pasquini, & Woodward, 2017).
- 2. Teacher Induction A training program created to assist new teachers with making the transition from being a student to a teacher in the classroom. A review of induction programs from the last 15 years shows a shifting of focus from poorly-funded curricula and agendas that resembled a small training class to more mandated programs that are tied to organized, official, school-based programs offering teacher-centered mentoring and training (Simmie, Paor, Liston, & O'Shea, 2017).

#### Summary

The problem this study investigated was to see if social media could be used to provide mentoring to first-year teachers that may help them stay in the classroom. There are numerous studies that examine attrition for beginning teachers (Dunn & Downey, 2018; Glazer, 2018;

Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Torenbeek & Peters, 2017; Weldon, 2018). What constitutes an effective induction program has been studied (Alhamad, 2018; Hartung & Harvey, 2015; Kearney, 2016; Kozikoğlu, 2018; Ronfeldt & McQueen, 2017). While there have been many studies that explore the use of social media in education (Arshad & Akram, 2018; Albert, 2015; Bharucha, 2018; Cooke, 2017; Sutherland & Ho, 2017; Szeto, Cheng, & Hong, 2016), using social media as part of an induction program has not been examined. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **Overview**

This chapter gives more insight into the theoretical framework that was used to develop this study. In addition, there is a thorough look at the current literature on the topics of new teacher induction, teacher attrition, teacher mentoring, and the use of social media in education. The synthesis of this research presents a clear view of the gap that exists exploring the use of mentoring during new teacher induction using social media. This transcendental phenomenological study has been designed to understand the use of social media for new teachers during their first year in the classroom.

# **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework for this study was created using adult learning theory developed by Knowles (1990) and social cognitive theory developed by Bandura (1985). Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) was selected because it highlights the rationale behind why adults are inspired to learn. The adult learning theory is based upon six assumptions that explain how each person's individual needs play an important role in his or her motivation to learn (Beard, 2017). The second theory used in the formation of this research was social cognitive theory that Bandura (1985) helped develop. The social cognitive theory is grounded in the causational influences formed during interaction between people, their behavior, and the external pressures they feel from their cultural and community relationships.

#### **Adult Learning Theory**

Knowles (1990) explained through the adult learning theory why adults learn the way they do. The concept of andragogy versus pedagogy explains how adults learn differently than children. Knowles (1990) was one of the first to bring the idea of adult learners needing a different style of teaching than children to the educational world. His concepts for teaching adults was called andragogy. Years later other educators have expanded and updated this theory. The topic of a learning need is discussed in the update (Knowles et al., 2011). An adult learner will realize a missing area of knowledge that is required to be successful and will work to take the necessary steps to gain access to the data needed (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 124). This personal evaluation will motivate an adult learner to obtain the information to improve their knowledge. Having a basic understanding of what it takes to keep adult learners motivated to be successful and see the value of the information being supplied is an important foundation to building any successful educational program for adults. When looking at the fundamentals of adult learning theory, Knowles (1990) explained that "andragogy presents the core principles of adult learning that in turn enable those designing and conducting adult learning to build more effective learning processes for adults" (p. 2). This theory can be applied to helping mentors guide new teachers who are seeking the best ways to teach children.

The andragogy model is based upon assumptions that developed and expanded over the years as the adult learning theory developed (Knowles et al., 2011). The assumptions explain why adults will be motivated to learn and how they will use personal life experiences as a lens to view the new knowledge they are gaining. Knowles (1990) believed that when adults are intrinsically motivated and they see the personal value of the information they are learning, they will be more motivated to absorb and retain the knowledge. This may be the same for new teachers who see the value of an induction program and the knowledge that can be gained by working with a seasoned educator (Meizlish, Wright, Howard, & Kaplan, 2018). When an adults believe they are ready to learn something, they will make the learning a priority. For the purpose of this study, new teachers will understand the benefits of what they can learn from their mentor.

These new teachers will also use their years of pre-service training as a foundation to build and update their educator skills. Another assumption in the andragogical model is grounded in orientation to learning. Adults focus on what will help them tackle issues in their life. McCauley et al. (2017) agreed that "the learners' self-concept, the role of experience, readiness to learn, orientation to learning, motivation, and the need to know" (p. 312) all should be considered when developing any type of adult learning program. No matter if the issues are social or professional, if whatever they need to learn can help to manage a problem or perform a needed skill, they will be motivated to learn. These assumptions combine to form the basis of adult learning theory.

Adult students start their coursework leaning heavily on their instructor (Arghode, Brieger, & McLean, 2017). As adult students becomes comfortable and see learning improvement, they develop a more independent approach to learning. Abela (2009) agreed that andragogy explained how adults learn, but he also believed that there were other factors that were necessary for adults to be engaged in the learning process. While andragogy cited intrinsic motivation, it is also important to provide extrinsic motivation. Carter, Solberg, and Solberg (2017) found they could motivate their faculty to learn an online training by using incentives to help others. Their faculty was inspired to help other faculty at remote facilities without face-toface access. This extrinsic motivation was the only way to bypass the reluctance to break away from a face-to-face teaching environment.

Taylor and Kroth (2009) explained how adult learning theory evolved and developed. They described how the concept that adults learned differently than children started in Europe in 1833 when an educator expounded upon Plato's philosophy that teaching young adults was different than children. Thorndike (1913) and Lindeman (1926) worked on the idea until the middle 1900s. In 1968 the term andragogy was coupled with the theory by Knowles. Taylor and Kroth (2009) explained the first assumption of andragogy is that adults need to feel as though they are in control of their own life. They must also believe that they will be able to put whatever they learn into practice to solve current problems. Another assumption is that adults will be more enthusiastic about learning when they are intrinsically motivated. The last assumption theorized about adult learners was that they needed to know the why behind the what. Yelich Biniecki and Conceição (2016) used the assumptions of adult learning theory to create a visual learning experience. They found it was a positive way to engage adult learners in formal and informal learning environments by involving them in critical analysis and development of knowledge. Yarbrough (2018) agreed that the only way to achieve a superior online learning environment was to build it using the concepts explained in the adult learning theory.

Knowles et al. (2011) published an updated version of the adult learner that expanded on the foundation Knowles had built. The newest chapters address some of the future ideas in adult learning theory including the "theory of effective computer-based instruction for adults" (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 301). This theory is examined exclusively from the perspective of adult learning. This type of continued development and growth, building upon solid educational foundation, is comparable to the idea of using social media and remote online communication between experienced educators and new teachers during their induction training. Arghode et al. (2017) believed that "if educators design online activities, blogs and discussion forums while taking into consideration how learners can relate well with the concepts, for example, by incorporating relevant examples, an improved learning state can be achieved" (p. 602). By continuing to develop more interactive learning experiences for adult learners, the online environment may provide a better quality educational encounter that can be delivered with more flexibility, variety, and convenience.

# **Social Cognitive Theory**

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) is the second theory used in the theoretical framework. This theory explains that people learn better when they observe others. After observing the behavior, cause, and results, people will model the same behavior. The theory has been broken down in different ways including how individuals use this type of learning to advance and develop themselves (Soponaru, Dîrtu, Ciuhodaru, & Iorga, 2016). It should also be noted that just as people can model positive behavior to gain benefits, negative behaviors may also be exhibited (Ronfeldt & McQueen, 2017).

Bandura (2018) explained that personal, behavioral, and environmental forces worked together: "Because personal influences play an influential role in the casual mix, people have a hand in shaping events and the courses their lives take" (p. 130). While in the past, modelling may have been one person imitating another, today it is recognized more for intellectual and behavioral changes made based upon what was witnessed (Connolly, 2017). People can ultimately use the guidance they receive in positive or negative ways. This places a more important burden on someone demonstrating the right way to manage, lead, and be successful in a new classroom environment. Exploring the use of an online component during new teacher induction may also discover if a mentor or role model can demonstrate observed behavior in a virtual environment using social media. Williams (2017) explained that when placed in new situations, students will more quickly adapt and feel confidence when they observe their peers as they navigate through the new circumstances: "Social learning theory is an effective way to engage all learners and help them to adapt to the learning environment" (p. 263). In some school

districts there may not be a mentor available to new teachers or there could be an induction program that does not include a mentoring component. It is also possible that the mentors may feel as though they are already overloaded with work and do not have the time to dedicate to be a role model or mentor (Flores, 2017).

If no role model or mentor is available in person, perhaps a virtual mentor could fill the void. Research by Wade, Bohac, and Platt (2013) supports that technology is readily available "to provide e-learning, videoconferencing, virtual observations, and immediate feedback on instructional delivery, or classroom management strategies to beginning and in-service teachers in multiple environments" (p. 29). One study identified new courses being delivered online to help train new teacher mentors (Fransson, 2016). Fransson (2016) found several mentors who took part in the training but were concerned about the course because they were technologically challenged. During interviews at the completion of the class, these new teacher mentors commented how quickly they adapted to the online environment and felt more confident after using videoconferencing applications. This type of positive outcome for the mentors who were skeptical about working with technology is a promising result. If training programs like this can be delivered to potential mentors who have a passion to help guide new educators during their induction period, perhaps using the concepts of social cognitive theory can help virtually educate new teachers.

Frerichs, Fenton, and Wingert (2018) explained the importance of providing an educational online resource in a social learning environment. Their study concluded that the website "Click2science" (Frerichs et al., 2018, p. 120) provided an excellent blend of online learning resources for the professional development of teachers. When mentors and rookie educators can view classroom scenarios and discuss how each situation could be handled in their

own school, new teachers gain valuable insights. Deeming and Johnson (2009) explained that when behavior is observed and learned by peers, the resulting effect can be very significant. When peers have success, they are modeling the way, and others will emulate them in the hope that they will achieve the same positive victory. Kurt (2016) used social cognitive theory to help guide and define his own theory on teacher leadership. Environmental and personal factors along with behavior were taken from Bandura (1985), and the concept of reciprocal causation is used to explain the effect the school environment has on teachers. While Kurt (2016) connected social cognitive theory to how organizational environments created at school effect how teachers feel about their work experiences, it also explains how this affects their behavior. This is another example of how social cognitive theory can be used to explain changes in attitudes and behaviors of teachers.

#### **Related Literature**

The current literature available was broken down into groups based upon the areas of focus during the research. The first area presented in the literature review is the topic of teacher induction. If teacher induction is executed successfully, novice educators feel more confident in their new environment (Howe, 2006). The second area in the literature review focuses on teacher attrition. The focus for attrition in recent years has centered upon reducing the numbers of new teachers who leave the field of education in the first five years and what can be done to improve retention of these novice teachers (Weldon, 2018). Teacher mentoring is the next area covered in the literature review. If a mentoring component is included as part of new teacher training, they may have the strong role model needed to be successful (Gilles et al., 2018). The final topic examined in the literature review is social media and its role in education.

# **Teacher Induction**

The importance of teacher induction is not a new topic, but it appears to be one that has not been explored fully. The first year in the classroom is often challenging for new teachers as they enter a new learning environment that will test everything they have been taught (Harju & Niemi, 2018). New teacher induction is often the subject of research that seeks to find causes of teacher attrition and help increase retention. While finding a school district with an induction program for their new teachers is not unusual, "less than 1% of teachers actually receive what is considered a comprehensive induction" (Martin, Buelow, & Hoffman, 2015, p. 4). Some researchers believed the way to achieve an effective new teacher training program was to combine components like mentoring, professional development, and social collaboration with peers while focusing on leadership development (Polizzi et al., 2018). When multiple combined points of view are merged, the new teacher has an opportunity to gain numerous perspectives in a more positive educational focused community. In this type of environment, Polizzi el al. (2018) found that the new teachers increased their self-efficacy and felt more supported. While researching data from all 50 states concerning new teacher induction practices, Goldrick (2016) explained that 20% of all teachers in classrooms across the United States have three years' experience or less. This highlights the need for more standardized programs that help new teachers develop their skills as educators and members of the school community.

When students graduate from college and go out into the classroom to teach for the first time, they may not possess the necessary expertise and abilities needed to teach effectively. Alhamad (2018) completed a study exploring the need for new teacher induction for educators teaching English as foreign language (EFL) in another country. The mixed methods study found that the participants who were new to teaching did not have the skills necessary to manage the classroom and all the proficiencies a seasoned teacher possessed. Alhamad recommended that novice educators should attend induction training as well as mentoring with an experienced teacher. Correll (2017) examined an approach to induction that involved the terminology of agency. Agency was defined as the "ability to make choices about and take an active role in deriving a course of action and adjusting a course as needed to reflect one's identity, competencies, knowledge and skills, mindsets, and values" (p. 54). This didn't just include the classroom but also the school, the district, and the educational system. Autonomy and ownership were keys to this successful induction program.

Participants in new teacher induction programs had a greater sense of job satisfaction. This was based upon a broad examination of 15 studies complied by Ingersoll and Strong (2011) on the effects of new teacher induction. The students of those teachers also showed an improvement in achievement test scores. The benefits of induction programs were also explained by Sadiq, Ramzan, and Akhtar (2017), who concluded the induction program was necessary for the new teacher to understand several areas like school culture, school organization, and especially classroom management skills. When principals were interviewed and asked about the readiness of new teachers to work in the classroom, Flores (2017) found that the majority of principals indicated that the teachers did not receive adequate training in several areas including classroom management and working with technology in the classroom. They were unprepared to step out of school as a student and into the role of teacher to complete daily assignments or work with students' parents. Dealing with the emerging issue of bullying in the classroom and conflict resolution made new teachers extremely uncomfortable (Harju & Niemi, 2018). This unpreparedness and the resulting frustrations for principals, teachers, and students could be reduced when these areas are included in an induction program. Induction programs

can focus on areas that have been identified as weaknesses for new teachers including administrative classroom duties and classroom management (Feng, Hodges, Waxman, & Joshi, 2019).

In an attempt to give new faculty a stronger foundation in the classroom, North Carolina created a new teacher support program (NTSP). The program was created by the faculty at the University of North Carolina. NTSP is a specific type of induction program aimed at helping new teachers in schools with the lowest student performance (Bastian & Marks, 2017). Morris (2015) explained that no matter what the induction may look like, it should include lesson planning, classroom and time management, an overview of pedagogy, student evaluation skills, and a professional assessment of one's own skills. The more in-depth and diverse the components of the induction program, the higher the retention of teachers (Wong & Luft, 2015). The students that new teachers are working with are more diverse and the need to adjust teaching style based upon student-centered learning is a serious demand in the classroom (Harju & Niemi, 2018).

Piot, Kelchtermans, and Ballet (2010) explained the experiences of new teachers in an induction program in multiethnic schools. Their research focused on the different induction experience for non-minority teachers who taught minority students. The Belgium induction study found that new teachers placed in schools with a very diverse blending of cultures and ethnicities had a great deal of difficulty adjusting to their first year in the classroom, and it created great stress for the new educators. Van Overschelde, Saunders, and Ash (2017) highlighted the realities of daily life in the classroom that inexperienced teachers are not always expecting. They explained that the shift from the mindset of a student, learning to be a teacher, to the realities and responsibilities of leading the class daily can be distressing. Every day in the

classroom is a new and unique challenge, but it is more challenging if one is already overwhelmed. These same types of struggles were seen in another study where new teachers were asked to select one word that could explain their feelings during the induction period and 33% used the word "torture" (Kozikoğlu, 2018, p, 18) to describe their induction process.

While induction programs are extremely valuable, the teachers they are working with need specialized skills to reach across different educational specialties (Washburn-Moses, 2010). One group that must tackle unique problems daily is teachers in special education. An important part of the induction program is partnering with a teacher who is experienced in what one is doing every day. Without a strong program to get them started correctly, doubts and fears of making mistakes become a part of daily life (Papi, 2018). This type of gap in training often results in negative feelings at work and higher attrition (Ahsan & Sharma, 2018). Similar research on the importance of a mentoring program was completed by Stanulis and Ames (2009). The induction program needs to be responsive to the needs of the new teacher. If the teacher is not comfortable and prepared in the classroom, the students will not get the attention they need. Van Overschelde et al. (2017) explained that new teachers who are unhappy transitioning into the classroom are more likely to leave the profession than those who develop their skills and a feeling of self-efficacy. This loss of new teachers leads to an added increase in teacher attrition.

# **Teacher Attrition**

The teacher shortage problem has reached far beyond the United States. High attrition rates have reached epidemic proportions across the globe. Smith and Ulvik (2017) reported that 40% of Norwegian teachers had left the profession within the first year and a half. In England, Sims and Allen (2018) explained the teacher shortage has continued to grow and the highest attrition rates are seen among teachers in their first few years on the job. In an international

study, teachers who felt little job satisfaction and a lack of cooperation with co-workers led to a 40% attrition rate for the study participants (Whipp & Salin, 2018). When looking at teacher attrition from a global perspective, Gallant and Riley (2014) found the same similarities between Europe, North America, Australia, Hong Kong, and the United Kingdom. Their research confirmed that the attrition rates were between 40 to 50% for teachers within their first five years. Some countries will not release information on the number of teachers who leave but the estimates cited by Arnup and Bowles (2016) agreed with the 40 to 50% range. Weldon (2018) did an extensive report explaining that without official release of information from the government of Australia, the only accurate attrition information would have to be used from other nations or study estimates. These numerous studies confirm that this is a world-wide situation that has not shown signs of improvement.

In the United States the teacher shortage caused by the high attrition rates is exacerbated by unsuccessful efforts to bring experienced teachers to rural areas. Mathews, Rodgers, and Youngs (2017) suggested that attrition could be improved with "sustained, structured support consisting of larger networks" (p. 33) to help rural programs successfully attract and keep teachers. The problems for finding and keeping new teachers is not exclusive to rural settings. Teachers are particularly at risk for high attrition in inner city schools as well. Perry and Hayes (2011) realized when teachers had to deal with minority issues on top of new teacher induction challenges, they were at even higher risk for leaving. Induction for minority teachers was the key to making the transition easier. Ronfeldt and McQueen (2017) looked at the rates of attrition for minority teachers and found it was higher that of their peers. They also found statistics that showed that extra resources and induction supports could increase retention. Several programs were developed in communities to support and cultivate minority graduates to stay locally and enter teacher training courses, but almost half of these programs failed in the first 10 years (Gist, Bianco, & Lynn, 2019). Geiger and Pivovarova (2018) found high attrition rates where schools had higher student enrollment and significantly higher attrition rates for schools with lower income and minority students. Some of this may relate to a teacher's self-efficacy and lack of job satisfaction due to the added stress (Carmel & Badash, 2018).

The high attrition numbers continue to intensify as newly qualified teachers are replaced by other newly qualified teachers who often have even less experience. In the United States, the mandates of No Child Left Behind (NCLB) add additional stressors (Brownell, Bishop, & Sindelar, 2018). The Brownell et al. study cited mentoring as a key component of teacher induction as one way to help prepare new teachers to achieve the standards for the profession as well as having a positive impact on high teacher attrition. Gist et al. (2019) believed that attrition would continue to be a problem due to limited new teacher recruitment. They cited a report that found only 4% of students taking a college preparatory examination in high school in 2015 were interested in a teaching career. The lack of potential educators attending college could lead to a shortage of newly qualified teachers. While some believe that the high attrition numbers were due to retirements, Cancio et al. (2018) cited that 90% of California vacant teacher positions were available because teachers had left their jobs and the teaching profession entirely. Cancio et al. also explained that almost 60% of the teachers who left education did so because they were unhappy with the profession of teaching. This extreme level of dissatisfaction explains the high attrition rates being cited in numerous studies.

Different studies have been completed to find specifics for the high attrition rates. Anhorn (2008) quoted some first-year teachers, explaining they felt "overwhelmed, hectic, isolated, beaten down, unsupported, scared, humiliated, afraid, stressed, and drowning" (p. 15). She also examined working conditions and circumstances contributing to those feelings. Some of the difficult tasks new teachers dealt with included the following:

Classroom management and discipline, working with mainstreamed students, determining appropriate expectations for students, dealing with stress, handling angry parents, keeping up with paperwork, handling student conflicts, understanding pacing of lessons, utilizing varying teaching methods, dealing with students of varying abilities and

feeling inadequate as a teacher are other areas of concern of first-year teachers. (p. 16) These issues lead to the 42% attrition rate included in the study. Buchanan (2012) found similar results from a study in Australia that included feelings of isolation, being asked to teach classes they were not trained to teach, poor working conditions, large workload, and low salary. The teachers believed they were never adequately prepared to switch from being a student of education to being an educator of students. In a Canadian study, Le Maistre and Pare (2010) explained the pressure to adapt to any classroom environment takes its toll on new teachers. Being thrown into a situation they are not always ready for makes it difficult to fit comfortably in the classroom. "No other profession takes newly certified graduates, places them in the same situation as seasoned veterans, and gives them no organized support" (Le Maistre & Pare, 2010, p. 560).

One group that seems to feel the pain of teacher turnover is the special education department. When new special education teachers were asked why they thought other special education teachers would leave their jobs, the main reasons sounded like the same complaints other teachers have made and included huge workload, little or no support from peers or administration, and lack of training (Hagaman & Casey, 2018). The only unique complaint was the high maintenance workload that accompanied working with children with disabilities. In an international study conducted by Papi (2018), 80% of new special education teachers complained about limited information explaining what the special needs of their students were. More than half of them also felt unprepared to tackle the classroom confrontations with students. Cancio et al. (2018) cited that special education teachers were unsatisfied with their jobs in addition to feeling over worked and under supported.

It appears this high attrition has developed into a normal expectation in the field. Lanas (2017) concluded a study on teacher turnover saying, "Attrition, here, presents itself not as an 'event', or 'turn' in the career path, but rather as an *ever-present possibility* which some beginning teachers *negotiate* with" (p. 75). This is particularly true during teacher induction. The shock of transitioning from being a highly regarded student to becoming a teacher is very well described in the study by Shayshon and Popper-Giveon (2017): "While students aspire to lead and influence the educational system, graduates mostly attempt to survive professionally, experiencing isolation and a need to adjust to their work environment" (p. 534). Horvath, Goodell, and Kosteas (2018) discussed the problem of high teacher attrition in their study conclusions explaining "these findings have implications for key stakeholders in teacher education including accrediting bodies, policy makers, and teacher educators alike" (p. 64).

The higher attrition rate seen in more recent studies is having a widespread impact on school staffing (Brownell et al., 2018). There are almost 20 states that are recruiting their own batch of new teachers from local high school students to backfill the growing shortage of teachers. There are large lists of reasons why teachers are leaving including the physical toll that the job stress has on new teachers (Gallant & Riley, 2017): "My health started really deteriorating, dramatically, sleep, weight gain. I was in trouble, deep, deep trouble" (p. 906). New teachers must deal with the issues they are exposed to in the classroom, but they also must

find a way to deal with their feelings of strife, worry, and disappointment. They feel they were abandoned by the experienced educators who should have been helping to pave the way for the next group of teachers (Rodrigues, de Pietri, Sanchez, & Kuchah, 2018). One way to help bond the new and experienced teachers is with a mentoring program. In one teacher training program, the learning experience was more effective when new teachers were interacting with their coworkers and colleagues to acquire the new skills (Quinn & Kim, 2017). With high teacher attrition being such a large global problem, perhaps retention of these novice educators can be improved with more teacher mentoring.

# **Teacher Mentoring**

Many people use the word coaching and the word mentoring synonymously. Mackie (2018) explained that the process of coaching can improve the function of a team or a specific ability for an individual. The process of mentoring suggests a highly skilled coworker "supporting, challenging, and facilitating the learning of another" (Mackie, 2018, p. 623). While a coaching will play a role in the mentoring process, when new teachers are faced with minimal time to complete their daily tasks, they may become resistant to being coached (Jacobs, Boardman, Potvin, & Wang, 2018). Many mentoring programs focus on retention or helping with socialization, but they do not assist new teachers with the professional development skills that will help add some balance to the growing list of tasks to be completed each day (Gardiner & Weisling, 2018). A positive mentoring partnership is one that focuses on building personal and professional development skills, helping the mentees to achieve their agreed upon goals (Grace & Raghavendra, 2018).

Based upon extensive research that discusses the importance of providing a well-trained and qualified mentor, Australia mandated that mentors be provided to new teachers during induction (Schuck, Aubusson, Buchanan, Varadharajan, & Burke, 2018). Early career teachers (ECT) in Australia took part in a Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS). Almost 30% of the ECTs expressed difficulties managing their workload between preparing for classes and working at attaining their teacher accreditation. One of the frustrated ECTs commented, "I could work 24 hours a day and not get enough done for work" (Schuck et al., 2018, p. 216). Martin et al. (2015) believed there were two kinds of mentoring that new teachers needed. One mentor focus would be on meeting the needs that occurred on a regular basis like helping with paperwork completion, school supplies, and accomplishing daily tasks from an administrative perspective. The other mentor skills that would be needed would involve assistance with professional development and pedagogy.

When training programs are updated and improved upon, there is no guarantee that the changes will be implemented properly or that they will have the desired effects. Gjedia and Gardinier (2018) looked at the mentoring component that Albania mandated in 2011. When the law went into effect, there was a lack of quality mentors to help new teachers. Beutel et al. (2017) explained that mentoring would not be beneficial to new teachers if there wasn't a proper training venue available to educate potential mentors. The first formal school for mentors became accredited in Australia in 2014. In the United States there are no established guidelines that explain how mentoring will be done or what training a potential mentor should receive (Gardiner & Weisling, 2018). Each state makes its own determination for what type of induction new teachers will receive as well as if they will receive any type of mentoring. Goldrick (2016) found that "more than 30 states provide or require initial mentor training, but only 18 also require ongoing professional development for mentors" (p. 5). This lack of mentor training for most of the country puts the concept of quality mentoring on a questionable foundation.

Schleicher's (2015) findings from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) TALIS surveys emphasized that new teacher training needed to provide a varied teaching environment that involved working with other teachers and working in different school settings. A lengthier period of time would allow for a richer training experience that would improve the new teacher's self-confidence. "It is clear from TALIS data that teachers benefit from even minimal amounts of collaboration with colleagues" (Schleicher, 2015, p. 10). Working with mentors in the classroom, teacher observations and team-teaching opportunities all promoted new teacher growth. Many teachers believed that any form of mentoring and communication was positive (Heikkinen, Wilkinson, Aspfors, & Bristol, 2018). They also found the importance of distinguishing the role of the mentor from the role of the critic. This distinction was a finding in other studies on mentoring of teachers (Langdon & Ward, 2015).

When new teachers enter their first school, many of them do not know the difference between an induction program or mentoring and believe they are the same thing (Moss, 2010). Howe (2006) explained that teacher induction programs are designed to transition a novice educator into a professional teacher. He also concluded that a program should be comprised of various components "including acculturation through preservice, in-service, formal, informal and nonformal teacher education" (Howe, 2006, p. 295). Therefore, a mentoring element can be a part of an induction program, but an induction program should be made up of various elements to ensure a well-rounded educational experience for new teachers. While conducting a metasynthesis of 37 papers on the topic of mentoring in education, Castanheira (2016) defined the mentoring process as one where a seasoned individual would provide a novice with guidance and support covering a variety of topics specific to the needs of their particular specialty. These insights should be germane to personal and professional growth as well as educational advancement.

Mentoring programs for novice teachers have been around for more than 40 years (Beek, Zuiker, & Zwart, 2019). Without proper guidance on mentoring techniques, untrained mentors may only encourage new teachers to follow their mentor's personal style and not necessarily the best educational teaching method. Ambrosetti (2014) cautioned that not every good teacher would have the skills to be a good mentor. Mentoring is not a skill most people inherit. Kupila, Ukkonen-Mikkola, and Rantala (2017) found that after training and education, new mentors realized that with some focus they could provide very meaningful assistance to new teachers. When a mentor training curriculum is being developed, it is critical that elements about the program are shared with the participants and they feel comfortable letting their mentor know what their priority is as well (Rowe-Johnson, 2018). The key part of training for the mentors was to understand the need for new teachers to feel comfortable communicating with them (Barrera, Braley, & Slate, 2010; Rideout & Windle, 2010). Teachers were not the only ones who were looked upon as mentors. Support staff at school could also play a role in the mentoring process (Hudson, 2012).

Another area of mentoring that should be mentioned is peer to peer. Peer-to-peer mentoring has been a well-researched topic. Altayli and Dagli (2018) completed research that looked at the importance of adapting the first training received by pre-service educators. They found that peer-to-peer mentoring was the most comfortable resource that students of teaching utilized during their educational process. They had no difficulties asking questions of their peers or sharing difficulties encountered during student teaching. This development of a strong peerto-peer network can be a powerful resource to help new teachers deal with the many challenges of their first few years on the job. Sibiya, Ngxongo, and Beepat (2018) cautioned that peer mentoring would be more effective if there were structured systems in place to ensure a consistent experience for the participants.

A different version of mentoring similar to peer to peer is called near-peer mentoring. Near-peer mentoring is when the mentor has at least one year of experience or more than the protégé (Akinla, Hagan, & Atiomo, 2018). This research involved higher education students and was a beneficial tool to improve the attrition rates of students while helping them find their way comfortably in a new social environment. Another higher education mentoring program involved students studying for a doctorate in education (EdD). Lowery, Geesa, and McConnell (2018) explained the importance of setting specific mentoring guidelines to produce academic benefits to students as well as social benefits. The researchers also found over 50 different definitions for the term mentoring during their literature review. This further highlights the need for a well-defined mentoring curriculum where all parties involved in the process understand the guidelines, rules, and goals of the program. Even though these studies focused specifically on higher education students, it still may be a possible tool to be used with new teachers in their first two years of transition.

Sometimes the mentoring can come from a group and not a one-on-one situation. Recchia and Puig (2019) were part of a university-based program that helped to develop new educators. They asked their new teachers what type of educational program they believed would be most beneficial to them after they went out into the field. The new teachers asked for a community support group made up of peers with a widespread area of expertise. They wanted diversity and the ability to swap tips and techniques that would be helpful in the classroom on a daily basis. The university group developed a community of support using teachers from numerous educational environments. They met each month in a facilitated meeting and helped participants cultivate new skills to improve their daily classroom life and address workplace weaknesses and strengths with the group. This peer-based networking can serve many purposes and produce multiple benefits. One positive side of the peer-based mentoring is the lack of a power struggle. The participants do not feel as though they are being judged or that there will be repercussions that will show up in work-based performance evaluations (Brinia & Psoni, 2018). The collaborative relationship that the peers develop also helps to foster a sense of community, self-efficacy, and academic excellence.

Another type of support group is called a professional development community. Pellegrino, Kastner, Reese, and Russell (2018) participated in a professional development community and provided documentation to explain the benefits of this combination of peer mentoring and community support. The group participants explained how the sense of support, cooperation, and camaraderie helped the four teachers stay on the job and work through whatever obstacles they encountered. One group member added about her work with the community for 34 months, "I think this group provided an anchor for most of us during some turbulent transitions" (Pellegrino et al., 2018, p. 146). Damjanovic and Blank (2018) called their group a professional learning community. Their findings demonstrated how teachers could break away from the feelings of educational isolation and share experiences that help foster a sense of collaboration with a team. The process takes time to build trust, but the forum allows for a safe space to grow and share as an educator.

Kensington-Miller (2017) examined a community of practice that focused on working out issues as a group and meeting with peer mentors. "Communities of practice are groups of people who share a concern, a set of problems, or a passion about a topic, and who deepen their

knowledge and expertise in this area by interacting on an ongoing basis" (Wenger, McDermott, & Snyder, 2002, p. 4). The peer mentors developed a strong working relationship based upon specific assignments they completed and then presented their findings during group meetings (Kensington-Miller, 2017). They found that by having an assignment to focus their efforts on, the teams of peer mentors quickly focused on the tasks they had and did not get distracted by their new working collaboration. This community of practice was designed to help teachers working at a university to acclimate themselves to the unique and demanding environment at that level of education. The biggest complaint from new educators was about the pressure to fit into their specific department, create engaging lessons, all while continuing to produce publishable research.

Moskowitz and Stephens (1997) explained that "mentoring is a main feature in all fairly well-developed or formal teacher induction programs, and a highly regarded practice" (p. 22). They cite the mentoring component as an important part of the induction program for educators from countries around the world including Australia, Canada, China, Republic of Korea, and the United States. Sometimes the mentoring role is not always formal when a teacher starts at a school that does not have a mentoring or induction program. There have been several cases where an informal mentoring relationship developed over time and was very helpful (Piot et al., 2010). When the new teachers realized that their mentors followed up and assisted them whenever they were asked, they were reassured and relaxed when difficulties presented themselves. Abad and Pineda (2018) concluded in their study that the mentors benefited by improving their knowledge and strengthening their identity as a teacher. This same benefit for mentors was also found by Holland (2018) where a mentoring community was developed. The mentors would share tips, demonstrations, and explanations for how they helped new teachers to

overcome different obstacles or learn beneficial skills. In the end, the mentors believed they grew in their abilities to mentor and teach.

As the importance of the mentoring component became the focus of more studies, new thoughts emerged on the effectiveness of a mentor in the same field as the teachers they were mentoring. This was what Luft (2009) studied with 114 science teachers during their induction period. They focused the induction mentoring so all the mentors were science teachers working in close proximity as well. The new teachers felt they received benefits from working with an experienced teacher who was physically close during the induction period. While that study may show a positive outcome, every school does not have the resources to conduct the same type of mentoring. As schools globally focus to keep up with teaching science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM), how these subjects will be taught and what training the teacher needs is creating more struggles in the classroom (Pollard, Hains-Wesson, & Young, 2018). In Thailand, teachers were placed in an environment where there was no access to STEM trained mentors or STEM-focused induction materials. New teachers felt very aware of the lack of resources to help them adjust to their new positions (Srikoom, Hanuscin, & Faikhamta, 2017).

When there is a shortage of qualified teachers in a specific field of education, it goes without saying that there will also be a shortage of qualified mentors (Nowikowski, 2017). For the teachers who are in the field and qualified to be a mentor, they are bombarded and overwhelmed by the day-to-day teacher requirements and do not believe they have the time to dedicate to being a mentor (Griffith & Dasgupta, 2018). Uğraş and Genç (2018) found the STEM mentors listed problems with "lack of time, lack of resources, lack of professional development, lack of knowledge on STEM disciplines, lack of parental participation and teachers' reluctance to collaborate" (p. 732). Jones, Dana, Laframenta, Adams and Arnold

(2016) reported in their study about a shortage of STEM teachers at schools in the state of Florida. In response to the shortage of training available, the University of Florida created an induction program that STEM teachers could access online. New STEM teachers want to get help from mentors who know and understand STEM coursework. They want mentoring in lesson planning, classroom management, student engagement and teaching strategies (Nowikowski, 2017). If a lack of qualified mentors exists either at the school level or in the school district, a virtual mentor who is well trained and enthusiastic about mentoring a new teacher might be a perfect fit.

Another area of mentoring research has emerged over the last several years. Manning and Hobson (2017) explained that judgementoring was when the teacher being mentored felt the mentor they were working with was more judgmental in their evaluation than developmental. This precautionary word was created to point out some of the issues that can arise when mentoring is not completed properly. Hobson (2016) explained that judgementoring could become an issue, but there were certain ways to avoid that type of mentoring. One method was to ensure that the mentors were not direct supervisors of the teacher or not in a power role where they would provide any type of evaluation. Clutterbuck, Kochan, Lunsford, Dominguez, and Haddock-Millar (2017) devoted a chapter of their handbook of mentoring to cover the difficulties faced by new teachers when their experiences with mentors become toxic and discourage them from wanting to participate. One contributor to the book described their experiences as disheartened and being made to feel like a worthless piece of trash. This is not what mentoring of new teachers was set up to accomplish. Another way to avoid any possible judgementoring was to involve mentors from outside of the school district where the teachers worked. McIntyre and Hobson (2016) focused their research on "external mentors" (p. 136) who were subject matter experts in the area the new teacher worked and held no responsibility in evaluating the professional performance of the educator.

When placed in a new environment, teachers want to have a guide who will not just talk them through what is happening but one who will show them how to do it. New teachers want to observe excellence in the classroom (Sadiq et al., 2017). In the Sadiq et al. (2017) study, they specifically wanted to work with a mentor to gain experience with "system requirements, pedagogical knowledge, modeling and feedback procedure" (p. 132). The mentor role is as important to the mentor as it is the mentee (Bressman, Winter, & Efron, 2018). If they are trained properly, all experienced teachers can receive the benefits of professional growth by helping mentor and advise new teaching staff. Research has shown that at times, mentors may face pressure from school administrators who want to make certain their goals for new teachers are a top priority. Some mentors feel intimidated and pressured to ensure an administrator's goals are met (Gardiner & Weisling, 2018). As the literature has demonstrated, not all schools can provide new teacher induction training, and all induction programs may not contain a mentor component. One possible solution to providing a mentor to each new teacher may be by using social media to access talented, experienced, companionate, quality educators.

The best-case scenario for providing a positive environment in which new teachers can learn would be one that utilizes all the areas that have been discussed so far. The closest the research has come to this was looking at a community of practice group discussed earlier in this chapter. This type of community of practice may be beneficial to first year teachers to supplement their induction education. Providing a collegial environment where mentoring can take place in a social and educational setting should supply new educators a sense of inclusion (Kensington-Miller, 2017). Schuck et al. (2018) found that some early career teachers had difficulties working with senior colleagues. The politics of the classroom and the teacher's lounge were very uncomfortable for the newer staff. Some teachers reported feeling bullied by both senior staff and students (Mannix-McNamara, Fitzpatrick, MacCurtain, & O'Brien, 2018). Kensington-Miller (2017) also warned that when new and experienced teachers were stressed and struggling, the mentoring relationship could become pessimistic and even dysfunctional. The mentoring relationship must be cultivated carefully. With such a vast amount of research to support the positive impact that mentoring can have on novice educators (Chizhik, Chizhik, Close, & Gallego, 2018; Gardiner & Weisling, 2018; Mackie, 2018; Martin et al. 2015; Moss, 2010; Schuck et al., 2018), the next step may be to develop a virtual resource of mentors that can be accessed by new teachers in an easier manner.

## **Social Media**

There has been a great deal of literature available about social media and education but the majority of research focuses on other areas of education. Using an online support group to ease the stress of student teaching was the closest to use of social media found in any current research. The participants in the study were student teachers who were still completing their education, but they were encouraged to post their experiences, ideas, and frustration online and share with other students (De León et al., 2010). Their study concluded that this type of communication and sharing was very beneficial to the support group as well as the participants. When they interviewed the participants, they said they felt "a deep need to discuss and reflect on the events that occur during student teaching" (De León et al., 2010, p. 363). The need to share and support one another is a common theme online. Cherubini et al. (2011) examined another group of students in an online study community who worked to support each other in a virtual environment and participated in a research study. These researchers asked what the sense of community was like for students communicating online and found the ongoing communication between the novice teacher and the mentor was enriched when they shared experiences and advice outside of the classroom environment. This type of research could relate to new teachers working in online communities to communicate during their induction year. Although social media was never specifically mentioned in this research as a way to exchange their experiences, it has been found to be useful in other studies.

Social media from the perspective of a student in a middle or high school environment would be a more normal medium for education (Albert, 2015). With more than 75% of students using Facebook and Twitter, "social media also can be used for educational purposes and facilitate learning experiences that may be cumbersome, time-consuming, or not possible in a traditional brick-and-mortar setting" (Albert, 2015, p. 31). Neier and Zayer (2015) found that students enjoyed the opportunity to use social media for educational purposes because they were excited by the ability to work interactively. Expressing ideas through conversations online helped students feel closer to their classmates and their teacher. Access to research through numerous fields of study has taken a huge step forward thanks to the creation in 2004 of Google Scholar. Martín-Martín, Orduna-Malea, Thelwall, and Delgado López-Cózar (2018) examined the enormous amount of data available for research in one location that can highlight citation information. They determined that Google Scholar, despite being relatively new, was capable of providing a significant supply of information covering huge amounts of data while outperforming other educational databases that were thought to be far superior.

Students in university settings have participated in numerous studies to see the benefits of working with groups using social media. The acceptance and ease of use of social media were the driving forces behind the studies. Chugh and Ruhi (2018) explained that "social media can

be utilized to deliver teaching material, educational information, updates and facilitate communication and collaboration" (p. 606). A study conducted at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine explored the use of social media using a Twitter page for healthcare education and communication for medical students (Galiatsatos, Porto-Carreiro, Hayashi, Zakaria, & Christmas, 2016). The resident physicians worked long irregular hours and did not always have the flexibility to break away and attend structured classes with their hospital workload. The results were overwhelmingly popular and "after our Twitter page was launched, post surveys showed it was the most popular source for medical education" (Galiatsatos et al., 2016, p. 3). Given the number of hours of preparation time new teachers put in for each class, a flexible educational delivery system sounds like an appropriate fit. O'Brien and Freund (2018) found that "while Twitter is useful for short, frequent and instant communication, it is not appropriate for detailed discussion and reflection" (p. 13). They created a blog that students could use to upload papers and found that social media was a good complement to face-to-face communication by the student and the teacher.

College level students are ready, willing, and able to adopt social media platforms for use in school (Chawinga, 2017). The response to the use of this new technology was tremendous. Teachers seem to be the only lag in this equation. Old styles of teaching are really focused on the sending of information in one direction. When social media is involved and there is an open channel to share ideas and comments, new and old methodology can form a blended program that will prove more effective. Peruta and Shields (2017) posited that when it comes to communication with college level students who are considered "digital natives" (p. 132), the easiest way is through social media platforms. When Cooke (2017) interviewed undergraduate students who had worked with social media as a delivery system for coursework, they believed the educational environment was improved by the use of social media. Students also felt the addition of social medial use should be complementary to the classroom experience. Similar findings occurred at universities in Pakistan and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Arshad & Akram, 2018). Social media was quickly accepted as an educational platform and allowed for a broader range of collaboration between students and educators.

The research performed with higher education students and social media have not only shown that young adults are extremely open to utilizing it in the classroom but that "students today learn in a totally different way than the earlier generations did" (Bharucha, 2018, p. 208). The broad reach students in India gain with their technology is having a positive impact on the ability to elevate their socioeconomic status.

Another area of research has been social media use by teachers. Bergviken Rensfeldt, Hillman, and Selwyn (2018) found that social media was currently being used in Australia as assignments and supplementary lessons through Facebook and Twitter. The newest aspect has been teacher use of social media for continuing education. Forbes (2017) experienced both ends of the social media swing as new teachers and student teachers are over excited to jump into social media use with students. They found that the teachers either do not have the technical expertise to pull it off, or go too far, and find themselves in trouble. Some of the attitudes of the teachers that Forbes encountered were a nightmare of possible identity theft or unprofessional information disclosure making some want no part of anything digital. This same type of attitude is shared by administrators. As school administrators attempted to maintain an online presence, they also needed to uphold professional and educational characteristics (Cho & Jimerson, 2017). Maintaining the line in a peer-to-peer environment would require significantly less stress and scrutiny. When special needs teachers working in an environment that did not include an experienced teacher needed assistance with their students with disabilities, they explored the issues they were dealing with through online Internet searches (Papi, 2018). The new teachers also searched for activities, games, blogs, and videos to help make their work in the classroom more productive. More teachers are actively searching online to look for resources not just for the classroom but for professional development. Rosell-Aguilar (2018) found that a large group of educators was creating their own international learning community via their mobile devices using Twitter. Teachers are taking the lead using the hashtag "edutwitter" (Rosell-Aguilar, 2018, p. 3) to reach out and share ideas and opportunities for mobile learning.

Marin Diaz, Vazquez Martinez, and McMullin (2014) pointed out the negative and positive aspects of the growth of global Internet development. All students do not have Internet access. In areas of poverty, there will likely be a shortage of connectivity availability due to the cost of electronic devices. Those who do have access to the Internet may face a "lack of knowledge of linguistic codes generated by some tools" (p. 96). Understanding the proper use of emojis while texting is one example. Teachers may have to address their learning curve to keep up with the current trends. With the increase in personal use of electronics, the teachers in the field are more tech savvy, but the use of new classroom technology should be built into continued teacher education.

The idea of a virtual mentor has been mentioned more often in recent studies. Bressman et al. (2018) concluded in their study that new mentoring models be designed that "utilize video and other emerging technologies to facilitate mentor-mentee pairings if face-to-face time is not feasible" (p. 169). They also discussed using other technology to allow for virtual observations, advising, and team building. Online support has been used in the past with pre-service teachers

(Strycker, 2012). Student teachers have been the focus of social media studies in several cases; they usually focus on the use technology to teach in the classroom. I-Chun (2012) did research about an educational community online; however, the study did not focus specifically on new teacher needs. Anthony et al. (2011) also focused on learning communities, but they did not focus on new teachers. While these studies discuss online support, they cover student teachers, students, and experienced teachers. There was no study located that tested the use of social media and new communication technology to be more effective in mentoring new teachers.

In the first chapter of their qualitative research book, Caliandro and Gandini (2017) discussed the massive amount of data that are being accessed to explain how quickly the digital environment changes. Their source was from Domo (2014) and explained that there were over 100,000 tweets sent through Twitter every minute. The updated numbers four years later were nearly 500,000 tweets sent through Twitter in a minute in 2018 (Domo, 2018). They also cited that over 2,000,000 snaps were sent through Snapchat each minute. The numbers are staggering, but they demonstrate the exponential growth that has occurred in the popularity of social media in the last four years. The expected growth in the next 10 years will most likely continue if the past is any indication.

#### Summary

Chapter Two presented a theoretical framework that included concepts from adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) as the foundation for this dissertation. One of the basic principles of adult learning is that adults want to understand why they need to know what they are going to be taught. New teachers need the information or knowledge they will receive during induction. They understand that what they will learn will help make them a more effective educator. The perceived benefit that will be brought to them by learning what is going to be taught is understood. This theory is important to help understand how a new teacher induction program should be put together and how it will be presented to the teacher who will be participating. If new teachers do not see a benefit to learning, they will not find the motivation to actively participate in the training program. The second theory used in the theoretical framework is social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985). This explains how people model their behavior based on observation of others. This is pertinent because one of the key components of an effective induction program is working with a mentor. The mentor will be a well-qualified and experienced educator who is capable of not just sharing information but of being a superior role model.

This chapter also contained an exploration of related literature and outlined prior works on teacher induction, teacher attrition, teacher mentoring, and social media use. There has been extensive research covering new teacher induction programs. There were also numerous studies covering the mentoring component of the teacher induction program. Mentoring has also been explored when being delivered in a peer-to-peer environment. However, there was no empirical research that studied the perceptions of new teachers regarding the use of social networking during the induction period. There was some research concerning online communities of learning but that was focused upon students, experienced teachers, and online continuing education opportunities.

In a recent study by Choi, Cristol, and Gimbert (2018) the ability of teachers to be digital citizens was evaluated. Their conclusions included the following:

The findings advocate that teacher educators, researchers, and policy makers need to understand how to engage teachers as responsible, informed, and engaged digital citizens in a globalized and networked society, by accounting for teachers' personal backgrounds, Internet use, and self-efficacy towards successfully completing Internet-based activities. (p. 154)

As student teachers continue to experience more web-based education before starting their careers in the classroom, they should efficiently and effectively make the transition to teaching and utilizing digital communication methods inside and outside of school.

With the exponential growth of digital and social media use (Domo, 2018), creating an online space where all new teachers would have access to a well-trained, high quality mentor should be a reality and not a virtual daydream. By advancing adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) onto a social media platform, new teachers can get the support they need to stay in the classroom. The ripple effect of new teachers staying in the classroom will have a positive effect on students, student assessments, school staff, school administration, school districts, and the communities they serve. There is a significant gap in the research, and this qualitative transcendental phenomenological study will fill that gap and allow future researchers to continue exploring the phenomenon.

### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. This chapter presents the design, research questions, participants, setting, and the procedures for the study. The researcher's role and how data were collected are also included. A breakdown of data analysis methodology following the seven steps outlined by Moustakas (1994) is contained in this chapter. Finally, trustworthiness aspects and ethical considerations are provided.

#### Design

This qualitative transcendental phenomenological design was selected to explore the rich textural details of the teacher induction experience. The perspective was from the new teacher who is returning for the second or third year. The study focused specifically on those teachers who used social media to communicate with other teachers during their new teacher induction year. The teachers communicated with peers or seasoned instructors using multiple social media platforms. The virtual peer or mentor relationship was a key aspect of this study.

A qualitative paradigm was selected for this research because it examined patterns as they developed during the study and allowed for shifting of the focus as new ideas were cultivated and matured throughout the process (Maxwell, 2013). When conducting qualitative research, the words of the participants are the data (Braun & Clarke, 2013). The perspective, thoughts, and feelings of the participants are the focus of the researcher (Morse, 2012).

Phenomenology is the study of the common experiences of a group of people (Creswell, 2013). Whatever the shared experience may be, a phenomenological approach attempts to

explain the happening or the event from the group's perspective. Moustakas (1994) explained that phenomenology seeks to provide the total viewpoint of whatever is being examined through specific detailed descriptions that bring the experience to life.

Moustakas (1994) explained the conceptual framework of transcendental phenomenology through the concepts of intentionality and intuition. For earlier philosophers, intentionality meant different things based upon their fields of study. Schwandt (2007) said, "Intentionality stresses the fundamental interaction of mind and world, subject and object" (p. 156). While some of what we are aware of may not be real, we are still experiencing the world around us and the things happening in it. The science of transcendental phenomenology is designed to explain the phenomenon being studied to create an awareness of the thoughts and spirits of those living through the experience. Transcendental phenomenology also requires the researcher to follow a process known as *epoche*. *Epoche* allows removal of the researcher's personal assumptions, deductions, presumptions, conclusions, and personal beliefs. Moustakas (1994) explained the difficulties researchers would face attempting to "set aside" (p. 88) their assumptions to achieve epoche. To ensure the epoche process was followed, any biases or preconceived beliefs that I encounter were recorded in my researcher's reflexive journal (see Appendix L). This reflexive journal contains notes of the encounter and its detailed descriptions of my thoughts and feelings as I completed the research.

This study of new teacher induction in the age of social media attempted to understand the experiences and perceptions of teachers who completed their first year of teaching while using social media to communicate with other teachers and are returning to the classroom for their second or third year. The study focused on their use of various types of social media to connect with other teachers and whether this connection helped improve their first-year transition

62

into the classroom. Transcendental phenomenology allowed a detailed exploration of the thoughts, feelings, and incidents the new teachers encountered during their first year. This meticulous understanding of the events allows the reader to get a sense of the journey a new teacher undergoes. Transcendental phenomenology allowed me to capture the real-life essence of the occurrence.

# **Research Questions**

The following questions were designed for this study:

Central Research Question: What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience?

Sub-Question 1: What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience?

Sub-Question 2: How do second- or third-year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year?

Sub-Question 3: When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher?

### Setting

The setting for this research study was the Texas Independent School District (TISD; pseudonym). This setting was selected because of the diverse demographic population of students and teachers. The information regarding the demographics for the district is taken from the 2018 website for the school district. The TISD is run by a superintendent who also serves as the chief executive officer of the district. There is also a school board of education that consists of trustees who are elected in each of the local districts within the area. The TISD contains over 100 schools including elementary, middle, and high schools. By selecting this large district,

there was a greater opportunity to attain a diverse group of participants. At the time of my study, there were over 5,000 full-time teachers and over 75,000 students enrolled. Over 50% of students were Hispanic, more than 20% African-American, and less than 15% White/Anglo. More than 75% of the students were economically disadvantaged; the Texas Education Agency (TEA) defines this as the percentage of students who qualify for government assistance, or to receive free or reduced priced meals.

The TISD had a new teacher induction program that was designed to acclimate teachers quickly to the district. Teacher expectations were explained along with the mentoring, coaching, and classroom observation program information. The components of the induction program included an orientation period before the start of classes that incorporated training for classroom management and familiarization to both the TISD and the school where the educator was assigned. The new teachers were required to attend additional professional development during their first several years.

The new teacher induction plan included a mentoring component that contained individual and group mentoring. The mentor was required to meet TISD qualifications and training before being accepted for the position. The induction plan gave specific instructions for the type of standard guidance that should be given and included the expectations of the new teacher. Weekly meetings and teacher observations were also required by the plan. Checklists, teacher observation forms, and a mentor and teacher agreement explaining the communication, professional development, and confidentiality that is expected during the induction period were part of the plan. A thorough explanation of the teacher observation process was included so the new teacher could be prepared for what was required.

# **Participants**

Creswell (2013) recommended a size of 10 for phenomenology studies. Ten teachers completed all required steps to have their data included in this study. The sample size of 10 teachers was enough to ensure thematic saturation. A purposeful criterion sampling of teachers returning for their second or third year in the classroom was used. A purposeful sampling strategy was performed to ensure the potential pool of candidates met the inclusion criteria for the study (Maxwell, 2013). A homogenous sampling was necessary to select individuals who had been through an induction program as well as participated in social media during induction. The definition of what is included in an induction program varies widely from school to school so teachers who participated in a school's defined version of induction will meet the qualification for participation in an induction program. Participants can teach at any level from prekindergarten to 12th grade and teach any subject as well. I attempted to include the most diverse mixture of ethnicity and gender possible.

Teachers who had completed their first year in the classroom and were in their second or third year of teaching were emailed a recruitment letter (Appendix B) and a demographics survey (Appendix C) to determine if they met the criteria of the study and wanted to participate. The demographics survey asked for the possible participant's name and other information such as gender, age, ethnic origin, marital status, and education level. This kind of information was used to select a diverse group of participants. In addition, the survey was designed to identify teachers who utilized social media during their induction period and reached out to other peers or mentors. The first three questions on the demographics survey focused upon the use of social media and their interaction with other teachers and their mentor. If the teacher answered any of the social media questions affirmatively, they met the criteria for inclusion in the research study. This demographics survey was kept short so potential participants were more likely to respond. Rao and Pennington (2013) found that the sooner a survey is returned, the more likely the participant will commit to and engage in the study. I wanted the teachers to feel interested by the topic but not put off by the level of work required to participate in the study. The demographics of the 10 participants selected for the study can be seen in Table 1. If a teacher returned the demographics survey and answered any of the social media questions negatively, they were not included in the research study and were sent a rejection email (Appendix E). If they responded that social media was used during induction, an acceptance email was sent to them (Appendix D) along with a consent form (Appendix F).

Table 1

	Age			Marital	
Color Name	Range	Ethnicity	Gender	Status	Education Level
		African			
Ms. Violet	31–40	American/Caucasian	Female	Married	Bachelor's Degree
Ms. Purple	21-30	African American	Female	Single	Bachelor's Degree
Ms. Magenta	21-30	Hispanic	Female	Single	Master's Degree
Mr. Jade	31–40	Caucasian	Male	Married	Master's Degree
Mr. Red	21-30	Hispanic	Male	Single	Master's Degree
Ms. Orange	21-30	Caucasian	Female	Single	Bachelor's Degree
Mr. Green	31–40	Caucasian	Male	Married	Master's Degree
Ms. Black	21-30	Caucasian	Female	Married	Bachelor's Degree
Ms. Amber	21-30	Asian/Caucasian	Female	Single	Master's Degree
Ms. Teal	31–40	Caucasian	Female	Married	Master's Degree

# Description of Participants

# Procedures

Before any data collection began, I secured approval for the study from Liberty's Institutional Review Board (IRB; Appendix A). Immediately after receiving IRB approval, I conducted a pilot study. Williams and Kim (2011) explained the importance of pilot studies for testing the recruitment of participants. Kaur, Figueiredo, Bouchard, Moriello, and Mayo (2017) addressed the importance of evaluating the methodology of one's data collection tools. The questions used during participant journal stimuli, focus groups, and individual interviews were evaluated during the pilot study. Maxwell (2013) explained that if questions are not asked in exactly the correct way, one may get data, but it will probably not be the type of rich information necessary for a qualitative study. Maxwell suggested the various techniques selected to collect research data should be examined prior to use to ensure they will deliver the appropriate effective information to answer the research questions in the study. I worked with three teachers who met my sample criteria but were not part of the TISD. I was able to assess my data collection tools and the specific logistics of setting up accounts, passwords, and questions in the online journal. The results of the pilot study allowed me to ensure I was addressing the research questions as well as correcting and helping with practicing my interviewing skills (Blatch-Jones, Pek, Kirkpatrick, & Ashton-Key, 2018).

After completing the pilot study, I did an official request to the legal department of the school district to obtain the email addresses of all teachers who were returning for their second or third year of teaching. It took a month to get the list of teachers' emails who met the demographic criteria, which pushed the timeframe for the email requests into the middle of summer vacation for my potential participants. There were over 1,000 emails sent out in just over a two-week period. The emails contained a recruitment letter (see Appendix B) and a demographics survey (Appendix C) to these second-year teachers requesting the assistance of those who would like to participate in the research. The emails were not as effective as I had hoped; I ended up with six participants who agreed to be in the study. I started a second and third round of email campaigns that also were not yielding much success. With the guidance of

my dissertation chair, I requested and received approval from the IRB to add in teachers who were beyond their second year in the classroom. I started getting more responses to my last round of emails that were targeted to teachers in their second or third year in the classroom. If the teacher agreed to participate, they were directed to return their completed demographics survey via email. When I had received the demographics surveys and determined which participants would be taking part in the study, they were sent an electronic version of the consent form (Appendix F) via email along with instructions to sign the form and return it to me electronically. After more than 4,000 total emails, and extending one of the demographic criteria, I received 15 completed demographic surveys and consent forms from teachers to be a part of the study. Once I had received all the participants' signed consent forms, I began collecting data. Only two weeks into the study, five teachers had dropped out for various reasons. Keeping the remaining 10 participants was a vital part of completing this research.

The first data collection method was an online participant journal completed by each contributor. The instructions asked them to fill in as much information as they would like to share, and there were general headings located in the journal as a guide. The second data collection method was semi-structured interviews. This format was selected because it gave the interviewer more opportunities to uncover feelings and experiences that the participant might not have shared during a structured interview (Gill, Stewart, Treasure, & Chadwick, 2008). The third data collection method was a focus group. The setting for the focus group was a private meeting room that I rented from the public library where the participants felt at ease and comfortable.

# The Researcher's Role

As the researcher documenting the many aspects of the study, I assumed the role of a human instrument. Moustakas (1994) explained that as a human instrument, I brought my experiences and beliefs to this study. They had an impact on all aspects of how I set up this research and explored this phenomenon. In my role as the "human instrument," I was the interviewer in every instance in the study. Denzin and Lincoln (2011) explained that the data the researcher collects are considered an instrument and the researcher as a human instrument funnels the data through their lived experiences and perspectives. My past experiences and knowledge allowed me to become familiar with the participants and to build some rapport with them. To reduce bias, I explained my past position as regional education director so each teacher understood that I did not have any direct input in decisions being made by their school district. Since my past position as a regional education director was with a hospital organization and I have no affiliation with any school district in the state of Texas, there was no perceived pressure on the educators working with this study. I continued to observe and describe information the way Moustakas (1994) explained was necessary for transcendental phenomenology: "The challenge of the Epoche is to be transparent to ourselves, to allow whatever is before us in consciousness to disclose itself so that we may see with new eyes in a naïve and completely open manner" (p. 86). The more exposure to the new data, the less likely the researcher is to cling to his or her own personal biases. A researcher reflexive journal (Appendix L) was created to document my thoughts while going through all phases of this research.

### **Data Collection**

Data were gathered by three collection methods. Denzin and Lincoln (2011) commented that "the use of multiple methods, or triangulation, reflects an attempt to secure an in-depth

69

understanding of the phenomenon in question" (p. 5). By gathering information in a variety of ways, the researcher can ensure different perspectives are accurately described. Acquisition of input through multiple tools allowed me to enhance the credibility of the research results (Maxwell, 2013).

Prior to submitting my IRB application, I completed an expert review of my data collection tools to ensure the face and content validity of the questions for the demographics survey, the stimulus for the participant journal, and the questions for the individual interview and focus group. Two experts in the field reviewed the questions that I created and the data collection procedures described here. Both reviewers had completed their doctoral degrees in education and had over 50 years of education experience between them. Changes that were suggested and completed provided additional clarity for questions used during data collection and a better flow of information.

## **Participant Journals**

When the 10 teachers who were selected as participants in this study returned their signed Consent Forms, they were sent instructions via email that provided them with all the information necessary to utilize their participant journal first entry (Appendix G). The email contained a unique user identification and password. The journal site contained tutorials on how to use the site and complete postings. The journal was started at least three weeks before the individual interviews were scheduled to allow time for reflective entries. The journal had unlimited space for any stories the participant could recall from their induction year. There were also prompts inside the journal to help focus on stories that were pertinent to their experiences during their teacher induction year. During Week 2, an additional set of questions was added called the participant journal second entry (Appendix H). During Week 3, a final set of questions was sent called the participant journal third entry (Appendix I). The prompts helped the participants with critical reflection of their first year (Blevins, Moore, & Torti, 2017). I entered the data obtained from the journals into an excel spreadsheet. One of the participants had a difficult time working with the journaling site. I emailed the three sets of questions that they would have received in the online journal to them, and they returned their replies to me via email.

## **Semi-structured Interviews**

The second method of data collection was a semi-structured interview. According to Gall, Gall, and Borg (2010) the goal of a phenomenology study is to "find the meaning, structure, and essence of the lived experience of this phenomenon" (p. 345). The semi-structured interview provided an inside perspective from teachers who had completed their first year in the classroom and returned for another year. All interviews except one were completed via cell phone using either Facetime or Google Duo so there was a face-to-face connection created with the participants and the researcher. One participant was only able to complete the interview via cell phone audio due to a technical issue with cell phone data. All interviews were recorded by a digital audio recorder as well as a backup recording on my iPad. The questions on the semistructured interview related to either teacher induction, mentors of teachers, or social media usage. They were designed to provide detail of the participant's experiences. Moustakas (1994) explained that the semi-structured interview allows an opportunity for an interactive discussion that would make it easier for the interviewer to establish a rapport with the participant. When an important area of the discussion was reached, a focused dialogue about the experience occurred in a natural way. Being able to follow the flow of each individual discussion allowed me to obtain the information needed to acquire the essence of the lived experience while continuing to develop a friendly connection with the participants. Since each participant had a unique

experience during his or her induction year, the ability to go deeper into the specifics during the interview process allowed me to get a clearer understanding from the lived perspective. The semi-structured interview questions were as follows:

Standardized Open-Ended Interview Questions (Appendix J)

- 1. Describe briefly your first thoughts as you began your new teacher induction program.
- 2. How would you describe your first meeting with your mentor?
- 3. What were the first few problems your mentor was able to help you with?
- 4. How often did you and your mentor communicate? (Including, in-person, phone, email)
- 5. When and how do you use social media?
- 6. When and how did you first start communicating about your teaching via social media?
- 7. How often do you use social media sites to discuss education?
- 8. What was your most uncomfortable situation during the first few months that you can remember?
- 9. Many teachers have considered leaving the profession during their first year. Please describe why you think this happens?
- 10. What do you think could be done to help keep teachers beyond their first year?
- 11. How would you say the new teacher induction program helped you through the first year?
- 12. What would you say was the best lesson you learned during the new teacher induction program?
- 13. What sort of training sessions were you provided with to help you improve your skills in the classroom during your first year?
- 14. What was your least favorite part of the new teacher induction program?
- 15. What part of the new teacher induction program did you enjoy the most?

16. We've covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. One final question... What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences with the new teacher induction program?

The first four questions relate to the formal mentoring relationship that was established as part of the TISD new teacher induction program. Without a mentor to guide the way, many firstyear teachers feel as though they are living through a "fraternity hazing" (Greenberg, McKee, & Walsh, 2013, p. 4). Historically, when new teachers have been through an induction program and have had the support and mentoring of another teacher, their attrition rates are lower (Perry & Hayes, 2011).

Questions 5–7 relate to social media usage and are especially relevant when the new teacher is trying to navigate through the stressful situations they may encounter in their beginning year. Abe and Jordan (2013) explained that social media is working its way into the everyday lives of our society, and it is a logical progression to extend into the classroom and beyond: "From Skype to Twitter to Facebook, these modes of social media are often used as tools to keep in touch with friends and family, socialize, and share personal opinions" (p. 16). Abe and Jordan also explained that educators and administrators would benefit from the use of social media because of its popularity with students. The tragic school shootings which have occurred in the last few years have only increased the popularity of social media use. "Recent extreme events show that Twitter, a micro-blogging service, is emerging as the dominant social reporting tool to spread information on social crises" (Oh, Agrawal, & Rao, 2013, p. 408).

Questions 8–15 on the semi-structured interview relate to the induction program. Sindelar, Heretick, Hirsch, Rorrer, and Dawson (2010) covered all aspects of the induction program from the state and administration perspective: "Induction providers at the district level must consider not just the duration of their commitment to novice teachers but also the type of mentoring novices require as they develop over the probationary period" (p. 6). Questions 12 and 13 specifically refer to the educational portion of the induction program. Stanulis and Ames (2009) understood it was important for the new teacher to receive the training, but just as important for the students they were working with in the classroom: "It is critical to develop induction support targeted toward helping beginning teachers accelerate their development in order to have an impact on student learning early in their careers" (p. 28). The final question on the individual interview is to identify any additional areas the participants would like to discuss that they feel are relevant to the study. All recorded audio from each interview was transcribed by me. Each audio and transcribed version were then double checked for total accuracy.

## **Focus Group Interviews**

The third data collection method was a focus group. Gathering participants in a group setting allowed the second-year and third-year educators who used social media during their induction year in the classroom to share their real-life stories in rich detail (Gall et al., 2010). Due to the demanding schedules of the teachers at the beginning of a school year, two separate focus groups were completed. This splitting of the 10 participants also allowed for a more comfortable informal meeting which put the educators at ease. The focus group questions were as follows:

## Structured Open-ended Focus Group Questions (Appendix K)

- 1. Please describe your idea of what a great new teacher induction program would contain.
- 2. What sort of support do you think a new teacher needs before they teach their first class?
- 3. What type of assistance or training would be most helpful for a new teacher during the first few days in the beginning of the school year?

- 4. What kind of help would the ideal new teacher mentor provide?
- 5. What type of support do you think would be most valuable for a first-year teacher at the middle of the school year?
- 6. What type of support do you think would be most valuable for a new teacher towards the end of their first year at the school?
- Please describe a time when you didn't feel you had the help you needed to keep teaching.
- 8. What made you think about reaching out to others for help via social media?
- 9. Please describe the role of social media during your first year of teaching.
- 10. How often did you use social media during your first year of teaching?
- 11. What do you believe is the main reason you returned for another year of teaching?
- 12. We've covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. One final question... What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences with the new teacher induction program?

The first seven questions of the focus group were designed to find out what the participants felt an induction program should provide as well as what role a mentor should play. The concentration at the beginning of the focus group should be to get the participants engaged and excited to share their thoughts and feeling (Phoenix et al., 2018). Questions 8–9 were asked to discover the participant's experiences with social media during their induction. Jones, Ramanau, Cross, and Healing (2010) explained that many new teachers grew up with technology and used the term "digital natives" (p. 722) when referring to novice educators. They would be comfortable using social media to communicate with others in their field. The next two questions addressed the high teacher attrition problem and what the teachers believed would

improve retention. The final question was to identify any additional areas the participants believed should be included in the discussion. Both focus groups were successful in making the participants feel at ease which afforded an easy flow of conversation. Both focus groups were audio recorded using a digital audio recorder, the recording function on my iPhone and my iPad.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data analysis was completed according to Moustakas' guidelines (1994). He created seven steps that were used during data analysis. The first step was horizonalization, where lists of the data that were gathered were placed into an initial grouping. Moustakas (1994) explained the next steps as reduction and elimination, followed by clustering the various elements of the occurrence topics. Step four was to make "final identification of the invariant constituents and themes by application: validation" (Moustakas 1994, p. 121). The fifth step was to use the authenticated relevant elements of the phenomenon from the prior steps to develop a vivid textural portrayal of the occurrence using each participant's words. Similarly, the sixth step was to use the information from step five to create a structural account of the phenomenon from each participant's perspective. The seventh step outlined by Moustakas was to "construct for each research participant a textural-structural description of the meanings and essences of the experience, incorporating the invariant constituents and themes" (p. 121). Following these seven steps allowed me to compile a comprehensive in-depth description of the combined experiences of the participants. The process was broken down step by step in this section.

# Horizonalization

Moustakas (1994) described horizonalization as creating lists of the data that have been gathered and placing them into an initial grouping. I reviewed the data from all three collection methods and then the documentation was loaded into NVivo 12 Plus software. NVivo is

a qualitative data analysis (QDA) computer software package that simplifies the coding and identification of repetitive themes and allows the analysis process to be visualized in different ways. The first step that was completed was horizonalization where all research data were coded into lists that are in the open codes and description section (see Appendix N). During the creation of the lists, I continued to work on being open minded to thoughts of the participants and not allow personal biases to influence my work. Any biases or preconceived beliefs were recorded in the researcher's reflexive journal (see Appendix L). Word frequency queries were run against the lists to allow me to easily identify the words used most often by participants during data collection. Open codes were developed based upon different topics covered during data collection. The open codes each represented a horizon. "Each horizon as it comes into our conscious experience is the grounding or condition of the phenomenon that gives it a distinctive character" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 95). The lists of open codes were broken down by varying themes that presented themselves during the data review. When all the phenomenon-specific data had been placed into thematic lists, I continued to the next step.

## **Reduction and Elimination**

Reduction and elimination were the second step in the analysis process. I accomplished this by testing the data to see if it contained "a moment of the experience that was a necessary and sufficient constituent for understanding" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 121) the phenomenon. Data were then examined to see if they expressed the concept and description of the event. If they did not, they were eliminated. Any descriptions that were unclear or redundant were also removed. If only part of the essence of the feeling was captured and this did not contribute to the full understanding of the experience, it was not used.

# **Clustering and Thematizing the Invariant Constituents**

The data lists that made the transition from the reduction and elimination process was broken down into groups. Each group was organized by like themes that related to similar aspects of the experience. Each theme represented a central component of the phenomenon. They all related back to the essence of the experience for the participants.

# Validation

When the groups of lists were broken down into themes, they were then validated. The themes and listed items were checked against the complete contents of the participants' transcriptions. If these themes and contents were not clearly and specifically explained during questions and interviews, they were not used. Each cluster or theme that was not significant and related in meaning to the occurrence described during one of the three data collection procedures was eliminated from the list.

# **Construct of Individual Textural Description and Individual Structural Description**

Moustakas' (1994) seven steps for analysis continued by using the information retained after the validation occurred and all remaining items listed were considered relevant to the experienced phenomenon. Specific exact language was extracted from the transcription to confirm the detailed experience. All detailed experiences described should help provide a meticulous recreation that clearly and precisely conveys the lived event in thick, rich, expressive information. This level of detailed extrapolation of acquired information was achieved from the materials gathered from each study participant. The textural description of the phenomenon explains "what" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 78) the event experience was like. The structural description of the phenomenon explains "how" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 79) the event was felt. It refers to the consideration and contemplation of the experience. Specific descriptions of what and how the phenomenon was experienced for each participant in the study was created during this portion of data analysis.

# **Construct of Textural-Structural Description**

When each individual textural description was completed and each individual structural description had been identified, I merged the two descriptions for each participant. Each theme was authenticated, validated, and labeled to ensure it correctly represented the specific input from the participants. The textural-structural description was synthesized into a descriptive explanation of the experiences of the new teachers during the phenomenon.

# Trustworthiness

It is important that any study results are "worth paying attention to" (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, p. 290). Lincoln and Guba explained four questions that should be posed to develop trustworthiness. The first two questions examine the environment the study was completed in: (1) Would the results of the study be relevant with different participants or in a different situation? and (2) If the study was replicated with similar participants in corresponding settings, would the results be the same? The third question asks: Could the study be replicated with similar participants and situations while still presenting similar findings? The final question for trustworthiness asks: Is it possible to verify that the results of the study are a product of the input by the participants, or an outcome based upon the prejudices, preconceptions, or the best interest of the researcher? Trustworthiness of this study was achieved by addressing the four areas of credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

#### Credibility

Credibility is one of the ways to ensure the trustworthiness of the study. Credibility establishes that this research is dependable and the findings and conclusions are based upon

sound and reasonable empirical research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Triangulation occurs when "researchers make use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigators, and theories" (Creswell, 2013, p. 251) for research. Triangulation occurred by utilizing three distinct techniques for gathering of information from the study participants. The three data collection methods for this research were an online journals prepared by each participant, a semi-structured interview, and a focus group discussion. This triangulation also improved the quality of work produced by the research.

# **Dependability and Confirmability**

Creswell (2013) believed that "both dependability and confirmability are established through an auditing of the research project" (p. 246). Throughout this doctoral journey I kept a reflexive journal (Appendix L). This journal helped document any biases or preconceived beliefs that occurred during this process and recording them may help other researchers better understand my thoughts. Connelly (2016) believed that having a peer to share ideas with as a sounding board was also a part of dependability. A review of the reflexive journal coupled with this peer examination would increase dependability. The data were also verified via member checking. After the transcription of all the collected data was completed, the information was sent to each participant to confirm the accuracy of the data with the research participants (Nowell, Norris, White, & Moules, 2017). After data collection and member checking, peer review was used to review the dissertation prior to completion. When member checking was included with these other important steps, Connelly (2016) believed credibility and confirmability would be established.

# Transferability

Lincoln and Guba (1985) explained transferability is related to the empirical nature of the research: "In the classic paradigm all that is necessary to ensure transferability is to know something with high internal validity about sample A, and to know that A is representative of the population to which the generalization is to apply" (p. 297). By following Moustakas' (1994) seven steps for analysis and providing detailed and vivid explanations of the experiences of participants, this study will be transferable to others performing empirical research. Reliability and transferability are key to ensuring that others can follow the detailed information provided and replicate the study (Nowell et al., 2017). An audit trail was created (Appendix M) to provide detailed information covering each aspect of how the research was conducted, how participants were selected, and all information pertaining to the experience of the participants. The experiences of the participants explain how they were able to complete their first year in the classroom and continue into their second or third year of teaching.

## **Ethical Considerations**

IRB and TISD school board approval was obtained before any research was attempted. Pseudonyms were used to ensure the results of this study would not reveal any identities of the school district or the teachers who participated to protect the mentor and mentee relationship. Participants were interviewed in an area where their discussions would not easily be overheard. All participants completed informed consent forms explaining the nature of this research and their ability to withdraw at any point in the process. The confidentiality of the participants was also be maintained by keeping all physical information secured within a combination safe located in my home, and all electronic information was password protected. After three years all written data collected will be shredded. After three years all electronic data and voice recordings will be erased.

#### Summary

The chapter explained why a qualitative methodology was used for this study and why transcendental phenomenology was selected as the design. Transcendental phenomenology allowed a detailed exploration of the thoughts, feelings, and incidents the new teachers encountered during their first year. The research questions that were used for this study were also explained. Before any research was performed, IRB and TISD approval was obtained. The setting where the research took place was described along with the demographics survey that was used to find a purposeful sample. The three methods of data collection outlined earlier in the chapter included participant online journals, semi-structured interviews, and focus group discussions. The data explored social media platforms the teachers used and how often they were used. Detailed data analysis was completed using Moustakas' (1994) data analysis method to ensure the data met standards of trustworthiness through credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability. This gathering and analysis of the participants' experiences allow the reader to get a sense of the journey a first-year teacher undergoes.

# **CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of 10 teachers who used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. The 10 teachers who were selected to participate were all members of the same school district. The name of the school district is being represented by the name of the state to afford the highest level of confidentiality. Another layer of confidentiality was also added by having the teachers' names represented by pseudonyms based upon a color they selected during their individual interviews. This chapter presents meticulously selected experiences that each participant provided during one or more data collection methodologies. The shared events were combined to demonstrate the lived experiences of first-year teachers who completed their induction year and returned to the classroom the following year. The data collected during this study were broken down and analyzed using the seven steps modeled by Moustakas (1994). These steps allowed the data to be combined, broken down, and sorted into a full and rich description of the participants' experiences during their first year in the classroom.

Chapter Four restates the research questions that were the foundation for this study. A descriptive accounting of each of the participants in the study is also provided. The outcomes from the various analysis steps completed during the research were broken down using figures and participant descriptions to allow for a more in-depth understanding of the experiences of the educators. The findings and themes that resulted are also presented in this chapter.

The central research question that guided this study asked, What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience? The sub-questions for this study are listed below:

- 1. What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience?
- 2. How do second- or third-year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year?
- 3. When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher?

# **Participants**

Participants for this study were second- or third-year teachers, with the exception of one fourth-year participant. When the demographics survey was completed, participants designated their use of social media during their first year in the classroom. The participants also confirmed on the survey that they had contact with other educators through various social media platforms. Each participant also verified that he or she had a mentor assigned during his or her new teacher induction year. The 10 study participants were selected to receive demographic surveys because each educator taught in one of the schools within the TISD. All study members completed the consent form prior to the beginning of any research. During my semi-structured interviews with the participants, I asked them each to select a color they would like to be represented by during the writing of this study; these color selections became their pseudonyms. Throughout this chapter, all quotations from the participants are presented verbatim. This includes verbal ticks and grammatical errors in speech and writing to more accurately depict participants' voices.

# Ms. Violet

Ms. Violet is an African American/Caucasian female teacher. Her age range is between 31 and 40. She is married and has completed her bachelor's degree. Ms. Violet is the only teacher taking part in this research who is in her fourth year in the classroom. All other

demographics fell within the study guidelines; therefore, Ms. Violet was accepted as a participant. I did not believe that one extra year in the classroom would cause her to forget her experiences during her first year of teaching. Ms. Violet is very passionate about communicating with her students and building a strong bond of trust. During her interview, she explained the significance of this bond:

The fact is that I built relationships with my students and they still call me today. They have my phone numbers and they can always reach out to me. Their parents reach out to me on social media. They send me notes. And just building relationships is important. If you don't have those relationships, you're not going to be able to connect with them on an academic level either.

This type of a relationship would create a stronger learning environment in the classroom.

One of the programs Ms. Violet recently attended was focused on listening to students before forming an opinion when problems present themselves. Too often teachers can jump to a conclusion where students are concerned and assume the worst. Every student should be given an opportunity to explain his/her side of the story before someone passes judgement. Ms. Violet believed that by letting a child talk and release some of his or her frustrations, she could lower the tension level and the child would feel like he or she had an active role in what was happening. As she explained during the focus group discussion, the training reinforced what she has seen as a positive step at work:

At the school that I work with right now, they do a lot of circle time where they meet and let the kids talk and kind of get their frustrations out. They share ideas and things like that and so it kind of calms the class down. What works to keep teachers in control is vital because, "if they're struggling behaviorally wise in their classroom, they're not getting a lot of content taught."

## Ms. Purple

Ms. Purple is an African American female teacher. Her age range is between 21 and 30. She is single and has completed her bachelor's degree. Ms. Purple had been a substitute teacher in multiple classrooms at the school the year before she started working with children in a prekindergarten class. The classroom was organized into centers that the children rotated through while they were with the teacher. That meant Ms. Purple would be coordinating and teaching four-year-old students centers for technology, reading, writing, construction, math, science, creativity, and ABC center. Ms. Purple turned to social media to find help with these rotations:

I found great advice about cognitive transitions on Pinterest to use when I am moving from one subject to another. As a Pre-K teacher I am required to teach Math, Reading, Writing, Science, and Social Studies. So I have to incorporate transitions to help manage the classroom and to help my students understand that we are shifting to a different subject.

Another transition Ms. Purple used was to keep a timer going to allow for clean-up at each center; it gave the children an auditory reminder that it was time to move along to a new learning center. Ms. Purple also credited her mentor with helping her keep organized and the TISD early childhood education page on Facebook for tips and tricks of organizing the centers. She just wanted to be sure the children were learning and happy.

# Ms. Magenta

Ms. Magenta is a Hispanic female teacher. Her age range is between 31 and 40. She is single and has completed her master's degree. Ms. Magenta joined a national organization that

helped her gain her teaching credentials. After a year of working with the group, she was excited to get her teaching certification and her first job. Ms. Magenta started her first teaching position with bilingual early childhood education students. She was so happy to work with her students and their families. She was very surprised at how big the workload was and that no matter how long she spent trying to get prepared for everything, there were not enough hours in the day. Ms. Magenta offered additional clarification during her interview:

If I worked 12 hours a day, every day of the week, I would still need more time to get caught up. It's a massive amount of work and responsibility, but I know that what I am doing here is making an impact not just on the lives of the students but on their families as well.

Ms. Magenta was fairly overwhelmed when she started her first year of teaching. She described one of the first difficulties she encountered at school:

It was all kind of a blur. Especially being a person that transitioned from a different career to teaching. I did an alternate entry program so I had zero background in teaching. So, one of the first things that I remember that came up was about the topic of developing relationships with my student's parents. I came in feeling that was really important. And I wanted to get some feedback from other teachers in terms of what had worked, what didn't work, and different things they tried. I know some teachers have a meeting at the beginning of the year right after school but that's not convenient for a lot of parents so I kind of did a mixed match to try to get in touch with as many folks as I could. And try to see what really worked for the individuals. It's just case by case.

Many of the parents she tried to work with didn't make time to connect and she was frustrated at an unsuccessful first attempt at communication.

# Mr. Jade

Mr. Jade is a Caucasian male teacher. His age range is between 31 and 40. He is married and has completed his master's degree in education. Mr. Jade was excited to finally get his first teaching position; he had wanted to become a teacher since he was a student in high school. When he started his new teacher induction, he was overconfident and very sure he had all the tools he needed to be successful in the classroom. He did not believe that he needed any additional training or a mentor before entering the classroom:

I was almost like why. I was almost too confident. I had just got my master's degree and I was like, "Why do I need a coach?" We went through a week of training in the summer and then when I got into the classroom I realized, Oh, I needed a coach. It was a very revealing experience. That even though I went through these years of college and got my master's degree, and got certified, there still so much more to learn. And even in my second year I am still learning. That's kind of what my first impression was of it and as time went on I grew a lot more respect for my veteran teachers that I worked with, my new teacher induction coach, and my mentor on the campus.

He started reevaluating most of his assumptions about what teaching was going to be like while trying to keep control in his classroom and realizing, "Oh my gosh, I have 22 crazy six-year-olds who are running around my room and they don't know how to cut with scissors yet."

#### Mr. Red

Mr. Red is a Hispanic male teacher. His age range is between 21 and 30. He is single and has completed his master's degree. Mr. Red did not go to college to be a teacher; therefore, he went through an organization that allowed him to earn an alternative certification to teach. He was hired to teach in his specialty area and when he came to teach, he found he was being placed in a different specialty, one he had never taught before. He was excited to have the opportunity to teach, and he was determined not to let teaching a different subject stop him. Mr. Red believes that most people outside of education think teachers walk into this type of job and their day will be as long as the student's day is:

Because you're working late hours, it's not just "oh I'm gonna work from 8 to 4". It's you know, you've got your tutoring after school, you have to make the curriculum, the plans. You gotta grade. You have to fit the grades also into the online platform. And meanwhile you're trying to teach and then you have to do attendance at the same time. It's just a bunch of variables involved at the same time. I think burnout is a big one with stress.

We discussed some of the challenges Mr. Red faced during his first few months. His assigned school mentor taught in a classroom across the hall and was always there for whatever type of problems came up:

The problems that I had were more about discrepancies with students. The school. It wasn't so much about content as much as feeling worth and discipline with students. Students would push boundaries and things like that. When the school kind of wants you to like nudge kids along even though they kind of didn't earn those grades. You feel like what is your purpose in school. Are you just there as a body and not trying to teach.

## Ms. Orange

Ms. Orange is a Caucasian female teacher. Her age range is between 21 and 30. She is single and has completed her bachelor's degree. Ms. Orange came on board at the same time the new teacher induction training had begun so her first day of orientation was teacher training. It was a bit overwhelming and confusing:

I found out I was going to be a teacher the day induction started. So the week before they just threw me into that. So I was like okay I would get to be inducted but the TISD being the TISD, they were all over the place so it wasn't really very helpful.

She started her first year with a class of students and after six or seven months they switched her to a different class in a different grade. Her students had been through four teachers in a couple of years and they were very unhappy. The children were not willing to trust that Ms. Orange would not leave the way the other teachers had. During the focus group, Ms. Orange elaborated, "They were so mad at me. They didn't want me. They hated me." She worked hard to earn her students' trust and moved with them to the next grade. She did not care what difficulties she was dealing with; she would not abandon those children again. When the students saw her come back to class the following year, they were delighted. Ms. Orange was told that "she was their favorite."

Ms. Orange didn't feel very comfortable when she first started in the classroom, and it was the first topic she discussed during her interview:

It's overwhelming. It's a lot of things being shot at you at once. I did not know where to go with it. And I had a lot of information that I didn't know what to do with. If that makes sense. Like they told me what to do but, it didn't make a lot of sense and it wasn't clicking. So, yeah, my first year was very, very tough.

# Mr. Green

Mr. Green is a Caucasian male teacher. His age range is between 31 and 40. He is married and has completed his master's degree. When I asked Mr. Green during his individual interview what his first year in the classroom was like, he explained to me that his number one goal was to not let any of his students know it was his first-year teaching. He would be purposely vague and make statements to lead his students to believe that he was not a new teacher. He explained that he would simply say, "I'm just new to my school." He explained that he had lots of teacher friends who endured great difficulties after the students found out it was their first year. The students put the new teacher through a hazing period where they would try their best to get them to "crack." Mr. Green also shared that he had seen other first-year teachers who struggled and quit.

When I asked Mr. Green what he felt the best advice he had received from a teacher or mentor on social media was, he wrote in his journal:

The best advice I can remember receiving on social media was incidental. A teacher was talking about another teacher who had not fit in very well at their school, wasn't a good team player, and was causing issues by non-conformity with schoolwide expectations. I knew I didn't want to be the teacher that other teachers gossiped about, so I worked hard on being a team player, conforming to schoolwide expectations, and taking part in school activities like pep rallies, athletic, and music events.

# Ms. Black

Ms. Black is a Caucasian female teacher. Her age range is between 21 and 30. She is married and has completed her bachelor's degree. Ms. Black works in a self-contained alternative school where she teaches students who have been removed from other schools within the district for behavioral problems. Students are physically restrained at times and the job is very physically demanding. To obtain her teaching credentials, Ms. Black went through an organization that guides degreed individuals through teacher training and helps them become certified to teach in one of eight states. When she first went to work, she was replacing someone who quit, and she never got to attend teacher orientation. She explained some of the challenges she faced:

I walked into my first day having never seen a lesson plan and no idea of what was expected. So I didn't even know what class looked like or how to run it. I knew nothing. It was sink or swim. I figured it out but I was just like UH! So just a sample lesson plan or an example of what a typical day would look like would be helpful.

While I talked with Ms. Black during the interview, she explained some of the physical challenges she faces at school every day. I commented on the large bump and bruise that was visible on her forehead that she had received when one of the students was being restrained. Ms. Black said, "It was all part of what you can expect when working with students at an alternative school."

# Ms. Amber

Ms. Amber is an Asian/Caucasian female teacher. Her age range is between 21 and 30. She is single and has completed her master's degree. Ms. Amber had struggled when she was going through her elementary education with attention deficit disorder. When one of her teachers took some extra time to work with her, it made a positive impact on her entire learning experience. That is when Ms. Amber decided she was going to become an educator to help other students with special education needs:

I experienced the difference that one teacher who really cared can make in the life of their student. It was a powerful time in my life and I wanted to be the person who could do that same thing for other children.

Ms. Amber mentioned the students during her interview and referred to them as "her kids" on several occasions. She works very long hours trying to ensure that her unique students will get

their lessons delivered in a way that will help them learn. She also needed to provide an environment that keeps them feeling safe and secure. In her journal, she explained her thoughts about teaching special needs students:

Working with students with disabilities is an amazing experience. It can be difficult at times but the rewards of watching a student reach a benchmark that we set far outweighs the efforts it took to get there. When a non-verbal child communicates for the first time, nothing else matters. I love that I get to make a real difference.

Ms. Amber talked about the time that is required to prepare for her lessons each day. She explained, "If I had kids to care for at home, I wouldn't be able to get everything done." She was the second teacher to share that sentiment with me during the individual interviews. When the interviews were completed, there were four participants who shared with me that they did not know how people with families could devote the number of hours it took to be a teacher.

# Ms. Teal

Ms. Teal is a Caucasian female teacher. Her age range is between 31 and 40. She is married and has completed her master's degree. Ms. Teal received her teaching credentials from the same organization that Ms. Black went through. When she was hired to work for the TISD, it was already three months into the school year. Ms. Teal was brought on board as a long-term substitute. To help her acclimate to the new school, they sent her to shadow a teacher for a halfday. The experience she gained was something Ms. Teal explained set a positive tone for the entire year. The class that she was going into had been together since pre-kindergarten and were now in second grade. They had lost three teachers in a row and the students were devastated after their fourth teacher quit three months into the year. Ms. Teal recognized the extra care the

93

students needed immediately and with the help of her mentor, she felt fortunate that she was the one who got to support them.

When she was asked for an example of how she put advice she received from social media into practice in her classroom, Ms. Teal wrote in her journal:

From social media I learned about the multiple intelligence tests you can give students to see how they learn best. I gave this assessment to the children and then learned how most of my students learn as well as developed an idea of how best to teach whole group. I also learned how I should appeal to those who learn in a different style but weren't the majority.

#### Results

This section will examine the results that were obtained after research data were collected using semi-structured interviews, an online journal, and focus group meetings. The data compiled from the participants of this study went through a rigorous process to obtain the results that are described in this section. The responses are broken down by themes that explain the essence of the experiences the educators lived through during their initial year in the classroom. A detailed description of how these themes developed is clarified in the next section.

#### **Theme Development**

After finding the specific topics the teachers discussed most during the research, I identified these as open codes. From there I was able to capture the thematic breakdown of their experiences listed in Table 2. The top five themes that emerged were social media usage, communication between new teachers and mentors, reasons teachers quit, teacher induction experiences, and what support is needed. The themes are explained in greater detail using the words of the participants below.

# Table 2

Open Codes Leading to Themes

Themes		
Social media usage		
Communication between new		
teachers and mentors		
Decement of the second		
Reasons teachers quit		
Teacher induction		
experiences		
experiences		
What support is needed		
ti nut support is needed		

Social media. The theme of social media was further coded into four sub-themes, which can be seen in the table below. The most mentioned topic was the different social media sites the teachers used during their first year. Ms. Orange explained, "I felt like using social media was an easier way to communicate with people because I'm horrible at talking to people." The next most discussed topic was finding information on social media that could be used in the classroom. For instance, Ms. Amber said, "I loved that I could always find a site that would help me get ideas for how to adapt lesson plans to fit my students." Whether the social media site provided instructions, ideas, advice, pictures, or lesson plans, it was covered by this category. The next area was related to the teachers sharing their ideas and experiences on social media; however, half of the participants did not share their ideas or lesson plans. When I questioned the teachers about why they did not post their ideas on social media, most of the participants explained that they did not feel comfortable posting things that worked or did not work because they were new teachers. Mr. Red explained in his journal, "I do not feel that I am at a point where I can be giving advice." Each of the sub-themes under Social Media Use are explained in Table 3 below.

Table 3

Social Media Usage Sub-Themes

Sub-Themes	Theme		
Sites visited			
Frequency sites were visited	~		
Using social media content in school	Social Media Usage		
Sharing support on social media			

*Social media sites visited.* When I explored which social media sites were visited the most, I found that Facebook and Pinterest were both mentioned 82 times. Later during the focus group discussion, the topic of Pinterest was brought up again by Mr. Green: "Pinterest is a wonderful, beautiful thing, even for men. I also use it for doing things in my backyard and the garage, so men can use it without shame." In her interview, Ms. Amber also discussed online resources: "During my first year, I used teacher blogs and Pinterest quite a bit." Pinterest was one of the preferred sites for the majority of the participants. Ms. Purple explained why Pinterest was her favorite site: "I liked to do new and innovative ideas, I don't like to do what everybody else is using, like something very hands on so the kids will remember when they leave my class."

Google and blogs were the second most used social media sites with 24 mentions each. Several participants used Google as an in-depth search engine. Mr. Green explained that by searching for a topic on Google and putting in the initials for portable document format, he would end up getting results that usually included a file that was already formatted and ready to be downloaded and used. Blogs were a valuable resource for many of the participants, as indicated by Ms. Teal's journal comment: "Veteran teachers posted what did and didn't work well for them on their blogs which helped me anticipate and overcome challenges in my classroom as well as provided new ideas to continue to grow and challenge my students." Instagram and the site Teachers-Pay-Teachers were the next two most commonly used social media sites with 16 occurrences each. Ms. Orange explained during her journal entry why she believed it was important to reach out on social media every day: "I feel that to be a good teacher you should always be learning, growing and reaching out and grasping new ideas." Mr. Red visited a variety of sites and found that when he subscribed to some sites, he would receive several suggestions about others. This helped to expand the types of ideas he would get access to. In his journal, he explained one of his favorite sites:

I enjoyed the Reddit site because I was able to search up keywords and find helpful threads to the topics I was looking for. Just as well, I was able to read about other teachers' experiences and able to compare it to my own, whether it was positive or negative. When I am having a stressful day, I can always go on and read inspiring threads that people posted about how they felt that they made an impact. It helped get me through some tougher times last year.

*Frequency sites were visited.* The first commonality that was found among the participants was that every teacher used social media, in one form or another, every day. All the participants were asked about how often they used social media during their individual interviews. Ms. Orange explained that every time she picked her phone up, she was looking on social media. Ms. Magenta concurred and added that she would be on her social media looking for things to use in her classroom from 30 to 60 minutes every day. Ms. Amber described her social media usage as a daily scavenger hunt. She was always looking for things to do with her class and she would utilize multiple social media sites daily to find specific things for her special education students. Mr. Red explained when he would go to the social media platform he used, he would find a teacher blog, and when he subscribed to it, multiple suggestions popped into his feed. He found he enjoyed reading what each teacher's experiences were like.

*Using social media content in school.* The second attribute that all the participants shared was using various social media sites to find content for their lesson plans. Regardless of which site the teachers visited, the number one reason was to develop a stronger, more superior

lesson plan. Ms. Purple agreed and added that every single lesson that she planned had something she incorporated from social media. Ms. Magenta was able to incorporate the ideas she found into her lessons but even if she could not make it work, it would still generate ideas that she was able to use during her lesson.

Ms. Amber had some children in her class who were extremely sensitive to loud noises. She was very excited when she found special education content online that she could use. She explained:

If there was a way to see what everyone was doing for specific things that would be a timesaver because in special ed we have to adjust so many things to make sure each kid is getting what they need and the way that they need to get it. So, if one child is agitated by loud noises and the lesson involves something that is going to be noisy, there was usually something explaining what another teacher did to adapt this for this type of student who can't tolerate this or that, and it would be very helpful.

Ms. Black relied on the Facebook community she joined that shared stories and ideas to accompany the lessons that were part of the learning program used at her behavioral school. The Facebook site had special education lessons, and the teachers who had to make accommodations for their students would post what the student needed and what the teacher did to adjust the lesson to suit their needs. Ms. Black loved that the site made it so easy to follow and she was able to easily incorporate the site content into her lesson plans regardless of the abilities of her students.

*Sharing support on social media.* The participants all found themselves looking for ideas to use in the classroom as well as seeing what other teachers were experiencing. Some teachers enjoyed getting to share their thoughts and ideas while others did not feel they should

share what events were occurring each day. Ms. Violet created her own blog to share what was happening in her classroom with others. She enjoyed reading what others posted and she invited her students' parents to read the blog so they would have a better idea what their children were doing at school. Mr. Green felt a greater sense of community by participating in the social media discussion areas. He saw other new teachers who were dealing with similar struggles, and he liked knowing he was not alone. During his interview, he explained, "I saw things that they were asking questions about, or questions that I had, or even questions I didn't know I had, but then I had them after I read them."

There were mixed emotions about sharing information on social media by teachers. Several teachers did not feel that they were experienced enough to share information. When Ms. Orange was elaborating during her interview on why she had never shared her own social media postings, she almost appeared defensive as she said, "Not that I don't want to, but I still feel like I'm at that new teacher stage where I don't have a lot and I don't want to put it out there yet." Ms. Amber never felt comfortable sharing anything in her first year, but explained, "I feel that now I may be able to put some things up that I have learned that could help newer teachers." One participant also explained that the chaos that happened in the classroom was something she did not want to share with anyone. She also believed that teachers who posted videos of classroom situations would select only positive behaviors. Ms. Magenta explained, "I don't know if I would put myself out there with the craziness that happens sometimes and I don't know that I would want videos of me handling that craziness out there either." Mr. Jade explained that there have been so many other instances where people share inappropriate things that it makes it more difficult for everyone else to feel comfortable putting themselves and their thoughts out on social media. He made the following analogy during his interview:

There are people who make bad decisions on social media but that shouldn't overtake the good too. My analogy is it's like a vaccine. Sometimes it makes people sick. But the overall protection it provides is what's most beneficial. So we can't just look at what a few people do. We need to look at the overall good and what it's doing.

Ms. Violet, on the other hand, was very comfortable with posting information and experiences on her own teacher blog for others to follow: "I shared anything I thought was relevant to our demographic of kids, or any classroom management techniques that could help others." She also encouraged the parents of her students to follow her blog so they would be aware of what was being covered in the classroom. To provide an overview of how each participant used social media and the sites they visited, I created Table 4 below.

Table 4

	Visited	Used for lesson	Read other teacher's	Shared their own	
Participant	daily	planning	stories	stories	Sites visited
Ms. Violet	Х	Х	Х	Х	FB,G,I,P,Y
Ms. Purple	Х	Х	Х		FB,S,I,P,Y,TPT
Ms. Magenta	Х	Х	Х	Х	T,FB,TB,S,L,P,Y,TPT
Mr. Jade	Х	Х	Х	Х	FB,I,Y
Mr. Red	Х	Х	Х		FB,DB,I,R,TB,Y
Ms. Orange	Х	Х	Х		FB,I,P,S,Y,TPT
Mr. Green	Х	Х	Х	Х	FB,TB,L,I,P,Y
Ms. Black	Х	Х	Х	Х	FB,P,TPT
Ms. Amber	Х	X	Х		FB,T,I,P,Y,TPT
Ms. Teal	Х	Х	Х		FB,TB,S,P,Y

#### Teachers' Use of Social Media

Social Media Site Abbreviation Key: Discussion Board – DB, Facebook – FB, Google – G, Instagram – I, LinkedIn

- L, Pinterest - P, Reddit - R, Snapchat - S, Teacher blogs - TB, Teacher text chains - TTC, Teachers-pay-teachers - TPT, Twitter - T, YouTube - Y.

**Mentor communication.** The next theme that emerged during analysis addressed communication between new teachers and their mentors. This communication was broken down into several sub-themes (see Table 5) based upon whether the mentor was officially assigned, a teacher who developed a mentoring relationship, or a virtual mentor who passed along ideas and advice via various forms of social media. While the TISD had established guidelines to provide a mentor to each new teacher, this was not always what happened.

# Table 5

Sub-themes	Theme
Virtual mentor	
Formal mentor	Mentor Communication
Informal mentor	

*Virtual mentor.* The highest number of references in the data was to mentors that new teachers worked with virtually, through social media sites or teacher text chains. While there was no specific title assigned to the exchanges, the teachers received the same type of advice and support they would have received from a formal mentoring relationship. Because Ms. Orange started teaching after the school year had already started, she was not assigned a mentor at her school. The division mentor who came to see her only seemed to discuss negative things. When Ms. Orange asked her how to improve something, she was told that she would have to figure that out on her own but she needed to find a way to fix it. She reached out via social media to teachers who had mentored her while she was in college. During the focus group discussion, Ms. Orange explained that more people are joining in on forums and discussing issues, ideas, and

offering helpful tips that make their experiences easier: "We're getting better at doing this online thing." She enjoyed seeing each site had many different ideas or points of view. It served as a wake-up call for her that not everyone thought the way she did or learned the way she did. By using social media to reach out to other educators, she was able to see where people come from and what helped them most. In the focus group she explained, "To be a good teacher you should always be learning and growing, and in order to do that you should be reaching out and grasping new ideas constantly."

There is such a large variety of social media sites available that teachers can find help with almost anything. A couple of the participants in the focus group explained that on occasion it was easier looking something up online and getting advice there, because they did not want to feel like they were constantly asking someone at school for help. Ms. Amber felt more at ease going to look at a website and searching for a topic than asking other teachers. She felt like she always needed help in the beginning, and each time she had to ask a teacher at school, she felt like she did not know what she was doing. This year, one of the new teachers asked her about something she struggled with last year, and she felt a great deal of happiness helping.

Ms. Black, who works with special education students, has a program her school uses called "Unique Learning System." By using this software she has access to a Facebook page reserved for teachers who use the system. The site allows her to communicate with other teachers who are teaching the same subjects at the same time. The teachers have a vast network across the country and many sites have used the learning system and their lesson plans for years. This means that Ms. Black and the other teachers can share all their ideas including what to do specifically for each lesson. While all the children they work with are different, Ms. Black explained the advantages:

I'm interacting with other teachers. There's a teacher in Detroit who is doing the same lesson I am doing. All the kids are different, so your level may be completely different than hers. But you can most of the time look up on a lesson and see what the teacher in Ohio did for this child. Then you know next time. Hey, what are you doing for him on the month of October. And a lot of these teachers have been using the software longer than the TISD. So I can say, hey, do you remember the summer plan? Well, the lessons repeat every year. So they can go and pull their files and say "oh just do X, Y, and Z." Which works for the most part. Like I said, our school is mostly behavioral and not academic.

This type of lesson guidance has been a great help for Ms. Black. She explained that there are enough challenges that present themselves with students each day, and having to figure out what to do in the classroom too would make it so much harder. During the focus group, as she listened as the other teachers explained their experiences, she was surprised to hear how many struggles they dealt with.

Ms. Purple explained that the TISD had set up a Facebook page for their pre-kindergarten teachers. There were places to share activities and ideas, and the administrators would also share inspirational quotes to encourage the teachers. Ms. Purple was told about the Facebook page as part of her new teacher induction training. Several of the other teachers had also mentioned using the TISD Facebook page for the district educators. When I asked Ms. Purple about why she used social media to help with her lessons, she explained that she liked to do new and innovative things in her class and she did not like to do what everybody else was doing. She wanted to always be able to do something different: "Like something very hands on so the kids will remember when they leave my class, so I used Pinterest a lot."

When working with teachers online or just getting ideas off of teacher blogs, the camaraderie and shared experience were a significant factor in making the participants feel like they were looking for answers in the right place. The majority of participants commented during the focus group discussions that they felt better when they realized they were not alone in their struggles. Ms. Teal explained how whenever she interacts with the teachers online, she understands that they have been through the same battles that she has. When Mr. Green visited teacher blogs, he felt he could identify with what they were talking about. He explained that it did not matter if it was in a website posting or a teacher text chain, it was immensely helpful to bounce things off of different teachers to see what worked or did not work for them.

*Formal mentor*. When a formal mentor was assigned to a teacher, they could be working at the same school or it could be someone from the district who had several new teachers with whom they worked. There were also formal mentors who were assigned from the organization that trained and certified the teacher. The results and effectiveness of the formal mentoring with this group of teachers were as diverse as the participants themselves. Ms. Violet did not have a formal mentor assigned to her; however, she explained that "a mentoring relationship developed" with another teacher. Ms. Magenta was assigned a mentor by the school district who visited her classroom for five minutes and never contacted her again, so she developed mentoring relationships with the teachers who taught the same types of students she did. Ms. Black had her assistant principal (AP) as her mentor. She explained in her demographics survey, "My assigned mentor was my AP so we talked as much as I wanted, but my real mentor was a girl I just became friends with while teaching."

When I asked Ms. Purple about meeting her formal mentor, she explained there were so many things going on in the beginning that she felt as though everything was a blur. She had seen the mentor before when she had been a substitute teacher there. They just needed time to get to know one another and develop a working relationship. Ms. Purple explained how her mentor made her feel at ease:

She was very open and very helpful. She just told me that if I needed anything or if I had any questions that I can come to her and that she doesn't mind. That was very helpful and calming to know that she was there to help me.

This open and trusting relationship made all the difference in how Ms. Purple adapted to her new classroom environment.

Mr. Jade was assigned a formal mentor, but he was concerned they were there more to watch than to provide assistance. This mistrust took some time to get past. After several weeks of developing a solid and trusting working foundation, the mentoring relationship became a positive experience. Mr. Green echoed the same sentiment of mistrust for his district-provided mentor during both his interview and the focus group. He explained that he felt uneasy from the minute the mentor stepped into his room, and he only saw the mentor a couple of times: "We did not hit it off in any kind of a way personally, to where I felt like I could trust them as a person. And so I didn't get anything out of that part." However, he did seek out the help of other teachers whom he respected after watching the way they taught their students.

Several teachers who participated in this study received alternative teacher certification through various organizations which allowed them to become teachers in Texas. These groups also provided mentors who visited monthly or quarterly to help the first-year teachers acclimate to the school and ensure they were working well in the classroom. Mr. Red was an example of all three parts working together perfectly. Mr. Red was provided a mentor by the school he started work at and was also assigned a district mentor. Having received alternative certification, he was also provided a mentor from his certifying organization. On his demographic survey, Mr. Red explained that he would work with his school mentor daily and his district mentor and alternative program mentor in-person each month. He had a very positive experience with all three of his mentors. Having his alternative certification mentor provide feedback via telephone and email made contacting that mentor easier, too. When I asked him what types of things they worked with him on, he explained:

Making sure that you have something going, something concrete, you're hitting time marks, you know you're hitting your first thought within the first 10 minutes. You're going through the lesson plan on pace. You're not slowing down. They were looking for are you dragging the material. Is the student body handling the material appropriately? Are you ensuring ways for the students to be successful? Are they using a notebook? What are the ways you're incorporating the lesson? How are you making it engaging? Those are the things they were looking for but as a new person if I didn't have the mentor I had, I definitely believe they would have been more crucial to the process. I had a great mentor over at my school who pretty much guided me. He shared lessons, gave me worksheets and handouts and pretty much said, "Hey, this is what we're doing today." If I had any questions, he was there as a guide.

He also believed that his mentor helped him by sending transcripts of all the things they worked on and discussed together so he would easily remember the content they covered during their meetings.

Ms. Teal had a formal mentor from the organization that certified her as a teacher, and she explained that the mentor they provided was excellent. She would visit Ms. Teal once a month and sit in on her class. They would go over any notes and comments on the phone after school was over, and Ms. Teal would receive an email spelling out everything they covered during the call. Ms. Teal started working with the TISD as a long-term substitute teacher three months into the school year. She was called in to replace a teacher who had quit a few months after school started. Ms. Teal had a positive experience with her informal mentor. One of the other teachers who taught the same grade that she did guided her through the problems and questions whenever she needed help. Between connecting almost every day at school with her informal mentor and the monthly visits from her formal mentor, Ms. Teal believed she had a wonderful mentoring experience.

*Informal mentor.* Informal mentors are teachers who may be located at the school but were not assigned to be an official mentor. An informal mentoring relationship will develop between teachers who may teach the same grade level or the same subjects. It sometimes happens out of necessity or just one teacher wanting to help another make it through the day. Mr. Green felt uncomfortable with his formal mentor so he sought out teachers and asked questions and borrowed some of the things that he saw worked for them. He trusted the people that he sought out personally. He would go through the school and see not only who was successful as a teacher but also whom he could get along with. Trust was extremely important to him. Mr. Green believed those were the most valuable relationships he experienced his first year.

Having never seen her formal mentor after their first visit, Ms. Magenta had to find a strong informal mentor. She was fortunate to teach the same class as two other teachers. They worked well together and taught her many valuable lessons. In her opinion, self-care was one of the most valuable lessons they taught her: If teachers burn out by trying to work 20 hours a day, they cannot help their students. During our individual interview she discussed how they let her

know that she needed to stop and take a lunch break. They also encouraged her to get out of the classroom and do something for herself and to go home at a reasonable hour so that she would not be so tired that she could not help anyone. Ms. Magenta shared similar sentiments expressed by most of the participants: "There are not enough hours in the day to get everything done." Ms. Violet also developed a mentoring relationship with one of the teachers in her school. She explained that sometimes a new teacher just needs some assistance, and it can be as simple as someone saying, "Hey, my door is always open if you feel like you're struggling with something." If a teacher is stuck or frustrated, that could be a lifeline.

Why teachers quit. The third theme to emerge based upon the number of comments by participants was why they felt teachers quit. During the focus groups and the individual interviews, participants were asked why they thought teachers left the profession. Their responses were broken down into three categories (see Table 7). The categories included problems with teacher professional development, a lack of resources, and general answers participants gave to the question of why teacher quit. The participants believed all may play a role in why teachers leave in the first year.

Table 6

Why Teachers Quit Sub-Themes

Sub-Themes	Theme
Teacher professional development	Why Teachers Quit
Lack of resources	
Why teachers quit	

*Teacher professional development.* The largest response covered for why teachers quit fell under the topic of teacher professional development (PD). There were very lengthy discussions about PD during both focus groups. The topics ranged from specific areas where the teachers had received training to being able to decide for themselves what topics they wanted to see presented in a training. The TISD provides a week of teacher training at the beginning of every school year. They select topics, provide the trainings, and deliver them in PowerPoint presentations and with handouts during the week-long training event. The participants had a great deal of criticism about the training. Mr. Jade explained to the group how he received a training for several hours about how to use clip charts; he thought it was a great training until he got to his school and they explained to him that they did not use clip charts. He was a little upset that he had valuable time used for a training that served no purpose to him when there were other things he could have learned. He believed his time during the training event would have been improved if he had been able to network and establish some connections with other new and experienced teachers. If the training topics did not pertain to a skill that all the teachers were going to use, they should not have presented it at a group training. Other teachers at the focus group agreed.

One expression that was used several times during the focus groups was one that I had mentioned during the individual interviews. I explained to the teachers how I did not know what I did not know until I learned it while going to school. Ms. Magenta brought this idea up again as part of the discussion about letting teachers have a say in what they get for PD training. She explained:

I think part of the problem is that, like we said before, you don't know what you don't know. When you're just starting, you might not know what you need. So, if you had

asked me before I started, what do you need. You pick from these trainings. What do you think is more beneficial? I think it was Mr. Jade that said he was trained in X, Y, and Z, and when he got to his school, he had to throw all that out. So, I think maybe instead of having it be a full week of training before you start, have a couple of days of training instead and then sprinkle in a couple of half day trainings where you are paid and you're grouped together. After you're already in there and you're looking at the areas where you're struggling, you have a better idea of how your school works and those areas where you need to strengthen certain skills or whatever.

Ms. Magenta's idea was very exciting to the group and each teacher commented that they believed it was a much better way to help support the first-year teacher. Mr. Green agreed with her and followed up by adding that he too had to throw out things that he was taught at the training that were not used at his school similar to what Mr. Jade had mentioned. He was also not happy that they wasted a great opportunity for training. He explained, "There were a whole lot of things that I wish I would have learned during those first few weeks." He agreed with Ms. Magenta and explained that he really did not know what he needed until after he got into the classroom.

Mr. Red added that when he attended the new teacher training, he was surprised at how they were teaching the courses. If he was being evaluated in his classroom as a new teacher, he would have a mentor come into his room and observe; they would look to see that he was ensuring the students were absorbing the material appropriately and that he was making the lesson engaging. If this was the case for him, he wondered why they were training the new teachers in a way that was not engaging and with a format they were not absorbing; it didn't make any sense to him. Ms. Violet received multiple positive responses from the other focus group participants when she explained that she was not going to retain information that was presented at the new teacher training. She suggested instead:

Send me to something that I can actually have hands-on showing me what I need to do.

Don't give me these PowerPoints and then pass out these packets that I'm never going to read. That's a useless waste of paper that we need later when the copier's not working.
Ms. Violet did not think the PD PowerPoint training would work for training teachers to do anything. Mr. Jade agreed and was frustrated that he was taught multiple times that a teacher should not teach by going through information on a PowerPoint presentation, yet when the teachers attend a training at the district PD, this is how they are being taught: "There such a disconnect between what is expected from us and what we're shown."

Mr. Green echoed the same irritation as the rest of the group. The time wasted during the training was a missed opportunity. He believed he could have read a PowerPoint presentation on his own and got more out of it than having it read to him in a group setting. He explained to the group:

I think there was a complete disconnect in the methods that they used to training us and the methods they want us to use with our students. We're also students. Students to be teachers. And with all the research in education it just feels like a big disconnect in the way they approach teaching us how to be teachers and the way they expected us to teach. And they would occasionally do an activity but overall, the growth mindset and different things. It definitely needed to be a much more comfortable, welcoming, inclusive, we're on your team kind of a feeling for the training than there was.

Mr. Green also felt that if the teacher orientation was set up more like a professional conference, the environment would be more conducive to learning. He explained that as educational professionals, knowing how to deliver a positive, productive, learning experience should be something second nature to the school district. Ms. Amber reiterated the same thoughts as the group about learning from a PowerPoint presentation. She said that whether the presentation was given in person or with a handout, it would be something that would most likely just make her eyes glaze over: "I could never follow something like that unless someone was talking to me specifically and asking me questions about it. If we were doing scenarios or something like that with the teacher around us or something interactive, then I might absorb the materials." She explained that she might look like she was paying attention, but her mind would be a million miles away thinking about the work she had to get done before her next class.

*Lack of resources.* Some of the teachers had stories about not having the necessary resources in the classroom. For Mr. Red, he arrived as a long-term substitute teacher, and he did not get any help or lesson plans. They handed him a USB drive and explained that the teacher who used to teach the class before him has used it. Mr. Red had to walk in and teach students about baby development. He found everything he needed to teach the class on his own, and he did it all by looking online. It was an "uncomfortable, weird, and difficult task to try and find what I needed for this class." Towards the end of the focus group after several people explained that by then they had seen other teachers quit, Mr. Red said, "It's the stress. . . . We just listed off, I don't know how many things and that doesn't even begin to get to the practical idea of teaching, we're not even covering the number of kids who are being disrespectful to you."

Ms. Purple tackled the topic of lack of resources as the first discussion point during her semi-structured interview. Since this topic was important to her, we were able to spend extra time discussing what she felt about starting out in the classroom. We started the conversation by my questioning what she believed a teacher needed to be successful. Her response was as follows:

Because a lot of the times we [new teachers] come into the education system and we only know what we were taught. Because each district is different. So I don't know what this district needs compared to this district. And also the right materials, because sometimes all the materials are not there, and so we're having to buy everything for ourselves, and we're a first year teacher, and sometimes we don't get paid until the next month so we're then scraping up what we do have to provide for our students.

She did not want any of her students to not have what they needed on any given day, but there were days when everyone did not have supplies for a lesson. Ms. Purple felt that should not have happened.

One resource the teachers never believed they had enough of was time. Ms. Black mentioned during the focus group that she had so much paperwork to complete and she never got a planning period or a lunch break: "It just added an extra strain on your day when you had to stay longer to do the paperwork or take it home." Ms. Orange talked about how difficult it was trying to keep up with her paperwork when so much was expected out of her. She said she would bring home paperwork every day, and it seemed to her that each day she was bringing home more work than the day before. She joked about not knowing how to carry it back and forth every day because there was so much to carry.

Ms. Teal felt pressure to try and hit all the points for these teaching styles and still get her whole lesson completed. There was no time added to her schedule for re-teaching concepts the students didn't grasp the first time or forgot and needed a refresher on the topic. When I asked Ms. Teal if she had any thoughts on why she believed that new teachers left the profession, she explained:

We're being almost pushed really to teach in a more data-driven environment. Push, push, push, numbers, numbers, numbers, and you really don't see any more of the love and the passion and the caring and that communal quality any more. It's all data and numbers and businesslike. That's not what teachers want. That's not what they signed up for.

*Why teachers quit.* During the focus group, we discussed that a few of the teachers in each meeting were brought into the classroom in the middle of the year to replace people who quit a few months into the school year. I asked the participants if they felt this was connected to the high percentage of teachers who quit the profession in the first few years. It was a moment where the participants seemed to make a connection between the statistics we had talked about and people they knew and worked with every day. When I asked Mr. Green about his first-year experience, he discussed that he would never admit to his class that this was his first year in the classroom because he had seen other teachers go through some very difficult times because the students pushed them to see what they could get away with. Their goal was to try to get the new teacher to break: "I saw a lot of people struggle that first year and quit." Through my research I found a great deal of data to support Mr. Green's theory; Mac Kenzie and Stanzione (2010), for instance, created a name for these students: limit testers.

Ms. Amber believed that some teachers get frustrated because they do not feel as though their voice is being heard. While completing her online journal posting, she explained her biggest frustration during her first year: I had a student who didn't really belong in the special ed group that I was teaching and I talked with so many people about try to get him moved out into a different program. He was disruptive and would fight with the other kids and every day I spent more and more time trying to keep him in line instead of teaching the class. I was so upset with my admin that nothing got done until right before the end of the year.

Ms. Violet had a difficult time as well trying to get clarity for planning her lessons. The lack of help made her feel as though she was not being supported:

With my first year teaching I kind of got thrown into the classroom at the half year point. I knew how to do the behavior management. It was not an issue for me. It was knowing how they planned. And no one ever told me how to plan it so I just submitted something that I was shown at another school. And they were like, oh, that's not how you do it. So they threw it back at me and I was like, well what do I do then?

Four participants were brought in to replace teachers who left in their first year. Ms. Amber, Ms. Orange, Ms. Black, and Ms. Teal had to gain the trust of students who did not believe they would stay with their class. Ms. Black explained how difficult it was where she worked because it was a behavioral school and the students were physically aggressive at times. Her struggles were not only learning how to deal with her class and her students, but also how to incorporate her coworker's students after her coworker quit. She seemed to understand why everything was so difficult while addressing the issues we discussed during the focus group:

We've been through three teachers next door and last year for the entire year I was the only teacher for both classrooms because nobody wanted the job. And I'm like, what in the world is going on, but now this all makes sense to me. I asked the teachers in Ms. Black's focus group if they felt the numbers of teachers quitting during the first few years might be higher based upon the stories they shared during the meeting, and they believed the numbers could be worse.

Ms. Orange added to what Ms. Black had said during the focus group. She explained that her administration removed her from one class she was teaching to put her in a different class, teaching a different grade, because the other teacher quit. She described:

I did the same thing, because they pulled me from third to first in February. They were like we're switching you and these kids in the first grade had already had four teachers. So when they got me in February, they were so mad at me. They didn't want me. They hated me. But now I moved to the next grade with them and now I'm their favorite teacher. So you can see how they needed consistency but that first year was bad. And they kept putting first year teachers in there and it killed them every time so they just quit every time.

Another issue discussed during interviews was aggressive students and teacher safety. Three participants discussed having been hit by students. Ms. Violet discussed what happened on her worst day in the classroom with an aggressive special education student:

I was not real sure of how to deal with him and his defiance. He would constantly hit other kids, refuse to complete work even if modified and offered computer time per the counselor's advice. He became angry when asked to do anything he didn't want to do like wake up. He would punch and kick and spit on me. I was pregnant at the time and would have to radio for support.

One of Ms. Amber's special education students was also aggressive at times:

One of the students was frustrated about not participating after getting in trouble. I was afraid he was going to hurt one of the other children. I tried to separate him from the other child and he hit me in the nose with his elbow. I didn't even realize it at the time, but he broke my nose. I didn't want to tell anyone. I felt ashamed and that it would seem like I couldn't control what was happening in my classroom. I tried to talk with the mother of the child and I just think she didn't want to deal with getting help for him.

I followed up with a question and asked if she had thought about quitting after such a difficult experience; she replied, "I didn't think about quitting at all and it made me glad I was there to protect my other student."

The focus group discussed what they believed might be one possible solution to preventing so many teachers leaving after a few months. They expressed that putting in a new teacher into the classroom when the situations were so difficult was obviously not going to work. One participant suggested that a shadowing teacher who could model the best behavior in challenging scenarios might be a solution. While some teachers were surprised that the statistical data suggested such a large percentage of teachers quit the profession during the first few years, after discussions during the focus group, some expressed the numbers might be higher than the data proposed.

**Support needed.** Support for new teachers was the next theme that developed from the participant data. This theme can be broken down into four categories of support that were discussed during interviews and focus group meetings (see Table 7). Teacher support was mentioned most often followed closely by administration support. These topics were the most important for the participants. Also covered by this theme was support provided to new teachers by their mentors. This included mentors the teachers worked with virtually, those that were

developed informally at school, and mentors who were assigned through the school, district, or certifying organization.

Table 7

Teacher's Support Sub-Themes

Sub-Themes	Themes
Teacher support	
Administration support	Teacher's Support
Virtual mentor and assigned mentor support	

*Teacher's support.* One of the questions that all the participants were asked during the semi-structured interviews was what they thought new teachers needed to stay in the classroom beyond their first year. The first interview that I completed was with Ms. Magenta. She explained how very nerve wracking it was the first week that she was teaching a classroom full of students. She would have loved to have had someone there to guide her through that time. She made a point of explaining that she did not need anyone to hold her hand, but having someone there like a guide would have helped with her anxiety.

I wish that I would have had somebody that would have been like "Hey, Ms. Magenta, this is what I'm doing my first week, these are the lessons I'm using, these are the books I'm using as opposed to write up your lessons and figure it out. Even if it would have been the first two or three weeks of school. As you know, sometimes with the first five or the first 15 or whatever, it looks a little bit different, but I just wish I would have had something. Even videos of this is a teacher doing her morning meeting and this is what it's supposed to look like. That would have been super helpful. Sometimes I just think about it and across the school, and across the district, and across the state, so many of us are working on the same stuff and there's not enough information sharing, like we're all reinventing the wheel. I think that just adds stress and pressure.

Ms. Magenta suggested that the TISD could create a database of videos of teachers presenting different lessons, and it could be a searchable site so teachers could find what they needed. She hoped to see something that included a breakdown of each of the units the teachers had to teach and examples of essential questions, demonstrations for learning, and even some ideas for hands-on exercises to check the students for retention of the information, "similar to how charter school classes are scripted, but you could cut and paste and modify what fits for your class because one size doesn't fit all."

Ms. Magenta received her certification through an outside organization and while she was getting her teaching credentials, she was able to network with others doing the same thing. This allowed her to attend summer training and meetings with 150 other teachers in Texas. She explained how she connected with her group on Facebook and one person would recommend something and then another and before you knew it, you had so many connections. There was almost always a resource, and it was a big help. Mr. Jade (2019) explained that he really didn't like to use Facebook that much, but he knew that if he needed any help, he could always find what he needed through his Facebook groups.

When it came to needed support from one's mentor, Mr. Red explained that all the issues new teachers face seemed to pile up into an impassable obstacle. In addition, he had to tackle depression midway through the year. He felt as though he was not serving any purpose as a teacher and was being paid to be a babysitter instead; the students he was working with were not making any efforts to learn, and he felt like he was spending his days keeping them in line: "Because why am I even here if these kids aren't going to try to get it?" He explained that if his mentor had not been there to get him back on track, he might have left in his first year as well.

As we talked about the importance of first-year teachers getting the support they needed, several of the participants shared that as second- and third-year teachers, they were mentoring the first-year teachers who came on board that year. Such was the case for Ms. Black. She explained that all the other teachers in her section quit the previous year, and she ended up combining three classes with her class. When the administration brought in another first-year teacher after the others quit, she described her own mentoring role:

Well I had another first-year teacher last year, this past year and last year and we figured it out together. And now we have a whole slew of first-year teachers and I'm teaching them. Here's how you survive at this school.

She was helping to guide the new teachers and keep them in the classroom. Ms. Amber also felt that being a role model and taking the lead for the newer teachers was extremely important:

My first year was tough and I did think about quitting. Especially when I would have a rough day or I would just be so tired. I feel like I have experienced so many things in just the first couple of years that I know exactly what the new teachers feel like.

She also explained that she wished that she had an opportunity to sit in with a class before she started teaching. Since she was replacing a teacher who was no longer there, she did not get any time to shadow a veteran educator. "I would have felt more relaxed and prepared if I could've spent even a day in one of the other special education classes with an experienced teacher."

During the focus group discussions, several participants added that they would have benefited from a day or two of shadowing a seasoned teacher before their first day. Only one participant (Ms. Teal) was given time to sit in on a class while another teacher ran the class. She believed that the experience led to many successes for her during her first year. Teacher support to help build the confidence level of a new educator was a great success for Ms. Teal.

Administrative support. The participants mentioned the importance of being supported by their school administration. It was at the top of each person's list of what a teacher needed to be successful during the first year. It was clear that each participant had a different experience with administrative support. Ms. Purple felt she was well supported by her administration who created a Facebook page for early childhood educators: "They posted activities for class and they'll put quotes there to encourage us." Ms. Teal agreed about being supported and commented:

The leadership team up here has been amazing. They're just beautiful. Last year they were very understanding. They knew this was my first year and let me know they were going to help me along the way with whatever I needed. There was never any kind of punitive, well why did you do this and why didn't you do that. I think if teachers stay or leave it is all about how they were supported by the leadership. It should always be looked at through the lens of leadership.

Ms. Teal was encouraged and enthusiastic about the leadership at her school.

One of the participants who had a different experience with support by his administration was Mr. Red. He was frustrated by the lack of support from administration when it came to setting policies. The teachers at his school had to decide what their policy would be on cell phones in class. This led to a confusing scenario where one teacher would allow cell phones in the classroom while another banned cellphones, leaving the students caught in the middle. Mr. Red believed that the schoolwide policies needed consistency and that the teacher should not be responsible for making a policy. He explained: You're confusing kids and then say well those are the rules in the other classrooms. They just need to have schoolwide policies and communication efforts. Same thing with dress codes. Some people don't mind spaghetti dresses or spaghetti string dresses or whatnot but some teachers think it's not appropriate for us at the high school level. When you ask an AP and their response is 'Well, what do you think of it?' You're in the position to be telling us what you're supposed to be enforcing. We shouldn't be enforcing the schoolwide rules, that's the AP's role. But, when they leave the responsibility to the teacher, it becomes more like: Great... I'm not getting the support I want. Why should I have to be the teacher and the administrator?

As Mr. Red continued with the interview, he once again suggested that when the teacher has to do the job of the administrator, new teachers leave the profession.

Mr. Jade also dealt with some negative experiences with administration. When he was a first-year teacher he felt like the administrators caught a quick glimpse of his teaching during a walk-through and that would be all that was used for his teacher's evaluation. He continued,

I also feel like admin kind of puts teachers against each other. It was me and another first-year teacher at my school and we got compared to each other a lot. Mr. Jade is doing this and the other first-year teacher is doing that. And it almost ended up being a competition instead of a cohesive team. And we were on the same team.

When the educators felt as though they were in a competition, there was a complete lack of sharing of ideas and information.

Ms. Magenta had a similar experience where she was compared with a first-year teacher when she started, too. Mr. Jade and Ms. Magenta were the only ones who were hired back the following year. She explained how unfair it was because the other teacher was right out of college, and Ms. Magenta had workforce experience before training to be a teacher. The comparison of one to the other was really upsetting to her. She pointed out, "We don't do that to our students, or at least we're not supposed to."

Ms. Amber was not happy with administration because she felt like the administrators kept throwing new teachers into a bad situation that the team knew needed an experienced educator to be successful. She believed that if administration were going to put a first-year teacher into a difficult class where others had left before them, the leadership team should have planned to provide more support in that case:

If there had been a guide, lesson plans, or something that just showed what the class should look like and how you should schedule things, and some different types of activities it would be a lifesaver. You really don't want to mess up or not do something you were supposed to or even worse, do something you shouldn't have, but you don't know until you do it.

She was very worried about messing things up and putting the children in a worse position than when she got to them.

There were several things the participants discussed on the topic of support from administration. Ms. Violet explained one of the things that she listed as her best lesson learned from the administrators during new teacher induction program:

Speak up if you're having a problem. If your struggling and you don't speak up you're going to still be struggling in your second year doing the same things you struggled with in your previous year thinking you're going to get better results.

*Virtual mentor and mentor support.* These two support levels were combined due to the lower number of times they were discussed. When talking about support in general, all the

participants agreed during the two focus groups that getting through the first year was not something anyone could do alone. For some it was as simple as having someone to help calm their nerves on the first few days of class. Ms. Amber felt supported when she would go online to sites that were designed to bring together special education teachers:

I mostly read ideas from other teachers on topics that I could use in my classroom. I was glad to see that I wasn't the only person who had problems trying to keep control in the classroom. Seeing online what people used and said about positive and negative things they tried was the best. I knew I could go to the special education forum and someone would reply and give me ideas and support.

Ms. Black explained when she was on the interactive discussion area for her Facebook group she saw "teachers that are even more distraught than I am." She was realistic with her expectations regarding what her students were capable of and that was a gamechanger for her. Seeing other teachers hurting also hit a nerve for Ms. Black as well. Having access to the teacher forum was an important two way exchange: "It's just creating a community-like support system, for me to say what do I do about this, why is this this way, and sometimes, I don't want to do this either."

For participants who felt they had so much to learn from the teachers who had more experience, interacting with veteran educators was a great source of comfort. In her journal, Ms. Teal explained that she felt she could offset her lack of experience by reading what the veteran educators would share: "Veteran teachers posted what did and didn't work well for them on their blogs which helped me anticipate and overcome challenges in my classroom as well as provided new ideas to continue to grow and challenge my students." For other participants it was about being able to plan a full day where their students would get an interactive educational experience they would learn from and retain the information presented. Ms. Black also found support from her peers. She worked closely with another firstyear teacher. The variety of support strategies that were mentioned throughout the meetings with this group of participants was genuinely diverse. Their passion for education and for helping their students stood out during all phases of this research study.

Induction experience. The final theme that emerged during this research surrounded the new teacher's induction experiences. Between the semi-structured interviews, the online journal, and the focus group meetings, the participants shared over 100 stories of their triumphs and challenges they encountered during their induction. During the interviews and the journals, I asked the participants to think of their best and their worst experiences to capture the wide range of unexpected, impromptu, and surprising events that made up their first year. The categories covered in this theme included what the participants' first thoughts of the induction program were as well as the first problems they needed help with. I also included whether the educators believed the support of the induction program helped them get through their first year in the classroom. The most intense and powerful responses by the participants stemmed from incidents that occurred on their worst day during their induction. These questions received the most responses, and each teacher usually provided several examples of different events.

On some occasions, first-year teachers struggle to find a balance between what they learned in school about being a teacher and what they are being asked to do when they get to the classroom. While speaking with Ms. Orange, I asked her what she felt her worst experience during the induction program was. She explained why she had such a difficult first year in school: I had a bad administrator. That was the one thing that they never teach you. What you can and can't do. She got fired afterward. That had hovered over my whole year. She kept telling me things to do these things that I knew weren't legal. And so that was terrible. It was so rough. It was a constant battle between legal and I can't do that.

Ms. Orange did not let this bad experience take away her love of teaching, however. In my follow-up question, I asked her what her biggest takeaway was from the induction year, and she explained that to get through the first year, a new teacher needs to be ready for anything that might come along, "whether that's being open to new social media or teaching topics, whatever comes your way."

Throughout the research for this study, participants described multiple difficulties they encountered as new teachers. Learning to manage all the things that a teacher has to get completed is a topic that many participants brought up during the interview and focus group sessions. Ms. Amber said that dealing with the workload was part of a lesson learned for her:

You can't kill yourself by working 14 hours a day. You have to pack it up and go home and relax and get away from the classroom. Even when I did go home, I brought work home with me. It felt like all weekend, I was doing all the things I didn't have time to finish during the week and then it would start all over again on Monday. There were times I couldn't even sleep because I kept thinking about everything I had to finish. If you don't stop, you will run yourself into the ground and then you can't help anyone.

Ms. Teal had to deal with an issue that would break the heart of any teacher: One of her students was being bullied and no one knew how out of control it had become for him; the student wrote a note that said he was going to end his life during recess. She was distressed to

think that a child who had not even had his ninth birthday yet would think about ending his life. After intervening and getting her student some help, her uncomfortable internal dialogue began:

But it was that whole second-guessing piece of it all. Did I do something wrong? Should I have caught something earlier? And I did talk to my mentor teacher about it and she told me that you get them for so many hours a day. And you just do the absolute best that you can. I just felt awful that I should have figured this out. Did I miss a sign or an opportunity to help them? It was so scary and awful. And I don't know if being a mother has something to do with it too. Once you're a mother, you see the answers in a lot of these kid's eyes, and you know that these thoughts are in their heads at such a young age. It was just heartbreaking.

This topic is one that all teachers hope that students do not have to face. I followed up this discussion by asking if Ms. Teal had received any training specifically about how to respond if a child brings up suicide or bullying at school. She had never received any training about student suicide, but bullying was addressed. "From what I've seen for kids, it's petty little things that get blown out of proportion."

Another topic that teachers never want to face was something that Ms. Magenta explained in her online journal:

One of the worst days was the day I found out one of my students (a 4-year-old) had been sexually abused. This student had an unstable home environment and many behavior issues. Finding this out just reminded me of the ugliness of humanity and how try as we might, we cannot always protect our kids.

For half the study participants, parent-to-teacher interactions seem to be part of the worst experiences. For Mr. Jade, this happened when he called a meeting with the parents of a child

who had behavioral problems to review the documentation to get some additional assistance: "When I tried to get the family involved, the parents cursed at me and told me to mind my own [expletive] business." Ms. Amber had a similar encounter; the parents blamed her for all the problems the student was dealing with. When she was meeting with the parents of one the students to discuss their learning disabilities and the behavioral problems the student was dealing with, the parents were not happy: "They basically said I wasn't capable of helping their child. It was mean and hurtful." Ms. Magenta was open and honest with one of her student's parents explaining her desire to advocate for her students. The parent made numerous excuses why the child would misbehave and act out in the classroom. During a face-to-face classroom meeting the parents tried to blame the problems the student was having on Ms. Magenta being a novice teacher. The parent "even tried to use it against me, saying that I had college level unrealistic expectations for her 4-year-old child."

For several participants the way the new teacher induction program helped them the most was by encouraging them to develop relationships with other teachers. Mr. Green expressed that "the relationships I built, the questions I could ask, and seeing what other people did was helpful for me." Mr. Jade agreed that what helped him the most was "the connections that I made with my induction coach, mentors, and other first-year teachers." There were several participants who did not feel they were helped specifically by the induction program; Ms. Amber, for example, stated: "Most of the advice that I ended up using in the classroom came from the advice I received from my Facebook group." In addition, the teachers who were brought into the school district in the middle of the year and never participated in the formal training did not feel as though they received any benefits from the induction program.

Not all teachers believed that their induction year involved a great deal of struggles. Ms. Purple was extremely positive about her first year as a teacher. When I asked about her induction experiences, she discussed all the pleasant experiences she could remember:

It was very informative for a first year teacher. I'm pre-k so we went through our own program itself. And they showed us how the curriculum works. And so they taught us how to use the pre-k guidelines and then the curriculum that pre-k itself uses. And they did modeling and hands on activities to help us teach 4 year old's.

Ms. Purple felt very strongly that the training team did an excellent job modeling and demonstrating what she needed to help teach her students.

During the research for this study, I found many cases where teachers expressed the need for a guide or mentor to help them maneuver through the obstacles that arise in the first year. One participant had a great deal of success and three mentors to help him achieve it. Mr. Red's school mentor, district mentor, and certifying organization mentor all worked to ensure that he had all the tools he needed to be successful:

My school placed me under a mentor who was a teacher with the most experience. His classroom was stationed across from mine so I got to see him on the daily. When I had my planning periods, I would go over and sit in his classroom and watch him teach and observe his teaching habits rolled over and so on. Then they enrolled me in a district mentor program where they had me shadowed by someone from the district who understood teaching principles. He would watch me teach and then he would talk to me through my email about things that went right and what went wrong and then we would have face-to-face meetings. I did alternative certification and they sent a mentor once

every month and that person would come in watch me teach. We would have phone calls and emails back and forth talking about it.

He felt very comfortable stepping into his role as teacher with all of his mentors there to offer assistance when and if he needed it. Ms. Black was not a part of the initial training but also felt that her formal mentor and fellow teachers made her time in the induction program work. She explained:

I mean, they were always positive, all the ones I've had were always positive and my mentor was actually the one who did my Texas teacher's test and I scored perfect. So I think that for me it was just the fact that she was giving me advice, and then when I followed it, it actually came to fruition, that I didn't have any negative feedback at all. While Ms. Black may not have always agreed with the decisions of the administration at her

school, she did believe she was given all the support she needed to be successful.

Some teachers become very worried in the first few months in the classroom about missteps and the impact they could make on a new career. Such was the case for Ms. Amber: Everything seemed so difficult. I remember always feeling like I didn't know what I was doing. Every day came with new surprises and they were big and you needed to deal with them right then and there. I didn't know what to do and I'd try to find someone to help with it but it didn't always happen. I did have many days where I dreaded coming into work. I was trying to imagine what was going to go wrong next. It seemed like it was one thing after another.

In the beginning she was extremely unsure and worried she was going to fail her class; however, the students were her motivating reason to get past her first year.

Ms. Teal also described her first impressions as being very nervous. She seemed extremely unsure what her experience was going to be like:

I agree that it can be overwhelming but I have had a very different experience here. The leadership team up here has been amazing. They're just Beautiful. Last year they were very understanding. "This is your first year, and this is kind of what we're looking at, and we're going to help you along the way. There was never any kind of punitive, well why did you do this and why didn't you do that. It was never there so I can understand why someone would say that but I've just had a very different experience. I think if teachers stay or leave it is all about how they were supported by the leadership. It should always be looked at through the lens of leadership.

The team at Ms. Teal's school made a positive impact during a stressful time. The stress level for the first-year teacher was also a big topic during the focus group.

Not all induction programs are designed the same, and the needs of new teachers will tend to vary. Several participants in this study were very unhappy with what was presented for PD at the induction training and throughout the year. When I asked Ms. Magenta what part of the induction program she enjoyed the most she replied, "Honestly, I can't think of a thing." She was not a fan of the new teacher training the district put together:

The district induction plan we had to attend had a lot of professional development that honestly seem to be a waste of time, and a lot of times the training sessions aren't relevant, or they turn a topic that could have been done in maybe an hour or two into a whole day session and it gets really repetitive. At least last year one of the things that were frustrating to me was the messages that kids don't really learn by you lecturing them, right, and you need to give them experiences and to engage them, but we're being talked to and they're not showing us how to do it. They are telling us that it needs to be done and it's important, but not showing us how to do it. They're not giving us an

example which would be a lot more beneficial so that's definitely one of my gripes. She was upset that the message they were giving the teachers at training was delivered the same way they were telling the educators not to teach, because it was not effective. Ms. Magenta was very clear that her formal and informal mentors who taught the same class that she did were the strongest and most effective part of her success during her induction year.

When looking back over the course of a challenging year with many first-time experiences, sometimes a teacher can focus on bad things that happen. When I asked the participants to describe what happened on their best day during the first year, there were many stories shared. While he admitted that it is difficult to teach at the high-school level, Mr. Red felt very proud of his students as they completed their education:

Even though I felt like towards the second semester that a lot of things that I did was lost, just the few amount of kids that showed gratitude whether it was a letter, a card, or a thank you note. It really makes a world of difference. It's gratifying when you realize that some kids actually take advantage of the classroom environment. They're working hard. They appreciate you. That's the biggest takeaway that I had. It's one of those things that keeps me going every day. Knowing that there being those few kids that actually appreciate what I do.

Thirty of his students walked the stage at graduation, and he knew the efforts it took them to get there.

When Mr. Jade received advice from his mentor, he put all the suggestions to work and planned an engaging and interactive day. His mentor was sitting in on his classroom, and things worked out perfectly:

I was doing a lesson on story elements, character, setting, and plot. I had implemented some changes in my classroom that were suggested by the new induction specialist and my administrators. I was also teaching the students how to create a specific foldable when you wanted to display information. The students were very engaged and well behaved for this particular lesson. The new induction specialist talked with the principal about how well I was doing.

Mr. Jade was congratulated for incorporating his mentor's feedback and being open to suggestions. After seeing such a positive outcome and gaining praise from both his mentor and his principal, he was encouraged and excited to see what a difference his training was having on his teaching.

When I asked Ms. Teal to recall what her best experience was during her first year, she relayed this story in her journal:

In my first year, my best day in the classroom was when I was teaching a history lesson on Alexander Graham Bell, and there was a reference to a prior lesson that happened to come up. The students remembered and their hands shot up in the air to tell me about the connection from the prior lesson. It was exciting for both me and the students! I was excited that the prior lesson stuck with them and they saw the connection, and they were excited to recognize and call out the connection. That day stuck with me, and helped me realize that what I am doing truly does make a difference. Their behavior that day was wonderful, and they left my classroom that day happy, cheerful, and I was as well. Many of the first-year teachers did not feel comfortable when they first got into the classroom. Ms. Amber explained, "When you are just put in a class on your own it's scary because you really don't know what's going to happen." Even simple tasks can seem difficult. Mr. Green was not certain he was even taking attendance correctly; he explained in his journal that he would ask himself several times during the first few weeks, "Where am I supposed to be and what am I supposed to be doing?" Several participants also struggled with classroom management issues. Mr. Jade explained it best: "The first problem was classroom management, because no textbook is ever going to prepare you to deal with a classroom full of 6 year old's." Three participants also mentioned needing help with parent teacher conferences. As Ms. Amber explained, "It can be extremely difficult when parents have on blinders and do not want to recognize their child has a learning disability."

The new teachers discussed many problems they faced that they were not expecting. This led to other issues that took Ms. Teal by surprise:

I guess more the feeling of uncertainty. Not really knowing. You're being told you're doing everything right. Like everything looks good. You're doing a good job. But on the other hand, there's still a little bit of doubt. Like, am I? Or are you just telling me that cause it's my first year but really, I'm going to be held to this expectation next year. Kind of, I guess, second guessing yourself would be the right words.

Ms. Amber and Ms. Orange also commented about feeling a lack of confidence during the first few months of teaching.

## **Research Question Responses**

The purpose of this research study was to understand what role social media plays in the new teacher induction experience. The research questions developed from that purpose include a central research question and three sub-questions that all feed into the comprehensive breakdown of the study. These questions will be answered using the data gathered from the participants during online journaling, semi-structured interviews, and focus groups. The collected data have been organized into themes and these themes will substantiate the lived description of each participant's first-year journey during new teacher induction.

**Central research question.** The central research question for this study asked, "What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience?" Social media usage during new teacher induction was important to the participants. Each participant used social media daily for a variety of support reasons. For instance, Ms. Magenta commented:

I would say that I am on social media probably every day. Probably 30 to 60 min. Most of the time it's just like passively scrolling unless I have a specific question like oh, I need an idea for how to do guided reading or how does somebody do their word wall.

Ms. Purple agreed about using social media daily: "I used Pinterest basically every single time I lesson planned and every lesson plan I created had at least one Pinterest idea on it." Mr. Jade used Facebook and explained in his journal, "I am also friends with teachers and we speak to each other or interact with each other posts daily." Another participant, Ms. Amber, explained in her journal why she used social media each day:

I went to the different social media sites to find help with lesson plans and classroom management. We are also evaluated on getting all your lessons completed on time and it is so hard to get everything done. I really needed to figure out how to get the kids who were so behind in reading to get caught up and it seemed impossible.

The teachers explained their different needs and what they used social media for the most, but each participant had a unique perspective. Mr. Green explained that while he may not have liked each aspect of social media, he still used them. "I'm actually not a fan of Facebook, but it is ubiquitous, so I like that I can get a hold of pretty much everybody I know on it." He did explain what he enjoyed the most:

YouTube has so many resources ready to show in the classroom. It made my life a lot easier! And now in my second year I'm also teaching Algebra I, and YouTube is such a help in explaining concepts in under four minutes in a way a teacher could never do, due to the editing process applied before publishing the videos.

The participants noted frequently that whatever they needed, they could find on social media.

The three sub-questions listed below were all designed to help address the central research question.

**Sub-question one.** The first sub-question of this study asked, "What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience?" This question was designed to uncover the importance the role of a mentor has on a new teacher's first-year experience.

When viewing the data collected from the 10 participants, it is clear the role of the mentor was important. The communication between the participants and their mentors—whether formal, informal, or virtual—played a significant role especially at the beginning of the first year. The participants had formal mentors who were assigned to them in most cases. The support that Mr. Red received during his daily communication with his mentor was vital. He explained that he felt frustrated at times and more like a babysitter than a teacher, but his mentor stepped in when he was upset: "So he helped me and roped me back in when I felt lost. He was very much more of an emotional support than a teaching reference." The emotional support role

was also met using social media contacts. I asked Mr. Red if it make him feel better looking on social media to see if there were other people struggling in their first year, and he replied:

Yes. Because it didn't make me feel so much like I was alone. Because everyone at my school currently feels like or it looks like they all know exactly what they're doing and how to handle everything. So it was good to get some input from strangers online.For Mr. Red the virtual and formal mentors played a significant role in providing content for use in the classroom as well as emotional support when he felt frustrated, stressed, or isolated.

When formal mentors were not effective and participants needed guidance, they often sought out a virtual mentor or they developed a mentoring association with other teachers at their school. In response to a journal prompt asking about virtual mentors, Mr. Green wrote:

I would reach out to other teachers every day. Most of these teachers were ones at my school, but there were several I had met at trainings or through others means. I found that the district trainings did a good job at preparing me for the paperwork I would be required to submit, but they fared poorly at equipping me for what would happen in the classroom. Each day I would have dozens of questions, and I would reach out to the teachers I knew to help with them. Most of my interactions were digital—an email, a text, a message on Facebook messenger.

Virtual communication was used to help with day-to-day issues. The participants who were not comfortable communicating with their formal mentor needed to find a trusted colleague who would offer constructive criticism and not judge the actions of the new teacher. Mr. Green's mentor was a strong and successful role model who provided positive reinforcement and support. Trust was a key mentor role for Mr. Jade as well, who took a while to warm up to his mentor and

did not trust that she was there to help him. He felt as though she was looking for ways to trip him up:

I still had that mindset of, oh, you're going to come into my classroom once a week and look at me and make sure I'm doing this or that. I'm like, is this just the district's way of checking in on me? But then I realized that the things that I messed up on or the things that I could improve on, she wasn't running back to the district or running to my administrators and saying he's doing this or that. I mean she did talk with them and she did give them almost always positive feedback.

After working together, they developed a strong trusting relationship that he still values today. Mr. Jade was fortunate that his mentor was able to demonstrate and communicate that she was genuinely interested in seeing him succeed. When we talked about what he believed could be done to improve communication between new teachers and formal mentors he explained his thoughts:

Not only match them up based on grade level and things like that, but we give our kids learning style tests to see what their learning style is and how they learn best. We give them the Myers Briggs and all that stuff. So I think we should also pair people up who have similar communication styles. That way . . . because I was very distrusting of my new mentor from the district coming into my classroom. I felt like I was being watched as opposed to being helped at first. But once I learned how she acted and we started having conversations with each other, I had a great relationship with her that grew into a very cohesive bond between two people who were trying to do the best thing for their kids.

The communication between Mr. Jade and his formal mentor, while uncomfortable at first, was an important part of his successful first year.

When I asked Mr. Green about communication with virtual mentors, he explained they started as online communications but became a part of the real world:

I was in several different Facebook groups. Those were real helpful to listen. I just like to listen, watch, and read, but I would post occasionally. But just to see what other people were discussing. The issues they were going through. I would just read them. I would still identify with what they were going through. And then for me what was really, really, really helpful was having text groups of different teachers. And we would just talk about things going on. Some at my school and some throughout the district and to occasionally set up a socializing event that would happen after hours at an undisclosed location for we'll say iced tea. But to be in those kind of communication circles was real helpful.

In addition to her formal mentor, Ms. Teal also developed an informal mentoring relationship with another teacher who taught the same grade that she did:

It was really nice especially in the first year so I felt confident in what I was teaching and I did a ton of talking to the other teachers like, does this sound good, does this sound right and they were like yes. That sounds great.

The informal mentor was comfortable sharing her time and her knowledge, and she took Ms. Teal under her wing and gave her everything she needed to be successful. Ms. Teal's mentors excelled at communicating at school. She also reached out on a daily basis to her virtual contacts through Facebook, Instagram, and teacher blogs. I asked Ms. Teal about the communication and support she received from multiple sources and what kind of a difference this made for her: I wasn't going to let my students down and on top of that, I did have a great group of teachers around me and an amazing administration staff around me who kept me going. Who gave me the support and confidence I needed. Yeah, sure you're doing great. You can do this.

Ms. Magenta had similar help from teachers who taught the same courses, and she also used her virtual contacts like mentors to help find content to use in the classroom and to help with questions. This was extremely important because Ms. Magenta taught dual language pre-kindergarten. Ms. Magenta explained that she worked with two teachers who taught the same classes that she did and each one had a different approach to how they did things based upon their experience:

I could come to them and ask them a question any time and just say that I noticed this kid is having difficulty with this, how would you handle this. Then I would have two opinions from two different people that are both good teachers in their own ways and they would help me navigate it.

In a similar situation, Ms. Black had her AP as her formal mentor. She trusted her AP and the advice she was given, but she felt that she could not go to her for every little thing because she was so busy with daily issues at school; therefore, Ms. Black developed an informal mentoring relationship with another teacher at her school. With the use of a software program at her school, Ms. Black also had access to a Facebook group where teachers could share thoughts and ideas with others teaching the same types of students. This allowed Ms. Black to experience the assistance of virtual mentors. Ms. Orange explained that it was sometimes easier to look for the answers that someone has already provided online: And I would always go to my comfort zone and I felt like social media was comforting because people have already put it out there. You don't have to ask for it. It's already there. So instead of asking one person 20 million questions. I would go to Pinterest or Facebook and realize, Oh, okay they've done this already and it worked out for them. I can try it and if I don't, I can try somebody else's. Then you don't feel like you are bothering someone.

Being able to reach out to someone almost any time of the day was also a plus when it came to communicating with a virtual mentor.

**Sub-question two.** The second sub-question of this study asked, "How do second- or third-year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year?" This sub-question narrows down the scope of the study to concentrate on the social media experiences the participants shared during their first-year in the classroom. This question is also reinforced by social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985). As the online experience has grown to play a significant role in people's lives, it makes sense that Bandura would reexamine social cognitive theory to view the possibility of modeling behavior from an online resource. Bandura (2018) explained that as the Internet and technological advances continue to expand, people will no longer be confined to modeling in a small physical social setting:

A major advantage of social modeling lies in its tremendous reach, speed, and instructive power. Unlike learning by doing, influential models can transmit via mass media new ways of thinking and behaving to people worldwide. People now manage the major share of transactions in their everyday lives through the Internet by drawing on the vast information readily available in the cyberworld. (Bandura, 2018, p. 134) This use of social media interaction to provide new teachers examples of what to do and what to avoid when working in education can open a wider range of experiences and information than ever before.

One common answer that was given by each participant in this study was they used social media every day. When looking at each of the categories of sites they visited and what sorts of things they were looking for, there was also a limitless number of options. Teachers found different sites would provide them a wide range of resources from classroom content on Pinterest, advice for working with difficult students on Facebook, humorous memes on Instagram, situational guidance on teacher blogs, videos to keep students engaged through YouTube, and interactive discussion boards that allowed teachers to vent their frustrations.

Participants were always looking for ideas to bring creativity, interactive learning, and fun to their lesson plans. Ms. Orange was placed in a classroom where she was responsible for dual language classes. She was unsure how they were run or how they were supposed to be taught:

In dual language, I did not know this was a thing, I have to teach reading and writing and math in 2 hours. Then they go and do it all in Spanish. And I was like, hold on, I've never learned this. So I would have loved just to see it. Because as I said, I can do all these things and I can teach you a lesson, but just to see how it would work on a schedule doesn't help me. For you to show me, I would get it. I went online and reached out to another school district and found out how they taught it. I instantly put it into my room and can get through the three lessons in two hours. I can do it and all that was, was just reaching out but I had to reach out. So this year, I've got it now. But last year, it pretty much took the whole year for me to figure it out.

Ms. Amber was also looking for help with her lesson when she went online to a special education chat group:

I was having an evaluation in class and I was very nervous about what to do for the activity. I put out to the chat room and one of the teachers told me what she did. It involved cups of water with food coloring in it and explaining how the color would go from one cup to the other from a paper towel. The directions to do the activity were great and it was perfect. I couldn't wait to go online and post what happened and thank the teacher who helped me. (Amber, Focus Group, 2019)

**Sub-question three.** The third sub-question of this study asked, "When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher?" The first step to viewing the adult learner's perspective is to understand the assumptions that were put forth with the andragogical model developed as part of adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2011). The six assumptions start with an adult learners "need to know why they need to learn something" and their "self-concept of being responsible for their own decisions" (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 63). The third assumption incorporates the lived experiences of each adult and the broad base of knowledge they bring with them. The fourth assumption is based upon the readiness of the adult to learn the information being taught. The fifth assumption is an "orientation to learning" (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 66). This basically is the motivation to learn something that will help solve a problem or task the adult is currently needing to complete. The sixth assumption of andragogy covers motivation. Knowles et al. (2011) explained that adults have external and internal motivations that drive them to learn different things.

When considering these six assumptions, what would a virtual mentor be like for a firstyear teacher? The first task of a virtual role model working with adults "is to help the learners become aware of the need to know" (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 63). The virtual role model must understand how to explain the value of the information that will be shared with the new teacher to ensure he or she will understand how it can help. By selecting a virtual role model and working with him or her as opposed to a formal mentor, the teacher has input regarding whom they are modeling their behavior after. Ms. Amber could see the value in following the advice of a veteran teacher who was teaching special education children similar to hers. The experienced teacher helped her understand how a lesson could be adapted for a specific disability: "To see something work and know I could do just what they said, would be good." This self-direction assists with the second assumption. It allows adult learners to select whatever medium or learning style best suits them. Mr. Jade liked to focus on humor to get himself through difficult situations. He would look for memes that made fun of different things that happened at school:

There'd be memes people were posting and I'd be like, oh, I can identify with that, and so it was professionally helpful, but also almost mental health helpful as well, because you don't feel so alone and you can identify with these funny situations.

The adult learners in this case were all new teachers who had limited amounts of student teaching experience. While some of the participants had more practice time in the classroom, most did not possess a wealth of knowledge about what to do when different situations occurred. Even if the learners' experiences did not play a significant factor for the adult learner in this instance, there was certainly a readiness to learn the skills the participants needed to be successful. They were highly engaged and willing to seek out the knowledge from online sources to find the specific skills they needed for the new positions in which they found

themselves. For Ms. Magenta, it helped to be able to search for specific occurrences and watch a video of a teacher dealing with that type of issue. She visited her Facebook groups, YouTube, and Instagram to see what other teachers were doing, "so you could kind of peek into other people's classrooms." While the things they showed were normally only when things went well, she enjoyed seeing the situations play out.

The fifth assumption for the adult learner was orientation to learning. "Adults are motivated to learn to the extent that they perceive that learning will help them perform tasks or deal with problems that they confront in their life situations" (Knowles et al., 2011, p. 66). Some of the participants felt very unprepared to be in the classroom each day. Mr. Green recounted:

The first day I'm looking at these 30 students. They're looking at me. I had a plan but how on earth are we going to go about this. I just wanted to be successful. And they're just looking at me like, alright, what are we going to do. Trying to survive that first day was really hard. I just felt lost.

When confronted with his difficult first day, Mr. Green was looking for any help that would make him feel more comfortable than he did facing his new students. Many participants used the same terminology when discussing their first time in front of their own classrooms. For instance, Ms. Violet said, "With my first year teaching, I kind of got thrown into the classroom at the half year point." Ms. Black relayed a similar experience: "I just started out with no clue so that's how that went." It was a difficult first experience for most of the participants.

The final assumption of the andragogical model is that adult learners will be open to internal and external motivation. While the incentive of a better teaching position or a higher salary may be the external motivator for some adult learners to apply themselves, Knowles et al. (2011) found that internal inspiration such as trying to be an excellent educator and providing a positive learning experience for one's students was the most compelling inducement. One participant explained why, unlike the teachers before her, she was not going to quit:

I think that wanting to prove to them that I was going to be there to help them was more important than the frustrations that made me want to leave. I knew I couldn't hurt these kids like the last couple of teachers did. They had made no progress and didn't even want to try when I walked in the door. It took a lot of trust building and relationship development to get past the walls they put up to keep from getting hurt again.

There were other participants who spoke of similar experiences, such as Ms. Black: "They're like my kids. I have one that's really difficult but overall it seems like even their parents don't want them at times. And so for me it's like I am their ability to function." Ms. Orange and Ms. Teal also explained that their students felt abandoned when their previous teachers quit; they both stayed to keep from abandoning their students again. After seeing how losing teachers in the past had such a significant impact on their pupils, none of the participants felt they could put the students through that experience again.

At multiple points during the data collection process I asked the participants what they believed they needed to keep first-year teachers motivated and supported. I also asked what they wanted to have in an online support site for new teachers. Their replies included the following: ideas to help the teachers should be free for them to access, it should be an anonymous safe place to make postings, a site that one could easily share links to other online resources, simple to search for content by topic keyword, grade level, or learning objective. Several participants agreed the site should be like an open forum for teachers to share advice, vent, and even offer support as mentors. Ms. Purple had a very encouraging approach:

I would either create a private group page dedicated to encouraging and advising firstyear teachers to provide a place to vent and release the stress and pressure you feel as a first-year teacher. It's always wonderful when you can receive advice or vent with people who are first-year teacher's. It's nice to gain unique and diverse perspectives from every which way. This will truly let educators know that being a teacher is bigger than what you think and in the end can be very rewarding.

Another participant suggested that if this type of a site were created, it should be monitored to reach out to help teachers who were really struggling and needed help. This prompted another teacher in the group to suggest that their school counselors might have a place in the process to offer support with various emotional issues as well.

### Summary

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. This chapter portrayed the findings from the genuine, lived experiences of 10 teachers who survived their first year of teaching and beyond. All the participants were employed by the TISD. The data presented in this chapter were credible and trustworthy because there was a triangulation of collection methodologies (Creswell, 2013). The three data collection methods included online journals completed on Monkkee.com, a semi-structured interview completed by Facetime or Google Duo, and focus group discussions. To accommodate the busy schedules of the educators, all participants took part in one of two separate focus group discussions that were held in a private meeting room at the public library.

Five themes emerged from the data analysis and were explained and supported by documented data from the study participants. The analysis produced five themes which

highlighted how teachers depicted their social media usage during their first year. The second theme covered communication between new teachers and their mentors. The third and fourth themes explained through the teachers' experiences why they believed teachers quit during their first few years and the support they felt new teachers needed to stay in the classroom. The final theme portrayed the lived experiences, from best to worst, of the novice educators as they progressed through their new teacher induction year.

The final part of this chapter examined the research questions that were used to guide this study. The central research question and three sub-questions were all restated and answered using the words and experiences provided by the 10 study participants. Their lived events described in this chapter allow anyone who has not been a first-year teacher to get a glimpse into what the induction year experience was like for these educators. It was extremely important to express their views and opinions based upon their journey.

## **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. This final chapter examines the findings that were presented in the previous chapter. It also explains how the themes relate to the research questions and the empirical and theoretical framework of this study. The theoretical, empirical, and practical implications of this research are also explored in Chapter Five. Delimitations, limitations, and recommendations for future research complete the chapter.

Ten educators who teach for the TISD agreed to participate in this study. They completed a journal using Monkkee.com, took part in a semi-structured, individual interview via Facetime or Google Duo, and participated in a focus group with the other participants. Each participant also reviewed their accumulated information from all three data collection methods and completed member checking. The 10 participants all teach at different schools within the district. The grade levels they teach range from pre-kindergarten to high school.

### **Summary of Findings**

The primary themes that emerged during the research were a breakdown of the participants' descriptions of their usage of social media. Through their journals, interviews, and focus group meetings, the participants described in great detail which sites they frequented the most. They explained the importance of finding excellent ideas and resources they could put into their lesson plans and use for school. The participants enjoyed interacting with the supportive community of educators and knowing the online resource was available any time of day or night. They shared their stories about working with formal, informal, and virtual mentors. The

participants revealed their personal experiences sharing time with teachers from their schools who did not make it past their first year. Several of the participants were replacements or longterm substitutes for teachers who quit just a few months into the school year. This led to the next theme of what support the participants believed new teachers needed to make it past their first year.

The final theme covered the variety of experiences the participants shared from their induction year. The central research question for this study asked, What role does social media play in the new teacher induction experience? This was addressed by the first theme. First-year teachers leaned heavily on social media. Even if they had a formal or an informal mentor, the participants still used information from virtual mentors to help them get through the first year. Participants explained the wide variety of sites they visited. The one thing each participant had in common was they all used social media every day they were in the classroom. Several participants explained that each time they used their phone, they were looking online for something to use in their class or something to help with an issue that came up in class. The three sub-questions listed below all provide more insight into the role social media played for these participants during their new teacher induction experience.

The first sub-question for this study asked, What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience? The second theme that developed during analysis helped to answer this question. The theme examined the communication that occurred between mentors and the participants. This was also broken down into categories by virtual, formal, and informal mentor communication. An interesting development from the data revealed there was more usage of assistance and guidance from virtual advisors fulfilling a mentoring role than from formal mentors. Not all participants

received or utilized the assistance of their formal mentor. Some formal mentors were more effective than others. Several participants disclosed a feeling of distrust of the motives of their formal mentor. Mr. Jade pointed out that, in the same way new teachers need to make an effort to develop a positive and trusting relationship with their students, formal mentors need to make the same effort to develop a positive, trusting relationship with the new teachers they are assigned to help. The data also revealed that informal mentors were utilized half as much as virtual resources. The participants leaned on all of their mentor resources significantly more during the first year than their second year.

The second sub-question for this study asked, How do second- or third-year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year? The participants explained in great detail the many sites they visited during their first year in the classroom. There were many stories shared about discussion groups with other teachers on Facebook. These provided a base of support from asking questions dealing with situations in the classroom and teaching questions in general. There were many stories that the participants read to see if other teachers were encountering the same types of problems they were. Ms. Orange explained that if other teachers were miserable about the same thing she was, then it felt like she was not dealing with it alone. Not feeling alone in the struggle was important to the majority of participants.

Some of the participants enjoyed sharing their experiences in different chat rooms or blogs and others were just lurkers who felt more comfortable taking in what others had written. Ms. Purple explained that since she was a first-year teacher, she really did not want to put out on a site what she was doing because she did not believe she had enough experience. Mr. Red revealed that what made him feel comfortable with posting on the teacher forums was being able to remain anonymous. If he had to put his name out online, he would feel self-conscious asking what some people might call a stupid question: "I was able to ask questions and read about similar problems that I was having, especially as a new teacher, without feeling that I would be judged for asking simple questions." Other participants agreed that remaining anonymous was an important factor when it came to sharing their experiences. There can be consequences in the real world based upon what gets put online. There were two participants who shared specific stories in their online journaling where information shared in a private online forum was divulged to upper level administration causing people to lose their jobs. Both agreed that everyone needed to be cautious when they post anything online.

The second main focus of the teacher's online usage was seeking out interactive educational tools to use to help their students learn. Pinterest was a common resource that most participants used. Ms. Purple called herself a "Pinterestaholic," and Ms. Violet called herself the resource queen. Several teachers also explained that any time they picked up their phones, they were checking for resources for the classroom or lesson plans. No matter where the search took the teacher, from Reddit, Google, Pinterest, Instagram, LinkedIn, Snapchat, Twitter, YouTube, Teachers-Pay-Teachers, educator blogs, teacher text chains, or to Facebook, participants wanted to ensure their students had a positive learning experience. For Mr. Green, teaching high school students meant keeping the presentation as interactive as possible. He could use a search filter to find a video on YouTube that would be under four minutes, which ensured that the content got right to the point and the students did not lose interest.

The final sub-question for this study asked, When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher? Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) was used to examine how teachers should understand the importance of the educational information provided to them.

This will motivate them to engage themselves in what is presented, and they will be motivated, oriented, and ready so the materials can be communicated in a way that enables teachers to grasp and understand the material. The first few months in the classroom were an extremely stressful times for all participants. As adult learners themselves, they understood how important it was to learn as much as possible and be ready for any situation as quickly as possible.

When the participants discussed during the focus groups what type of assistance new teachers would get the most benefit from, the majority of the teachers explained that they would have felt more comfortable with a mentor or guide in the classroom at the beginning of the year. While the formal mentor support was very helpful, it was not always present for each participant. There were trust issues for other participants. Sometimes one mentor was shared among several people; in other cases, participants only saw their mentors once or twice a month. This left new teachers feeling vulnerable and stressed during the first few months. Mr. Jade talked to his official mentor every couple of weeks, but his online network of teachers were there for him every day: "We would speak to each other or interact with posts daily." Half the participants explained they reached out to online resources through chats, texts, and Facebook group postings multiple times a day.

The question of what resources and assistance new teachers needed was posed to the participants in various ways through each of the data-gathering techniques. Mr. Green suggested that the first induction training session "needed to be a much more comfortable, welcoming, inclusive, we're on your team kind of a feeling for the training than there was." When I asked the participants what they thought about the teacher groups they worked with online, inclusion and nonjudgmental environments were what they enjoyed the most. They mentioned feeling like the virtual environment was a safe space where they could share their ideas, concerns, doubts,

and fears without being berated, pounced on, or made to feel foolish. Another key element that was mentioned was a place to laugh and joke about things people did and said but not in a mean-spirited way. One participant called it like therapy. The focus group participants agreed with the importance of connecting with others in similar situations.

## Discussion

This discussion section is designed to examine the findings of this study and how they correlate to the empirical and theoretical literature that was part of the information reviewed in Chapter Two. When examining the extensive literature available on the topic of new teacher induction, teacher attrition, and social media usage, I was unable to find anything that explored social media usage during new teacher induction. With this in mind, this current research study may help to fill the gap in the literature regarding social media use during new teacher induction. I believe that there must be more assistance provided to the teacher specifically in the first few months in the classroom. The participants in this study expressed fear, stress, exhaustion, and feeling like they were alone on an island. If a virtual online component can be added to an induction program, providing access to advice, resources, and a place to anonymously share stories, successes, and challenges, this could help new teachers feel more like they are part of a caring community.

# **Empirical Discussions**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. That meant examining the issues that first-year teachers encountered. There were numerous research studies that explored the elevated attrition rates for novice educators (Altayli & Dagli, 2018; Arnup & Bowles, 2016; Farrell, 2016; Geiger

& Pivovarova, 2018; Glazer, 2018; Hagaman & Casey, 2018; Harju & Niemi, 2018; Horvath et al., 2018; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Kensington-Miller, 2017; Lanas, 2017; Torenbeek & Peters, 2017; Weldon, 2018). However, none of the research I examined used social media as part of an induction program for first-year teachers. While this study targeted teachers who were beyond their first year in the classroom, these 10 participants were all still teaching. They were also able to discuss the teachers who came before them who did not make it past their first year. Half of the participants were brought in to replace teachers who quit before they completed their first year.

Social media was a topic that was explored from multiple perspectives in recent literature. There was a great deal of research that covered working with students in primary schools, college level education, and targeting future teachers while they were student teaching in school (Albert, 2015; Arshad & Akram, 2018; Dumpit & Fernandez, 2017; Hartung & Harvey, 2015; Karim & Gide, 2017; Marin Diaz et al., 2014; O'Brien & Freund, 2018; Peruta & Shields, 2017; Sutherland & Ho, 2017). The newest research covered communities of practice (Damjanovic & Blank, 2018; Holland, 2018; Kensington-Miller, 2017; Pellegrino et al., 2018; Rosell-Aguilar, 2018), but they did not target first-year teachers during an induction training program. Several of the participants in this study attended the new teacher orientation training and were told about a Facebook page that had already been established as a resource for the TISD. This was for the use of all teachers and not targeted for first-year teachers, although this resource could be adapted for new teachers to use. They could be given access to this as a group during the first induction meeting. This could possibly be used to help bring the group of new educators together to develop that sense of community that was discussed numerous times in interviews and focus groups during this study.

The development of induction programs has been an important research topic in recent years given the dismal numbers of teacher retention (Alhamad, 2018; Baker-Gardner, 2016; Bastian & Marks, 2017; Bressman et al., 2018; Correll, 2017; Dishena & Mokoena, 2016; Flores, 2017; Kozikoğlu, 2018; Lafferty, 2018; Ronfeldt & McQueen, 2017; Saglam & Alan, 2018). While induction programs are not mandatory, many school districts have been using them to help retain new teachers. Since there have been no standards created for what makes a quality induction program, what is being used may not provide enough support for a first-year teacher. The participants in this study had very different induction experiences—from Ms. Purple's very positive induction experiences to Ms. Orange, who struggled with ethical problems from her administrator as well as her discouraging assigned mentor. There seem to be many factors to the induction experience that affect the outcomes for each of the educators. This research may help to demonstrate that no matter how good an induction program may be, the results do not always align with the goals.

A key component of many induction programs has been assigning of a mentor. Mentors working with new teachers have shown success during previous studies (Bressman et al., 2018; Gilles et al., 2018; Heikkinen et al., 2018; Hobson, 2016; Holland, 2018; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). While the majority of the participants had mentors assigned to them during their induction period, the mentors were not all effective. Some research explains the importance of training the mentors to properly handle a variety of situations (Stanulis & Ames, 2009; Williams & Kim, 2011; Zembytska, 2016). Several of the teachers had formal mentors who were excellent role models for their assigned teachers, such as the mentors for Ms. Teal and Mr. Red. Ms. Amber and Ms. Black communicated with their mentors, but it was more of a weekly or biweekly discussion. The relationships that developed with the social media community were accessed daily. There was almost always a resource available online, and that meant the participants did not have to "bother" their formal mentors. The virtual mentor relationships that developed for the participants highlight a new area of research that has not been studied in the past.

# **Theoretical Discussions**

The theoretical framework for this study was created using adult learning theory developed by Knowles (1990) and social cognitive theory developed by Bandura (1985). Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) was the most appropriate theory to explain why adults focus on learning what is important to them. Of the six assumptions that help make up the theory, understanding why learning is necessary and being motivated to learn something new are valuable keys to adult learning. Knowles (1990) theorized that when adults are intrinsically motivated, and they see the personal value of the information they are learning, they will be more motivated to absorb and retain the knowledge. The participants in this study were all motivated to succeed as educators. They were also motivated by the caring feelings they developed for their students. They reached out to multiple social media sites and virtual resources every day. While some teachers enter the classroom and find it too overwhelming and quit, this group of educators found a way to stay and be successful.

Another aspect of the adult learning theory explained that there will be a shift in learning as teachers become more self-confident and become more comfortable in their new environment. Adult students start their coursework leaning heavily on their instructor (Arghode et al., 2017). The participants in this study wanted much more guidance in the beginning of their time in the classroom. Several even discussed during the focus group that they would have liked to have had a teacher with them for the first couple of weeks. The little questions seemed to mount up and made the teachers feel as though they were always asking for help. Several felt as though their many questions were a bother to the teachers with whom they were working. Ms. Orange explained that she would rather look for the answer online, knowing that someone had answered this same question before: "If it's already there online, why should I bother someone asking them the question again?"

The prior research also explained that as adult students become comfortable and see learning improvement, they develop a more independent approach to learning (Arghode et al., 2017). During focus group discussions with the participants, several of them explained they were now in a position where they were looking out for the new teachers who has started this year. Mr. Green described how he would pop in during a class to let the teacher know he was right across the hall if the teacher needed anything; he mostly wanted the students in the class to know they could not get away with anything. After experiencing a difficult first year, the participants wanted to help the next group by sharing some of the help they had received.

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) was the second theory used as part of the theoretical framework. This theory highlighted how individuals will learn best when they watch how others do things. After viewing the actions and outcomes of successfully modeled behavior, people will try to model the same behavior. The first teaching assignment for Ms. Teal was when she was brought in mid-year to replace a teacher who quit. Since she was not able to get any type of induction training, her administrator brought her to another school for part of a day to observe how a very successful educator taught. She was able to sit in the back of the room and observe for half a day: "I took away so many things that ended up being wildly successful in my room. I know it was only a half-day but it made so much difference and lasted the entire year."

the same thing before they started. When I asked what the participants believed should be included in a new teacher induction program, the group agreed that sitting in on a class taught by a successful teacher should be part of any program. Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) explained that a role model or mentor can help educate others by demonstrating proper behavior, techniques, and positive examples. Since social cognitive theory was first conceived (Bandura, 1985), there have been many changes to daily life. The major shift includes the significant impact the Internet and social media have brought into nearly every facet of modern life. With these changes came an update to the idea that modeled behavior could be done virtually. In 2006, Bandura discovered that television was playing a role in modeling behavior where before it was assumed that an influence in behavior would have required an in-person presence. The next update came in 2018 with Bandura's acknowledgment that virtual resources were also capable of guiding, motivating, and impacting behavior:

Revolutionary advances in communication technologies vastly expands the opportunity to exercise both individual and collective agency. People nowadays spend most of their waking hours in the symbolic environment of the cyberworld. This enables them to transcend the confines of their physical and social environment. A major advantage of social modeling lies in its tremendous reach, speed, and instructive power. (Bandura, 2018, p. 134)

This update to Bandura's theory demonstrated there is an advantage to virtual access to information, advice, and behavior modeling.

The participants in this study all used social media during their first year in the classroom. They relied on the various postings, advice, and interactions for many things. For some participants, it was a vital resource for what to do and how to do it. They found ideas for

lesson plans and hands-on activities for their students that could help make a connection to retain the information. For other participants, this was a place to decompress by sharing laughter. Some participants wanted to know that others were dealing with the same challenges as well. The camaraderie helped them feel like they were all working together to get through the journey. They were able to use these interactions to model the behavior of virtual educators. Strong, accomplished, positive, and successful teachers became vital resources in a demanding time. The resources were always available and were used by the participants daily.

While prior research has explored the role of mentors during induction, the mentors were always located in the school or in the school district. This research adds a new aspect to the mentoring role, one that can be utilized by programs already in process as well as a possible option for a school district that does not have local mentors available. This research allows social media, which has been examined from many aspects in education but not as an option for mentoring of new teachers, to grow into a useful tool for new teachers. This may also support the educators as they struggle with high attrition through the first five years in the classroom.

### Implications

This section elaborates on the implications from the findings of the research. The theoretical implications will examine what the findings of the study may be for the two theories used as the foundation for this research. The empirical implications will assess the observed behaviors of the participants and how the findings may relate to other research. The practical implications of this study may play a role in how new teachers are supported beyond this school district.

# Theoretical

Adult learning theory (Knowles, 1990) was a primary way to explain why the participants in this study made learning what they needed to know to be successful in the classroom their priority. The teachers were motivated not only to be good educators but also by the students they taught. Several participants referred to the students as if they were their children and felt a great sense of responsibility to provide them with the best possible educational experience. This was apparent when they discussed in the focus groups how lost the students felt when they had multiple teachers quit after only a few months. The participants felt the distrust and hopelessness of their pupils and believed it was their obligation to fix what was wrong.

The second theory that provided the framework for this research was social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985). This theory explored how people can view the behavior of others around them and model that behavior. This provides a solid base of learning that is strongly reinforced when the learner observes the results of the actions that were performed. In this research, the participants were very specific in their group discussions when they expressed the need to view how a great teacher taught during an average day in the classroom. Only Ms. Teal had the opportunity to do this prior to entering her own classroom, and she believed that the halfday she spent observing from a teacher's table in the back of the room was "huge" and helped set her up for success for the whole year.

Another aspect to social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1985) is that it has been expanded to keep pace with increased technological capabilities. Bandura (2018) updated his theory in 2006 to include modeling behavior to others using television instead of being in the presence of the person doing whatever action was being demonstrated. Television had advanced in technology and was an ever-present source of information. The next update to the theory occurred 12 years

later when Bandura (2018) explained that the ubiquitous virtual role model is the new normal: "With the meteoric growth of social media, people promulgate their views and ideas unbridled by gatekeepers to large audiences in efforts to rally support for their social and political causes" (p. 134). This social media access has allowed virtual role models to emerge on multiple digital platforms from blogs, texts chains, Facebook educator groups, YouTube videos, and Reddit educator groups. These groups can be local, state-wide, cross-country, or international. The access to ideas and advice is more diverse than ever before. As the update to social cognitive theory applies to the modernized, ever changing world, it is the responsibility of educators and administrators to remain committed to improving education for students and for teachers.

# Empirical

The empirical implications of this study have the potential to be a much needed boost for future teachers who have not completed their education. In prior research, social media usage was explored for students at every level of education, from elementary school to college level. There were social media studies that examined how much Twitter and Facebook access principals should have, and the best way for university level professors to interact with their students online. There were social media studies regarding access to homework and taking classes online, but nothing covered new teacher induction support.

The empirical implications of this study should shine a light on the level of support new teachers feel they need from their mentors. The participants were clear that they wanted more assistance in the first few months; they also noted how important it was for them to see modeled behavior. If a half-day teacher observation before going into a classroom environment can make a significant difference in a new teacher's attitude and self-confidence, it seems like a simple concession to make before the next group of educators start teaching. In her journal, Ms. Teal

explained how the online community of educators has stepped up and helped these participants in a variety of ways:

As a new teacher, I like feeling the support that these sites gave me from experienced teachers. Veteran teachers posted what did and didn't work well for them on their blogs which helped me anticipate and overcome challenges in my classroom as well as provided new ideas to continue to grow and challenge my students. Pinterest offered ideas and suggestions on how to teach a particular concept in my room.

For some of the participants who felt more comfortable in their second or third year in the classroom, they are now contributing more to the online community and helping to mentor some of the new teachers around them. They are happy to find ways to give back some of the help they received when they started.

The participants discussed all the resources they had access to as well as some of their favorites. One of the questions from the online journal site asked, If you could create an online group where first-year teachers could reach out for help, advice, and a safe place to vent frustration, what would it look like? The participants had a variety of answers in their journals. One participant felt it should look like a Facebook site where teachers can get ideas for different problems but also get out when they are having issues to see if someone has been through it and can give some examples of how they handled it. While several of them believed a format similar to a private Facebook group was a good idea, seven participants believed the most important aspect of the site would be anonymity for the users. Ms. Violet wrote that no one needs to be judged for what they are already struggling with, and teachers need to be lifted up and not beaten up. The participants wanted to find a safe place to ask questions, share advice, blow off steam, and connect with others who had walked a mile in their shoes.

# Practical

This research allows administration, teachers, and members of the community outside of education to get an idea of what the first year in the classroom is like for this group of participants. The literature presented in Chapter Two demonstrates the high attrition and difficulties teachers experience during their first few years in education (Carmel & Badash, 2018; Dunn & Downey, 2018; Gallant & Riley, 2017). The focus group discussions that occurred with the participants not only reinforced the numbers of teachers who have left the field of education but also allowed the reader to understand the effect this has on the students they leave behind.

The literature in Chapter Two demonstrated the wide variety of social media research that has been performed (Bharucha, 2018; Chawinga, 2017; Choi et al., 2018; Cooke, 2017). The gap in the literature for using social media as a part of a new teacher induction program exists. As technology changes, updates, and creates new opportunities, it has also updated older theories including social cognitive theory (Bandura, 2018), which now acknowledges that role models can be accessed through one of the many cyber platforms. Providing new teachers a virtual tool with remarkably vast resources may be one of the best hopes for the future of education.

## **Delimitations and Limitations**

The delimitations for the study included only allowing participants into the research who used social media during their first year as a teacher. Participants were selected for this study if they responded to question number two on the demographic survey asking them if they used social media during their first year. The potential pool of teachers whose names and email addresses were supplied to me by the TISD was based upon each teacher's start date with the district. All educators on this list were sent emails requesting participants for a study. If teachers were beyond their second year in the classroom, they were excluded from the study. These parameters were established with the IRB prior to requesting any participants. Without widening the pool of possible participants, there would not have been enough potential teachers willing to complete the study. Therefore, the IRB was contacted again and asked to change the participant pool to add third-year teachers. One additional teacher was selected to participate who had four years at the TISD, but there would not have been 10 participants if this educator was not included.

The main limitation for this study included that all participants were selected from one school district, in a specific state, and in one part of the country. It educators from across the country had been used, the results would be more transferable to a wider pool of educators. Another potential limitation of the study was the number of participants. With a larger number of teachers, there would have been a broader range of demographics. The decision to work with the specific school district that was selected was because of its size, location, and geographical access. A broader population pool of candidates would have the potential to yield different results.

### **Recommendations for Future Research**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. There is a gap in the literature that should include adding a social media component to new teacher induction programs. The participants in this study were from one very large school district in one state. Additional research should be done that would include school districts across the country to examine whether these districts would find similar or different results.

In addition to replication of this study on a larger geographic scale, supplementary studies should be conducted to determine what variety and combination of virtual resources might create the most positive social media learning environment for new teachers. As this future research is documented and published, recommendations may be explored that can have positive impacts on teacher retention and student outcomes. In an ideal world, new educators would not have to start in the middle of the school year as replacement teachers, but if they did, a quality induction program should ensure the new teacher does not miss the valuable induction training and an effective mentor.

The final recommendation for future research comes from the dedicated group of educators who made this study possible. Ms. Magenta proposed that an assessment of some kind be given to both mentors and new teachers to put people together who will work well as a team. She also suggested that if the mentors are working with a group of teachers, they are grouped by the grade level or classes they teach so the groups could work together as a support system for one another. As Mr. Jade pointed out, since the students are given learning style evaluations, it makes sense that mentors and mentees with similar learning styles would work better together.

### Summary

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the perceptions and experiences of teachers who have used social media to facilitate their first year of teaching during new teacher induction. While there has been an abundance of research into using social media in education, new teacher induction programs using social media have never been the focus of research. This study examined whether social media could be used to provide mentoring to first-year teachers to help support them and keep them in the classroom. Ten

teachers from the TISD agreed to participate in this research. They provided thick, rich descriptions of some of the many experiences that made up their first year as teachers.

The theoretical implications confirmed that the updates made to social cognitive theory (Bandura, 2018) were necessary steps to keep pace with the societal changes that have been brought about by ubiquitous social media usage. The participants used examples from virtual advisors every day. The empirical implications confirmed this support brought great comfort and a sense of community to those sharing and reading ideas and information within the social groups. The practical implications offered a positive potential for the future of new teacher training and education that may help reduce the attrition rates for the field of education. As new resources and tools develop, it is the responsibility of educators to properly utilize them to benefit students of teaching and teachers of students.

## REFERENCES

- Abad, J. V., & Pineda, L. K. (2018). Research training in language teacher education:
  Reflections from a mentee and her mentor. *Íkala, Revista De Lenguaje y Cultura, 23*(1), 85–98. doi:10.17533/udea.ikala.v23n01a07
- Abe, P., & Jordan, N. A. (2013). Integrating social media into the classroom curriculum. *About Campus*, *18*(1), 16–20. doi:10.1002/abc.21107
- Abela, J. (2009). Adult learning theories and medical education: A review. *Malta Medical Journal*, *21*(1), 11–18.
- Ahsan, T., & Sharma, U. (2018). Pre-service teachers' attitudes towards inclusion of students with high support needs in regular classrooms in Bangladesh. *British Journal of Special Education*, 45(1), 81–97. doi:10.1111/1467-8578.12211
- Akinla, O., Hagan, P., & Atiomo, W. (2018). A systematic review of the literature describing the outcomes of near-peer mentoring programs for first year medical students. *BMC Medical Education*, 18(1), 98. doi:10.1186/s12909-018-1195-1
- Albert, D. J. (2015). Social media in music education. *Music Educators Journal*, 102(2), 31–38. doi:10.1177/0027432115606976
- Alhamad, R. (2018). Challenges and induction needs of novice English as a foreign language teachers in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 6(1), 50–63.
- Altayli, Y., & Dagli, G. (2018). Evaluating perspectives of novice primary school teachers concerning experienced peer mentoring and administrative support. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(S1), 367–388. doi:10.1007/s11135-017-0618-0

- Ambrosetti, A. (2014). Are you ready to be a mentor? Preparing teachers for mentoring preservice teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online)*, *39*(6), 30–42. doi:10.14221/ajte.2014v39n6.2
- Anhorn, R. (2008). The profession that eats its young. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 74(3), 15–26.
- Anthony, G., Haigh, M., & Kane, R. (2011). The power of the 'object' to influence teacher induction outcomes. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 27(5), 861–870.
  doi:10.1016/j.tate.2011.01.010
- Arghode, V., Brieger, E. W., & McLean, G. N. (2017). Adult learning theories: Implications for online instruction. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41(7), 593–609. doi:10.1108/EJTD-02-2017-0014
- Arnup, J., & Bowles, T. (2016). Should I stay or should I go? Resilience as a protective factor for teachers' intention to leave the teaching profession. *Australian Journal of Education*, 60(3), 229–244. doi:10.1177/0004944116667620
- Arshad, M., & Akram, M. S. (2018). Social media adoption by the academic community: theoretical insights and empirical evidence from developing countries. *International Review Of Research In Open & Distance Learning*, 19(3), 243–261.
- Baker-Gardner, R. (2016). The role of the principal in new teacher induction: A Jamaican perspective. International Studies In Educational Administration (Commonwealth Council For Educational Administration & Management), 43(3), 43–61.
- Bandura, A. (1985). Social foundations of thought & action: A social cognitive theory.Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Pearson.

Bandura, A. (2018). Toward a psychology of human agency: Pathways and reflections. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *13*(2), 130–136. doi:10.1177/1745691617699280

- Barrera, A., Braley, R. T., & Slate, J. R. (2010). Beginning teacher success: An investigation into the feedback from mentors of formal mentoring programs. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 18(1), 61–74. doi:10.1080/13611260903448383
- Bastian, K. C., & Marks, J. T. (2017). Connecting teacher preparation to teacher induction:
  Outcomes for beginning teachers in a university-based support program in low-performing schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(2), 360–394.
  doi:10.3102/0002831217690517
- Beard, C. B. (2017). Connecting spiritual formation and adult learning theory: An examination of common principles. *Christian Education Journal*, *14*(2), 247–269.
- Beek, G. J., Zuiker, I., & Zwart, R. C. (2019). Exploring mentors' roles and feedback strategies to analyze the quality of mentoring dialogues. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 78, 15–27. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.10.006
- Bergviken Rensfeldt, A., Hillman, T., & Selwyn, N. (2018). Teachers 'liking' their work? exploring the realities of teacher Facebook groups. *British Educational Research Journal*, 44(2), 230–250. doi:10.1002/berj.3325
- Beutel, D., Crosswell, L., Willis, J., Spooner-Lane, R., Curtis, E., & Churchward, P. (2017).
  Preparing teachers to mentor beginning teachers: An Australian case study. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 6(3), 164–177.
- Bharucha, J. (2018). Exploring education-related use of social media: Business students perspectives in a changing India. *Education & Training*, 60(2), 198–212. doi:10.1108/ET-07-2017-0105

- Blake, A. L. (2017). How do we manage? Classroom management strategies for novice teachers in high-poverty urban schools. *National Teacher Education Journal*, *10*(2), 13–19.
- Blatch-Jones, A. J., Pek, W., Kirkpatrick, E., & Ashton-Key, M. (2018). Role of feasibility and pilot studies in randomised controlled trials: A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(9), e022233. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022233
- Blevins, B., Moore, B., & Torti, C.D. (2017). Challenging thoughts, changing minds: Preservice teachers' reflections on their experience working in an alternative school setting. *Teacher Educator*, 52(4), 326–345.
- Borba, M. C., Chiari, A. S. de S., & de Almeida, H. R. F. L. (2018). Interactions in virtual learning environments: New roles for digital technology. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 98(3), 269–286.
- Bozkurt, G. (2017). Social constructivism: Does it succeed in reconciling individual cognition with social teaching and learning practices in mathematics? *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(3), 210–218.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications
- Bressman, S., Winter, J. S., & Efron, S. E. (2018). Next generation mentoring: Supporting teachers beyond induction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73, 162–170. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.04.003
- Brinia, V., & Psoni, P. (2018). Multi-level mentoring practices in a teacher education program in
  Greece. *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, *10*(3), 256–270.
  doi:10.1108/JARHE-08-2017-0102

- Brownell, M. T., Bishop, A. M., & Sindelar, P. T. (2018). Republication of "NCLB and the demand for highly qualified teachers: Challenges and solutions for rural schools". *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 37(1), 4–11. doi:10.1177/8756870517749604
- Buchanan, J. (2012). Telling tales out of school: Exploring why former teachers are not returning to the classroom. *Australian Journal of Education (ACER Press)*, *56*(2), 205–217.
- Caliandro, A., & Gandini, A. (2017). *Qualitative research in digital environments: A research toolkit*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cancio, E. J., Larsen, R., Mathur, S. R., Estes, M. B., Johns, B., & Chang, M. (2018). Special education teacher stress: Coping strategies. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 41(4), 457–481. doi:10.1353/etc.2018.0025
- Carmel, R., & Badash, M. (2018). Views on attrition and retention among beginning English as a foreign language (EFL) teachers in Israel and implications for teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 70, 142–152. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.014
- Carter, C. S., Solberg, L. B., & Solberg, L. M. (2017). Applying theories of adult learning in developing online programs in gerontology. *Journal of Adult and Continuing Education*, 23(2), 197–205. doi:10.1177/1477971417721718
- Castanheira, P. S. P. (2016). Mentoring for educators' professional learning and development. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 5(4), 334–346. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-10-2015-0030
- Chawinga, W. (2017). Taking social media to a university classroom: Teaching and learning using Twitter and blogs. *International Journal Of Educational Technology In Higher Education*, *14*(1), 1–19. doi:10.1186/s41239-017-0041-6

- Cherubini, L., Kitchen, J., Goldblatt, P., & Smith, D. (2011). Broadening landscapes and affirming professional capacity: A metacognitive approach to teacher induction. *Professional Educator*, *35*(1), 1–15.
- Chizhik, E. W., Chizhik, A. W., Close, C., & Gallego, M. (2018). Developing student teachers' teaching self-efficacy through shared mentoring in learning environments (SMILE). *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 7(1), 35–53.
  doi:10.1108/IJMCE-02-2017-0014
- Cho, V., & Jimerson, J. B. (2017). Managing digital identity on twitter: The case of school administrators. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(5), 884–900. doi:10.1177/1741143216659295
- Choi, M., Cristol, D., & Gimbert, B. (2018). Teachers as digital citizens: The influence of individual backgrounds, Internet use and psychological characteristics on teachers' levels of digital citizenship. *Computers & Education*, *121*, 143–161.
  doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2018.03.005
- Chugh, R., & Ruhi, U. (2018). Social media in higher education: A literature review of Facebook. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(2), 605–616.
- Clutterbuck, D., Kochan, F. K., Lunsford, L. G., Dominguez, N., & Haddock-Millar, J. (2017). *The SAGE handbook of mentoring*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing: Official* Journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses, 25(6), 435–436.
- Connolly, G. J. (2017). Applying social cognitive theory in coaching athletes: The power of positive role models. *Strategies: A Journal for Physical and Sport Educators*, *30*(3), 23–29.

Cooke, S. (2017). Social teaching: Student perspectives on the inclusion of social media in higher education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(1), 255–269.
 doi:10.1007/s10639-015-9444-y

- Correll, J. (2017). Unlocking the secrets of agency: New teacher induction program empowers educator-centered growth. *Learning Professional*, *38*(4), 52–57.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative & quantitative approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cross, S. B., & Thomas, C. (2017). Mitigating first year burnout: How reimagined partnerships could support urban middle level teachers. *Middle Grades Review*, *3*(1).
- Daly, C., & Milton, E. (2017). External mentoring for new teachers: Mentor learning for a change agenda. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 6(3), 178–195.
- Damjanovic, V., & Blank, J. (2018). Building a professional learning community: Teachers' documentation of and reflections on preschoolers' work. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 46(5), 567–575. doi:10.1007/s10643-017-0888-0
- Deeming, P., & Johnson, L. (2009). An application of Bandura's social learning theory: A new approach to deafblind support groups. *Journal of the American Deafness & Rehabilitation Association (JADARA)*, 203–209.
- De León, L., Peña, C., & Whitacre, M. (2010). Fostering student discourse through an online student teacher support group: A phenomenological study. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 37(4), 355–364.
- Den Brok, P., Wubbels, T., & Van Tartwijk, J. (2017). Exploring beginning teachers' attrition in the Netherlands. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(8), 881.

- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). The Sage handbook of qualitative research. (4th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications
- Dishena, R., & Mokoena, S. (2016). Novice teachers' experiences of induction in selected primary schools in Namibia. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, (66), 335–354.
- Domo. (2018, June 18). Data never sleeps. [Web log post] Retrieved July 26, 2018, from https://www.domo.com/blog/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/18\_domo\_data-never-sleeps-6verticals.pdf
- Dumpit, D., & Fernandez, C. (2017). Analysis of the use of social media in higher education institutions (HEIs) using the technology acceptance model. *International Journal Of Educational Technology In Higher Education*, 14(1), 1–16. doi:10.1186/s41239-017-0045-2
- Dunn, A. H., & Downey, C. A. (2018). Betting the house: Teacher investment, identity, and attrition in urban schools. *Education and Urban Society*, *50*(3), 207–229. doi:10.1177/0013124517693283
- Farrell, T. S. (2016). TESOL, a profession that eats its young! The importance of reflective practice in language teacher education. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, 4(3), 97–107.
- Feng, L., Hodges, T. S., Waxman, H. C., & Joshi, R. M. (2019). Discovering the impact of reading coursework and discipline-specific mentorship on first-year teachers' selfefficacy: A latent class analysis. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 69(1), 80–98. doi:10.1007/s11881-018-00167-1
- Flores, C. (2017). Beginning teachers' induction in Chile: The perspective of principals. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 43(5), 520–14. doi:10.1080/02607476.2017.1355032

- Forbes, D. (2017). Professional online presence and learning networks: Educating for ethical use of social media. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 18(7).
- Fransson, G. (2016). Online (web-based) education for mentors of newly qualified teachers. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, *5*(2), 111–126.
- Frerichs, S. W., Fenton, M. S. P., & Wingert, K. (2018). A Model for Out-of-School Educator Professional Learning. *Adult Learning*, 29(3), 115–122.
- Friedman, T. L. (2006). The world is flat: A brief history of the twenty-first century updated and expanded. New York, NY: Farrar Straus and Giroux.
- Galiatsatos, P., Porto-Carreiro, F., Hayashi, J., Zakaria, S., & Christmas, C. (2016). The use of social media to supplement resident medical education the SMART-ME initiative.
   *Medical Education Online*, 21(1), 1–5. doi:10.3402/meo.v21.29332
- Gall, M. C., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2010). *Applying educational research*. (6th ed). Boston,MA: Pearson.
- Gallant, A. & Riley, P. (2014). Early career teacher attrition: New thoughts on an intractable problem. *Teacher development*, *18*(4), 562–580.
- Gallant, A., & Riley, P. (2017). Early career teacher attrition in Australia: Inconvenient truths about new public management. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(8), 896–913.
  doi:10.1080/13540602.2017.1358707
- Gardiner, W., & Weisling, N. (2018). Challenges and complexities of developing mentors' practice: Insights from new mentors. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 7(4), 329–342. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-12-2017-0078

- Gee, K., & Gonsier-Gerdin, J. (2018). The first year as teachers assigned to elementary and middle-school special education classrooms. *Research & Practice For Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 43(2), 94–110. doi:10.1177/1540796918771708
- Geiger, T., & Pivovarova, M. (2018). The effects of working conditions on teacher retention. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(6), 604–625. doi:10.1080/13540602.2018.1457524
- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: Interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204(6), 291– 295. doi:10.1038/bdj.2008.192
- Gilles, C., Wang, Y., Fish, J., & Stegall, J. (2018). "I learned by watching my mentor." Nurturing teacher leadership with an induction program. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 26(4), 455. doi:10.1080/13611267.2018.1530174
- Gist, C. D., Bianco, M., & Lynn, M. (2019). Examining grow your own programs across the teacher development continuum: Mining research on teachers of color and nontraditional educator pipelines. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(1), 13–25. doi:10.1177/0022487118787504
- Gjedia, R., & Gardinier, M. P. (2018). Mentoring and teachers' professional development in Albania. *European Journal of Education*, *53*(1), 102–117.

Glazer, J. (2018). Learning from those who no longer teach: Viewing teacher attrition through a resistance lens. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 74, 62–71.
doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.04.011

Goldrick, L. (2016). Support from the start: A 50-state review of policies on new educator induction and mentoring. Santa Cruz, CA: New Teacher Center.

- Grace, E., & Raghavendra, P. (2018). Cross-age peer E-mentoring to support social media use: A new focus for intervention research. *Communication Disorders Quarterly 40*(3), 167– 175. doi:10.1177/1525740118760216
- Greenberg, J., McKee, A. & Walsh, K. (2013). 2013 Teacher Prep Review: A review of the nation's teacher preparation programs. Washington, DC: National Council on Teacher Quality. Retrieved from

https://www.nctq.org/dmsView/Teacher\_Prep\_Review\_executive\_summary

- Griffith, E. E., & Dasgupta, N. (2018). How the demographic composition of academic science and engineering departments influences workplace culture, faculty experience, and retention risk. *Social Sciences*, 7(5), 71. doi:10.3390/socsci7050071
- Hagaman, J. L., & Casey, K. J. (2018). Teacher attrition in special education: Perspectives from the field. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 41(4), 277–291.
  doi:10.1177/0888406417725797
- Hanson, H. J. & Yoon, S. Y. (2018). *Idaho's educator landscape: How is the state's teacher* workforce responding to its students' needs? Portland, OR: Education Northwest, Regional Educational Laboratory Northwest.
- Harju, V., & Niemi, H. (2018). Teachers' changing work and support needs from the perspectives of school leaders and newly qualified teachers in the Finnish context. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *41*(5), 670–687. doi:10.1080/02619768.2018.1529754
- Hartung, K., & Harvey, T. (2015). Social media as a professional support system for educational leaders: Our google+ hangout journey. *Planning for Higher Education*, *43*(4), 40–47.

- Heikkinen, H. L. T., Wilkinson, J., Aspfors, J., & Bristol, L. (2018). Understanding mentoring of new teachers: Communicative and strategic practices in Australia and Finland. *Teaching* and Teacher Education, 71, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.025
- Heineke, A. J. (2018). The invisible revolving door: The issue of teacher attrition in English language development classrooms in Arizona. *Language Policy*, 17(1), 77–98. doi:10.1007/s10993-016-9428-9
- Hobson, A. J. (2016). Judgementoring and how to avert it: Introducing ONSIDE mentoring for beginning teachers. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 5(2), 87–110. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-03-2016-0024
- Holland, E. (2018). Mentoring communities of practice: What's in it for the mentor?
   *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 7(2), 110–126.
   doi:10.1108/IJMCE-04-2017-0034
- Horvath, M., Goodell, J. E., & Kosteas, V. D. (2018). Decisions to enter and continue in the teaching profession: Evidence from a sample of U.S. secondary STEM teacher candidates. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 71, 57–65. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.12.007
- Howe, E. R. (2006). Exemplary Teacher Induction: An International Review. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *38*(3), 287–297.
- Hudson, P. (2012). How can schools support beginning teachers? A call for timely induction and mentoring for effective teaching. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *37*(7), 71–84.
  Retrieved from http://ro.ecu.edu.au/ajte/vol37/iss7/6
- I-Chun, T. (2012). Understanding social nature of an online community of practice for learning to teach. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, *15*(2), 271–285.

- Ingersoll, R. M., & Smith, T. M. (2003). The wrong solution to the teacher shortage. *Educational Leadership*, 60(8), 30–33.
- Ingersoll, R. M., & Strong, M. (2011). The impact of induction and mentoring programs for beginning teachers: A critical review of the research. *Review of Education Research*, 81(2), 201–233. Retrieved from doi:10.3102/0034654311403323
- Jacobs, J., Boardman, A., Potvin, A., & Wang, C. (2018). Understanding teacher resistance to instructional coaching. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(5), 690–703. doi:10.1080/19415257.2017.1388270
- Jones, C., Ramanau, R., Cross, S., & Healing, G. (2010). Net generation or digital natives: Is there a distinct new generation entering university?. *Computers & Education*, 54(3), 722– 732. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2009.09.022
- Jones, G., Dana, T., Laframenta, J., Adams, T. L., & Arnold, J. D. (2016). STEM TIPS: Supporting the beginning secondary STEM teacher. *TechTrends*, 60(3), 272–288. doi:10.1007/s11528-016-0052-5
- Kahraman, M., & Kuzu, A. (2016). E-mentoring for professional development of pre-service teachers: A case study. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 17(3), 76–89. doi:10.17718/tojde.19973
- Kandemir, M. A., & Akbas-Perkmen, R. (2017). Examining validity of sources of mathematics self-efficacy scale in Turkey. *European Journal of Educational Studies*, *3*(11), 69–88.
- Karim, S., & Gide, E. (2017). Effects of electronic devices and social media in the prospects of Australian higher education, teaching and learning. *Ensayos: Revista De La Facultad De Educacion De Albacete*, 32(2), 47–61.

- Kaur, N., Figueiredo, S., Bouchard, V., Moriello, C., & Mayo, N. (2017). Where have all the pilot studies gone? A follow-up on 30 years of pilot studies in clinical rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *31*(9), 1238–1248. doi:10.1177/0269215517692129
- Kearney, S. (2016). What happens when induction goes wrong: Case studies from the field. *Cogent Education*, *3*(1). doi:10.1080/2331186X.2016.1160525
- Kensington-Miller, B. (2017). Surviving the first year: New academics flourishing in a multidisciplinary community of practice with peer mentoring. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(5), 678–12. doi:10.1080/19415257.2017.1387867
- Knowles, M. S. (1990). *The adult learner: A neglected species* (4th ed.). Houston, TX: Gulf Publishing.
- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F., & Swanson, R. A. (2011). *The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development* (7th ed.). Burlington, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Kozikoğlu, İ. (2018). A metaphorical analysis of novice teachers' perceptions concerning first year in teaching, induction process, school administrators and mentor teacher. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 42(1), 3–44.
- Kupila, P., Ukkonen-Mikkola, T., & Rantala, K. (2017). Interpretations of mentoring during early childhood education mentor training. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education* (*Online*), 42(10), 36–49.
- Kurt, T. (2016). A model to explain teacher leadership: The effects of distributed leadership model, organizational learning and teachers' sense of self-efficacy on teacher leadership. *Egitim Ve Bilim, 41*(183).

- Lafferty, K. E. (2018). The difference explicit preparation makes in cooperating teacher practice. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *45*(3), 73–95.
- Lanas, M. (2017). Giving up the lottery ticket: Finnish beginning teacher turnover as a question of discursive boundaries. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 68, 68–76. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.08.011
- Langdon, F., & Ward, L. (2015). Educative mentoring: A way forward. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 4(4), 240–254.
- Lejonberg, E., Elstad, E., Sandvik, L. V., Solhaug, T., & Christophersen, K. (2018). Mentors of preservice teachers. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 7(3), 261–279. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-12-2017-0076
- Le Maistre, C., & Pare, A. (2010). Whatever it takes: How beginning teachers learn to survive. *Teaching And Teacher Education: An International Journal Of Research And Studies*, 26(3), 559–564. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2009.06.016
- Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Lindeman, E. C. (1926). *The meaning of adult education* (Redistributed edition 1989 ed.). New York, NY: New Republic.
- Lowery, K., Geesa, R., & McConnell, K. (2018). Designing a peer-mentoring program for education doctorate (EdD) students: A literature review. *Higher Learning Research Communications*, 8(1), 30–50. doi:10.18870/hlrc.v8i1.408
- Luft, J. A. (2009). Beginning secondary science teachers in different induction programmes: The first year of teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(17), 2355–2384. doi:10.1080/09500690802369367

- Mac Kenzie, R. J., & Stanzione, L. (2010). Setting limits in the classroom: A complete guide to effective classroom management with a school-wide discipline plan (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Three Rivers Press.
- Mackie, L. (2018). Understandings of mentoring within initial teacher education school placement contexts: A Scottish perspective. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(5), 622–637. doi:10.1080/19415257.2017.1398179
- Manning, C., & Hobson, A. J. (2017). Judgemental and developmental mentoring in further education initial teacher education in England: Mentor and mentee perspectives.
   *Research in Post-Compulsory Education, 22*(4), 574–595.
   doi:10.1080/13596748.2017.1381377
- Mannix-McNamara, P., Fitzpatrick, K., MacCurtain, S., & O'Brien, M. (2018). Workplace bullying and redress procedures: Experiences of teachers in Ireland. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal, 13*(1), 79–97. doi:10.1108/QROM-10-2016-1440
- Mansfield, K. C., & Stacy, J. (2017). Preparing practitioners to conduct educational research and evaluation: What the research says and what our experiences taught us. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 12(3), 302–334.
- Marin Diaz, V., Vazquez Martinez, A. I., & McMullin, K. J. (2014). First steps towards a university social network on personal learning environments. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(3) doi:10.19173/irrodl.v15i3.1679
- Martin, K. L., Buelow, S. M., & Hoffman, J. T. (2015). New teacher induction: Support that impacts beginning middle-level educators. *Middle School Journal*, *47*(1), 4–12.

- Martín-Martín, A., Orduna-Malea, E., Thelwall, M., & Delgado López-Cózar, E. (2018). Google scholar, web of science, and scopus: A systematic comparison of citations in 252 subject categories. *Journal of Informetrics*, 12(4), 1160–1177. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2018.09.002
- Mathews, H. M., Rodgers, W. J., & Youngs, P. (2017). Sense-making for beginning special educators: A systematic mixed studies review. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 23–36. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.007

Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- McCauley, K. D., Hammer, E., & Hinojosa, A. S. (2017). An andragogical approach to teaching leadership. *Management Teaching Review*, 2(4), 312–324.
- McIntyre, J., & Hobson, A. J. (2016). Supporting beginner teacher identity development:
  External mentors and the third space. *Research Papers in Education*, *31*(2), 133–158.
  doi:10.1080/02671522.2015.1015438
- Meizlish, D. S., Wright, M. C., Howard, J., & Kaplan, M. L. (2018). Measuring the impact of a new faculty program using institutional data. *International Journal for Academic Development*, 23(2), 72–85.
- Morris, R. J. (2015). You're hired! Knowledge Quest, 43(5), 38-41.
- Morse, J. M. (2012). *Qualitative health research: Creating a new discipline*. Walnut Creek, Calif: Left Coast Press. doi:10.4324/9781315421650
- Moskowitz, J., & Stephens, M. (1997). From students of teaching to teachers of students: Teacher induction around the Pacific Rim. Washington, DC: US Department of Education. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED415194)
- Moss, J. (2010). A partnership in induction and mentoring: Noticing how we improve our practice. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *35*(7), 43–53.

- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research design*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Neier, S., & Zayer, L. T. (2015). Students' perceptions and experiences of social media in higher education. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 37(3), 133–143. doi:10.1177/0273475315583748
- Newberry, M., & Allsop, Y. (2017). Teacher attrition in the USA: The relational elements in a Utah case study. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(8), 863–880.
  doi:10.1080/13540602.2017.1358705
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Nowikowski, S. H. (2017). Successful with STEM? A qualitative case study of pre-service teacher perceptions. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(9), 2312–2333.
- O'Brien, M., & Freund, K. (2018). Lessons learned from introducing social media use in undergraduate economics research. *International Journal Of Education & Development Using Information & Communication Technology*, 14(1), 4–16.
- O'Donnell, J. L. (2018). Affecting solidarity: Buenos Aires teachers countering professional alienation & exploitation through mate & new media. *Multicultural Education*, 25(2), 57–61.
- Oh, O., Agrawal, M., & Rao, H. R. (2013). Community Intelligence and social media services: A rumor theoretic analysis of tweets during social crises. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(2), 407–A7.
- Papi, S. d. O. G. (2018). Professional development of novice special education teachers. *Educação e Realidade*, 43(2), 747–770. doi:10.1590/2175-623669053

- Pellegrino, K., Kastner, J. D., Reese, J., & Russell, H. A. (2018). Examining the long-term impact of participating in a professional development community of music teacher educators in the USA: An anchor through turbulent transitions. *International Journal of Music Education, 36*(2), 145–159. doi:10.1177/0255761417704214
- Perry, B., & Hayes, K. (2011). The effect of a new teacher induction program on new teachers reported teacher goals for excellence, mobility, and retention rates. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 6(1), 1–28. Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ972907)
- Peruta, A., & Shields, A. B. (2017). Social media in higher education: Understanding how colleges and universities use Facebook. *Journal Of Marketing For Higher Education*, 27(1), 131–143. doi:10.1080/08841241.2016.1212451
- Phoenix, M., Nguyen, T., Gentles, S. J., VanderKaay, S., Cross, A., & Nguyen, L. (2018). Using qualitative research perspectives to inform patient engagement in research. *Research Involvement and Engagement, 4*, article 20. doi:10.1186/s40900-018-0107-1
- Piot, L., Kelchtermans, G., & Ballet, K. (2010). Beginning teachers' job experiences in multiethnic schools. *Teachers & Teaching*, *16*(2), 259–276. doi:10.1080/13540600903478524
- Polizzi, S. J., Head, M., Barrett-Williams, D., Ellis, J., Roehrig, G. H., & Rushton, G. T. (2018).
  The use of teacher leader roles in an online induction support system. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 75, 174–186. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.06.010
- Pollard, V., Hains-Wesson, R., & Young, K. (2018). Creative teaching in STEM. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *23*(2), 178–193. doi:10.1080/13562517.2017.1379487
- Prasojo, L. D., Habibi, A., Mukminin, A., Muhaimin, Taridi, M., Ikhsan, & Saudagar, F. (2017). Managing digital learning environments: Student teachers' perception on the social

networking services use in writing courses in teacher education. *TOJET : The Turkish* Online Journal of Educational Technology, 16(4).

Quinn, D. M., & Kim, J. S. (2017). Scaffolding fidelity and adaptation in educational program implementation: Experimental evidence from a literacy intervention. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(6), 1187–1220. doi:10.3102/0002831217717692

- Ranginwala, S., & Towbin, A. J. (2018). Use of social media in radiology education. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 15(1), 190–200. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2017.09.010
- Rao, K., & Pennington, J. (2013). Should the third reminder be sent?. International Journal of Market Research, 55(5), 651–674. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-056
- Recchia, S. L., & Puig, V. I. (2019). Early childhood teachers finding voice among peers: A reflection on practice. *The New Educator*, 15(1), 51–65. doi:10.1080/1547688X.2018.1433344
- Rideout, G., & Windle, S. (2010). Beginning teachers' pupil control ideologies: An empirical examination of the impact of beliefs about education, mentorship, induction, and principal leadership style. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, *114*(1), 1–48.
- Rismiyanto, Saleh, M., & Mujiyanto, J. (2018). The effectiveness of andragogically oriented teaching method to improve the male students' achievement of teaching practice. *English Language Teaching*, 11(2), 113–121.
- Rockwell, B. V., Leck, J. D., & Elliott, C. J. (2013). Can e-mentoring take the "gender" out of mentoring? *Cyberpsychology: Journal of Psychosocial Research on Cyberspace*, 7(2). doi:10.5817/CP2013-2-5

- Rodrigues, L. D. A. D., de Pietri, E., Sanchez, H. S., & Kuchah, K. (2018). The role of experienced teachers in the development of pre-service language teachers' professional identity: Revisiting school memories and constructing future teacher selves. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 88, 146–155. doi:10.1016/j.ijer.2018.02.002
- Ronfeldt, M., & McQueen, K. (2017). Does new teacher induction really improve retention? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(4), 394–410. doi:10.1177/0022487117702583
- Rosell-Aguilar, F. (2018). Twitter: A professional development and community of practice tool for teachers. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 2018(1), 6. doi:10.5334/jime.452
- Rowe-Johnson, M. (2018). Achieving ethical mentoring and mentee professional integrity through formal mentor training for practicing psychologists. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 12(3), 203–209. doi:10.1037/tep0000198
- Sadiq, A., Ramzan, M., & Akhtar, M. (2017). induction program for novice teachers: An initiative towards quality. *New Horizons*, 11(1), 123.
- Saglam, S., & Alan, B. (2018). The role of induction program in newly recruited teachers' adaptation to a new teaching environment: A case from Anadolu University. *Electronic Journal Of Social Sciences*, 17(67), 1092–1108.
- Sass, D. A., Flores, B., Claeys, L., & Perez, B. (2012). Identifying personal and contextual factors that contribute to attrition rates for Texas public school teachers. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 20(15), 1–25.
- Schleicher, A. (2015). Schools for 21st-century learners: Strong leaders, confident teachers, innovative approaches. International Summit on the Teaching Profession. Paris: OECD Publishing. doi:10.1787/9789264231191-en

- Schuck, S., Aubusson, P., Buchanan, J., Varadharajan, M., & Burke, P. F. (2018). The experiences of early career teachers: New initiatives and old problems. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(2), 209–221.
- Schwandt, T. A. (2007). *The SAGE dictionary of qualitative inquiry* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE. doi:10.4135/9781412986281
- Shayshon, B., & Popper-Giveon, A. (2017). 'these are not the realities I imagined': An inquiry into the lost hopes and aspirations of beginning teachers. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 47(4), 533–549. doi:10.1080/0305764X.2016.1214238
- Sibiya, M. N., Ngxongo, T. S. P., & Beepat, S. Y. (2018). The influence of peer mentoring on critical care nursing students' learning outcomes. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 11(3), 130–142. doi:10.1108/IJWHM-01-2018-0003
- Simmie, G. M., de Paor, C., Liston, J., & O'Shea, J. (2017). Discursive positioning of beginning teachers' professional learning during induction: A critical literature review from 2004 to 2014. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 45(5), 505–519. doi:10.1080/1359866X.2017.1280598
- Sims, S., & Allen, R. (2018). Identifying schools with high usage and high loss of newly qualified teachers. *National Institute Economic Review*, (243), R27.
- Sindelar, P., Heretick, J., Hirsch, E., Rorrer, A., & Dawson, S. (2010). What district administrators need to know about state induction policy. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 23(1), 5–13.
- Smith, K., & Ulvik, M. (2017). Leaving teaching: Lack of resilience or sign of agency? *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(8), 928–945. doi:10.1080/13540602.2017.1358706

- Soponaru, C., Dîrtu, C., Ciuhodaru, T., & Iorga, M. (2016). On the complementariness of the learning theories and their relevance for streamlining the educational process. *International Journal of Communication Research*, 6(2), 180–186.
- Srikoom, W., Hanuscin, D. L., & Faikhamta, C. (2017). Perceptions of in-service teachers toward teaching STEM in Thailand. Asia - Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching, 18(2), 1–23.
- Stanulis, R., & Ames, K. T. (2009). Learning to mentor: Evidence and observation as tools in learning to teach. *Professional Educator*, 33(1), 28–38.
- Strycker, J. (2012). Developing an online support community for pre-service teachers at East Carolina University. *Techtrends: Linking Research & Practice to Improve Learning*, 56(6), 22–26. doi:10.1007/s11528-012-0609-x
- Sutherland, K., & Ho, S. (2017). Undergraduate perceptions of social media proficiency and graduate employability. *Higher Education, Skills and Work Based Learning, 7*(3), 261–274.
- Szeto, E., Cheng, A. Y., & Hong, J. (2016). Learning with social media: How do preservice teachers integrate YouTube and social media in teaching? *The Asia - Pacific Education Researcher*, 25(1), 35–44. doi:10.1007/s40299-015-0230-9
- Taylor, B., & Kroth, M. (2009). Andragogy's transition into the future: Meta-analysis of andragogy and its search for a measurable instrument. *Journal of Adult Education*, 38(1), 1–11.
- Thorndike, E. L. (1913). *Educational psychology*. New York, NY: Teachers College, Columbia University.

- Tomczyk, L., Szotkowski, R., Fabis, A., Wasinski, A., Chudý, Š., & Neumeister, P. (2017). Selected aspects of conditions in the use of new media as an important part of the training of teachers in the Czech Republic and Poland—differences, risks and threats. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(3), 747–767.
- Torenbeek, M., & Peters, V. (2017). Explaining attrition and decreased effectiveness of experienced teachers: A research synthesis. Work, 57(3), 397–407. doi:10.3233/WOR-172575
- Uğraş, M., & Genç, Z. (2018). Investigating preschool teacher candidates' STEM teaching intention and the views about STEM education. *Bartin Üniversitesi Egitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 7(2), 724–744. doi:10.14686/buefad.408150
- Ünsal, H. (2018). The use of social media by prospective teachers and their practice aims of web technologies in Turkey. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 6(10), 2258–2265.
- Van Overschelde, J. P., Saunders, J. M., & Ash, G. E. (2017). "Teaching is a lot more than just showing up to class and grading assignments": Preparing middle-level teachers for longevity in the profession. *Middle School Journal*, 48(5), 28–38. doi:10.1080/00940771.2017.1368319
- Veletsianos, G., Kimmons, R., Larsen, R., Dousay, T. A., & Lowenthal, P. R. (2018). Public comment sentiment on educational videos: Understanding the effects of presenter gender, video format, threading, and moderation on YouTube TED talk comments. *PLoS One, 13*(6) doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197331
- Veletsianos, G., Kimmons, R., Shaw, A., Pasquini, L., & Woodward, S. (2017). Selective openness, branding, broadcasting, and promotion: Twitter use in Canada's public

universities. *Educational Media International*, *54*(1), 1–19. doi:10.1080/09523987.2017.1324363

- Verma, A. (2017). Teacher education: Challenges and its implications. *Indian Journal of Health and Wellbeing*, 8(12), 1561–1565.
- Viberg, O., & Grönlund, Å. (2017). Understanding students' learning practices: Challenges for design and integration of mobile technology into distance education. *Learning, Media* and Technology, 42(3), 357–377.
- Vivakaran, M. V., & Neelamalar, M. (2018). Utilization of social media platforms for educational purposes among the faculty of higher education with special reference to Tamil Nadu. *Higher Education for the Future*, 5(1), 4–19.
- Wade, W., Bohac, P., & Platt, J. S. (2013). Technology-based induction: Professional development strategies for correctional education. *Journal of Correctional Education*, 64(3), 22–36.
- Washburn-Moses, L. (2010). Rethinking mentoring: Comparing policy and practice in special and general education. *Educational Policy Analysis Archives*, 18 (32).
  doi:10.14507/epaa.v18n32.2010
- Weldon, P. (2018). Early career teacher attrition in Australia: Evidence, definition, classification and measurement. *Australian Journal of Education*, 62(1), 61–78.
  doi:10.1177/0004944117752478
- Wenger, E., McDermott, R. A., & Snyder, W. (2002). Cultivating communities of practice: A guide to managing knowledge (1st ed.). Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Whipp, P. R., & Salin, K. (2018). Physical education teachers in Australia: Why do they stay? Social Psychology of Education, 21(4), 897–914. doi:10.1007/s11218-018-9443-0

- Williams, K. (2017). Using social learning theory to engage adults through extension education. NACTA Journal, 61(3), 263–264.
- Williams, S. L., & Kim, J. (2011). E-mentoring in online course projects: Description of an ementoring scheme. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching & Mentoring*, 9(2), 80–95.
- Williams, S., Sunderman, J., & Kim, J. (2012). E-mentoring in an online course: Benefits and challenges to e-mentors. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching & Mentoring*, 10(1), 109–123.
- Wong, S., & Luft, J. (2015). Secondary science teachers' beliefs and persistence: A longitudinal mixed-methods study. *Journal Of Science Teacher Education*, 26(7), 619–645. doi:10.1007/s10972-015-9441-4
- Wrye, B. E., & Pruitt, C. L. (2017). Perceptions of binge drinking as problematic among college students. *Journal Of Alcohol & Drug Education*, 61(1), 71–90.
- Wunsch, M. A. (1993). Mentoring probationary women academics: A pilot programme for career development. *Studies in Higher Education*, *18*(3), 349–362.
  doi:10.1080/03075079312331382261
- Yarbrough, J. R. (2018). Adapting adult learning theory to support innovative, advanced, online learning—WVMD model. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, 35.
- Yelich Biniecki, S. M., & Conceição, S. C. O. (2016). Using concept maps to engage adult learners in critical analysis. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications. doi:10.1177/1045159515604148
- Zembytska, M. (2016). Mentoring as the core element of new teacher induction in the USA: Policies and practices. *Comparative Professional Pedagogy*, 6(2), 67–73.

#### **APPENDICES**

### **Appendix A: IRB Approval Letter**

# LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

Dear Loretta Carter,

We are pleased to inform you that your study has been approved by the Liberty University IRB. This approval is extended to you for one year from the date provided above with your protocol number. If data collection proceeds past one year or if you make changes in the methodology as it pertains to human subjects, you must submit an appropriate update form to the IRB. The forms for these cases are attached to your approval email.

Your study falls under the expedited review category (45 CFR 46.110), which is applicable to specific, minimal risk studies and minor changes to approved studies for the following reason(s):

7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies. (NOTE: Some research in this category may be exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human subjects. <u>45 CFR 46.101(b)(2)</u> and (b)(3). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)

Please retain this letter for your records. Also, if you are conducting research as part of the requirements for a master's thesis or doctoral dissertation, this approval letter should be included as an appendix to your completed thesis or dissertation.

Your IRB-approved, stamped consent form is also attached. This form should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document should be made available without alteration.

Thank you for your cooperation with the IRB, and we wish you well with your research project. Sincerely,

**G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP** Administrative Chair of Institutional Research **Research Ethics Office** 

Liberty University | Training Champions for Christ since 1971

#### **Appendix B: Recruitment Letter**

#### Dear [Teacher]:

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for an Education Doctoral degree (Ed.D.). The purpose of my research is to determine what role social media can play in the new teacher induction experience. Can social media communication with other teachers during the first year in the classroom fill a virtual mentor role? I am writing to invite you to participate in my study.

If you are in your second or third year as a teacher, participated in new teacher induction during your first year in the classroom, communicated with a mentor or other teachers through social media during your induction period, and are willing to participate, you will be asked to be part of a focus group, complete an individual interview, and make entries in an online journal. It should take approximately three to five hours for you to complete all the procedures listed. Your name and other identifying information will be requested as part of your participation, but you will be assigned a pseudonym so that all your information will remain confidential.

To participate, please contact me by emailing me within the next week. I have attached a demographics survey with this email. Please return the completed demographics survey within a week of receiving it. I will contact you within a week to let you know if you have been chosen to participate in the research. Those who are chosen will also receive a consent form. The consent document contains additional information about my research, please review the information and sign the consent document and return it to me electronically and by mail. The information to start the online journal will be provided to you via an email along with a timeframe when the interview and focus group will be held.

If you choose to fully participate by completing all tasks associated with this study, you will be entered in a raffle to receive one of two \$50 Amazon gift cards.

Sincerely,

Loretta Carter Liberty University Doctoral Student

## Appendix C: Demographic Survey

1. What social media sites do you use? Check all that apply:				
Tw	itter $\Box$ Facebook $\Box$ Blogs $\Box$ Discussion Boards $\Box$ Google Hangouts $\Box$			
Instagram□ LinkedIn□ Pinterest□ Snapchat □ YouTube□				
	Please write in any additional sites used:			
2.	Have you had interactions with other teacher mentors on social media during your first year of teaching? If yes, please explain.			
3.	Did you have a mentor during new teacher induction? (If no, please skip to question 7)			
Yes	$s \square No \square$			
4.	How did you communicate with your mentor during new teacher induction? Check all that apply:			
In-personWrittenPhoneEmailSocial Media Sites				
5.	Were you assigned a mentor when you started teaching or did a mentoring relationship			
	develop with another teacher?			
6.	How often did you contact each other?			
7.	. What is your gender?			
8.	What is your age? $20 - 25 \square 26 - 30 \square 31 - 35 \square 36 - 40 \square 41 - 45 \square 46 - 50 \square$			
9.	What is your ethnicity?			
10. What is your marital status?				
11. What is the highest level of education completed?				

### **Appendix D: Acceptance Email**

[Date]

TISD Teacher [Email Address]

Dear [Teacher]:

You have been selected to be a participant in the research study. If you previously signed a consent form, please disregard that one. I had to change the parameters of the study to include third year teachers as well as second year teachers.

I am attaching a copy of the new consent form in an editable word document so you can put your name on the document and send it back to me without having to print or scan it. I have included a text version of the consent form at the bottom of this email in case that is easier. Please place an X at the bottom of the form to show you agree to the participation requirements and put your name on the signature line along with the date. When I have received your completed consent form, we will then move forward with the online journal and schedule the individual interview along with the focus group. Please let me know if you have any questions at all. Again, thank you so much for taking part in my doctoral research.

With sincere thanks,

Loretta Carter Liberty University Doctoral Student

#### **Appendix E: Rejection Email**

[Date]

TISD Teacher [Email Address]

Dear [Teacher]:

I would like to thank you for offering your assistance with my graduate research project. I received a large number of responses from teachers offering to help with my research. I currently have the maximum number of participants for the project and I will not need your assistance. I appreciate your taking time to complete my survey and response to my inquiry. Your support of my education efforts is encouraging and greatly appreciated.

With sincere thanks,

Loretta Carter Liberty University Doctoral Student

#### **Appendix F: Consent Form**

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board has approved this document for use from 4/30/2019 to 4/29/2020 Protocol # 3792.043019

#### CONSENT FORM

New Teacher Induction in the Age of Social Media: A Phenomenological Study of Teachers in their Second and Third Year in the Classroom Loretta Carter Liberty University School of Education

You are invited to be in a research study to examine what role social media can play in the new teacher induction experience. You were selected as a possible participant because you are a second-year or third-year teacher, teaching in the grades K-12, participated in new teacher induction during your first year in the classroom, and communicated with a mentor or other teachers through social media during your induction period. Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to be in the study.

Loretta Carter, a doctoral candidate in the School of Education at Liberty University, is conducting this study.

Background Information: The purpose of this study is to examine what role social media plays in the new teacher induction experience.

Procedures: If you agree to be in this study and are selected to participate, I would ask you to do the following things:

- Make entries in an online participant journal. These entries will reflect your memories, feelings, experiences, and thoughts from your first year in the classroom. The time estimated for this task will vary based upon your activity on the journaling site. The site can be accessed any time and only requires internet access. This should be no more than 2 hours during the course of the study.
- Participate in an individual interview. This is a semi-structured interview that should not take more than an hour. This interview will be recorded by audio and video. This can be scheduled at your convenience and be completed in person or via SKYPE.
- Participate in a focus group meeting with study participants. The location of the meeting
  will be in a classroom or conference room where the discussions will not be overheard by
  others. This meeting should last less than 2 hours. The focus group meeting will be
  recorded by audio and video.
- Participate in member checking. This will require you to review a transcript of your individual interview and your part in the focus group to ensure accuracy of the information. This should not take more than 15 minutes.

Risks: The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

Benefits: Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study. However, you may benefit from the collaborative conversation with other novice teachers during the focus group meeting.

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board has approved this document for use from 4/30/2019 to 4/29/2020 Protocol # 3792.043019

Benefits to society: The information gained from this research may help examine the impact that a virtual mentoring program can provide to new teachers.

Compensation: Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study. However, if all tasks associated with this study are completed, participants will be entered into a raffle to win one of two \$50 Amazon gift cards.

Confidentiality: The records of this study will be kept private. In any sort of report I might publish, I will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. I may share the data I collect from you for use in future research studies or with other researchers; if I share the data that I collect about you, I will remove any information that could identify you, if applicable, before I share the data.

- Participants will be assigned a pseudonym. I will conduct the interviews in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Data will be stored on a password locked computer and may be used in future presentations. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Interviews will be recorded and transcribed. Recordings will be stored on a password locked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings.
- I cannot assure participants that other members of the focus group will not share what was discussed with persons outside of the group.

Voluntary Nature of the Study: Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

How to Withdraw from the Study: If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Contacts and Questions: The researcher conducting this study is Loretta Carter. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you are encouraged to contact her at You may also contact the researcher's faculty chair, Dr. Gail Collins, at

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher[s], you are encouraged to contact the Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA 24515 or email at <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Please notify the researcher if you would like a copy of this information for your records.

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board has approved this document for use from 4/30/2019 to 4/29/2020 Protocol # 3792.043019

Statement of Consent: I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

The researcher has my permission to audio-record/video-record me as part of my participation in this study.

Signature of Participant

Date

Date

Signature of Investigator

#### **Appendix G: Participant Journal First Entry**

This online journal is for you to use as you complete your participant journal. The online journaling site is Monkkee, located online at https://www.monkkee.com/en/. The journaling account will be created using the email address that you provide to me. This account will have a specific password that is selected for you. There is unlimited space for you to enter stories from your induction year. There will also be some prompts to help you focus on particular stories that are pertinent to the dissertation topic. Each of the prompts will be contained in a separate journal posting. At the conclusion of this research, I will send you an email letting you know when I have finished accessing your journal input. You will still have access to this site and may then change the password and continue to use the account or delete it.

During the time you are completing your journal, I will be sending you different prompts to give you some ideas to help recall events that have occurred during your induction. The prompts for the first week include:

What social media sites did you use the most?

What did you like most about the various sites?

How often did you reach out specifically to other teachers?

#### **Appendix H: Participant Journal Second Entry**

I hope that you have been adding to your participant journal on a regular basis. I wanted to provide you with some additional questions for you to add to your journal. I would like you to answer as completely as possible and provide as much detail as you can.

The prompts for the second week include:

What types of advice did you find on social media (Classroom Management, Parent Teacher

Conferences, Lesson Planning, Time Management, etc.)?

What types of advice did you share with others on social media?

Post an example of how you put an idea from social media into practice in your classroom.

If you could create an online group where first year teachers could reach out for help, advice, and a safe place to vent frustration, what would it look like?

#### **Appendix I: Participant Journal Third Entry**

I hope that you have enjoyed documenting your experiences during this research. Here are some final questions for you to think about as you are updating your journal and documenting your time completing your first year in the classroom. Your honest and candid contributions are an important part of this research.

The prompts for the third week include:

Please describe what happened on your best day in the classroom during new teacher induction? Please describe what happened on your worst day in the classroom during new teacher induction?

What was the best advice you received from a teacher/mentor through social media?

#### **Appendix J: Interview Questions**

**Interview Questions** 

- 1. Describe briefly your first thoughts when you started the new teacher induction program.
- 2. How would you describe your first meeting with your mentor?
- 3. What were the first few problems your mentor was able to help you with?
- 4. How often did you and your mentor communicate?
- 5. When and how do you use social media?
- 6. When and how did you first start communicating about your teaching via social media?
- 7. How often do you use social media sites to discuss education?
- 8. What was your most uncomfortable situation during the first few months that you can remember?
- 9. Many teachers have considered leaving the profession during their first year. Please describe why you think this happens?
- 10. What do you think could be done to help keep teachers beyond their first year?
- 11. How would you say the new teacher induction program helped you through the first year?
- 12. What would you say was the best lesson you learned during the new teacher induction program?
- 13. What sort of training sessions were you provided to help you improve your skills in the classroom during your first year?
- 14. What was your least favorite part of the new teacher induction program?
- 15. What part of the new teacher induction program did you enjoy the most?
- 16. We've covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. One final question... What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences with the new teacher induction program?

#### **Appendix K: Focus Group Questions**

#### Focus Group Questions

- 1. Please describe your idea of what a great new teacher induction program would contain.
- 2. What sort of support do you think a new teacher needs before they teach their first class?
- 3. What type of assistance or training would be most helpful for a new teacher during the first few days in the beginning of the school year?
- 4. What kind of help would the ideal new teacher mentor provide?
- 5. What type of support do you think would be most valuable for a first-year teacher at the middle of the school year?
- 6. What type of support do you think would be most valuable for a new teacher towards the end of their first year at the school?
- Please describe a time when you didn't feel you had the help you needed to keep teaching.
- 8. What made you think about reaching out to others for help via social media?
- 9. How often did you use social media during your first year of teaching?
- 10. Please describe the role of social media during your first year of teaching.
- 11. What do you believe is the main reason you returned for another year of teaching?
- 12. We've covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. One final question... What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences with the new teacher induction program?

11/20/2018	I have been looking at prior research and all my notes from school to put together the best possible research questions to allow me to acquire quality	
10/5/0010	input from the teachers who participate in this study.	
12/5/2018	I discussed prior research that was performed with a member of the local school board to get an idea of how research participation has been received in the past. There is a positive history and good outcomes that may help with finding research participants.	
1/23/2019	I found research that discusses a concept called Judgementoring. I immediately understood the concept. I have worked with teachers that felt they were picked on during an evaluation instead of having the evaluation be a positive experience. Evaluations should be about giving positive tips and techniques to help the teacher get stronger and not just about pointing out what they are doing wrong.	
4/27/2019	I was working on my IRB application updates and was thinking about what the best demographic mix will be for the study and the pilot study.	
4/30/2019		
5/3/2019	Put out multiple requests for participants for my pilot study.	
5/8/2019	Secured a partner to complete a mutual peer review when we are ready.	
5/9/2019	Put out new requests for participants for my pilot study through my church and family and friends on Facebook. This finally allowed me to find three teachers who met the requirements for my study.	
5/20/2019	All three teachers were unable to participate after numerous requests due to the commitments for completion of school year work.	
5/23/2019	I was able to find three new teachers who were able to participate in the pilot study. After confirming the demographics of the group, I set up the online accounts for the three teachers with Monkkee and successfully tested the online site. We got together for individual interviews first, then we did the focus group.	
6/12/2019	I requested the email addresses of second year teachers from the school district after completing the pilot study.	
6/20/2109	Heard back from the school district that there was an official public information request form that needed to be completed on their website. I completed the request today.	
7/8/2019	Received an official letter that stated that funds needed to be sent to process the request. I sent the funds out by express certified mail.	
7/16/2019	I received the email address list from the school district.	
7/18/2019	I started my email recruitment.	
8/1/2019	After sending out more than a thousand emails, I have 6 people who have agreed to be a part of the study. I am excited that I got 6 participants but I am	

	also concerned that I am looking for a very specific group of teachers. They may be more difficult to find that I thought when I started searching. I am drafting my second request for participants. I am making this email shorter to get the attention of my target teacher quicker.
8/2/2019	Several teachers responded to my email request wanting to know how I received their email addresses. A few were hostile replies. One teacher was angry that she was not able to do her research in the school district when trying to complete her doctorate. I sent the process instructions to her to explain the steps I followed to get permission to work with the school district teachers. The hostile replies were very surprising to me. I created a basic reply to send out to explain to any teacher who asked that this was a legitimate study and was authorized by the school district. I am sure teachers are used to a great deal of unsolicited spam emails just like everyone else.
8/7/2019	I sent out over 800 second requests to teachers from the target emails. The shorter more informal request seemed to get many more replies than the first email did. I believe that was from a combination of the time being closer to the start of the school year and there were no attachments added to the second email. Many of the teachers who responded were also experienced teachers that were hired into the school district after working in the field.
8/8/2019	I never imagined this was going to be so difficult. I looked back through my sent folder and realized that I had sent out over 4000 requests to participate in the study in various formats to try to get teachers in my target demographics to take part in this research.
8/20/2019	I have received offers to participate from several teachers who are beyond their second year in the classroom. While many have significantly more time as educators, I do not believe they would have used social media to work with other teachers during their new teacher induction. Their current time as a teacher is not as relevant as their experience during their induction year. I have decided to request IRB approval to extend the participant pool to allow third year teachers to be a part of the study as well as second year teachers. After I obtain approval for the new selection criteria, I will go back through emails that I received from teachers who were past their second year in the classroom to let them know that if they are still interested, they can participate in the research.
8/26/2019	The IRB approved my change in protocol request and I am going back to my emails to secure the rest of the participants needed.
9/4/2019	I secured 15 teachers to participate and have all the demographics and consent for research documentation.
9/4/2019	The online journals were set up for the participants.
9/10/2019	Several participants have backed out of the study for one reason or another. I am extremely nervous that I will not have the number of teachers I need based upon how many I have lost. Dr. Collins suggested that I not start this process until I had 15 teachers secured. Thank God she was there to get me to go for 15. I still have the 10 that I need to go forward. I will have to maintain close contact with them to ensure everyone is able to participate in the focus group at the end of the month.

9/14/2019	I needed to schedule two different times for the focus group to allow for all 10		
	teachers to participate. I am going to secure the location for the focus group.		
9/11/2019	I confirmed my flight and other travel reservations to cover the two focus group dates.		
9/11/2019	I have rented one of the meeting rooms at the local library for the focus groups. Holding the focus group at a venue that is not connected with the TISD will allow all the participants to feel comfortable that their confidentiality will be maintained during their meeting attendance.		
9/18/2019	I have completed the majority of the individual interviews and the semi- structured format was perfect. When a participant brought up a specific subject, I was able to quickly refocus and ask additional questions that were pertinent to their experience. This allowed for a more natural flow to the conversation. It also allowed me to get more insight into the experiences we discussed. The level of detail is much more than I would have received if I could not have moved in the direction each individual interview directed.		
9/18/2019	Transcribing the interviews has allowed me to examine what my personal thoughts about the participants experiences were. I have been concentrating on keeping any personal experiences and biases from coloring my perspective with our discussions. I believe the concept of <i>epoche</i> is much clearer than ever before. I could see how it would be easy to steer the discussions to what I wanted the participants to discuss but simply understanding the importance of keeping my personal feelings and biases aside has allowed me to gain better insights into the participants' experiences. I believe that several notions about where the study would end up have changed in the past few weeks during the research gathering process.		
9/23/2019	While finishing up the last of the transcriptions for the teachers' individual semi-structured interviews, I noticed that each interview was guided by the teacher's focused responses to my early questions. Each interview took on its own feel based upon the experiences of the teacher during their first year. The selection of a semi-structured interview that allowed me to delve deeper into the answers that I received was a vital part of getting to the heart of the experiences of the teachers in the study.		
9/26/2019	I completed the first focus group. I brought name tags that displayed the color name selected by each teacher to the meeting so the teachers never addressed each other by their actual names, only by their color names. None of the teachers in this group had met each other in their school careers before the focus group. I was relieved to see that there would be no chance of any previous personal connections getting in the way of an easy discussion today. That was something I had been thinking about as I was working on my own personal biases during this reflexive journal.		
9/26/2019	The focus group was audio recorded by a Sony Integrated Circuit Digital recorder. A secondary audio recording was made using my iPhone. A third safety recording was also created using recording software I downloaded onto my personal iPad.		
9/28/2019	The remaining participants met today for the final focus group. The location for the focus group was the same meeting room at the same public library as the		

	last focus group. The dynamic of the last group was even better than I had hoped and I was eager to see if the second focus group would be the same.	
10/17/19	All data has been transcribed and member checked and that analysis can begin.	
10/27/19	As I am writing up findings in chapter 4, I am rereading the data collected and ensuring the commentary that I am documenting is the participant's thoughts and words and not what my ideas were before I started. I am seeing their ideas emerge in the writing of this chapter more than ever before. I understand why my ideas needed to be bracketed out of this process.	
1/18/20	I am going back through all the member checked documentation to ensure I have used the exact terminology of the participants to appropriately capture their experiences. As I am completing the edits to chapter 4 and 5 I am focusing on the findings to express the phenomenon in the most accurate way.	

#### 4/30/19 Received IRB approval for my study. 5/3/19 Put out multiple requests for participants for my pilot study. 5/23/19 I was able to find three new teachers who were able to participate in the pilot study. After confirming the demographics of the group, I set up the online accounts for the three teachers with Monkkee and successfully tested the online site. We got together for individual interviews first, then we did the focus group. 7/18/19 I started my email recruitment for participants Contacted Dr. Collins about requesting an update from the IRB to add third-8/20/19 year teachers. The IRB approved my change in protocol request and I am going back to my 8/26/19 emails to secure the rest of the participants needed. I secured 15 teachers to participate and have all the demographics and consent 9/4/19 for research documentation. The online journals were set up for the participants. 9/4/19 9/10/19 I am down to only 10 teachers. I cannot lose any additional participants. 9/14/19 I needed to schedule two different times for the focus group to allow for all 10 teachers to participate. 9/24/19 I rented a private meeting room at the local library for both focus groups. 9/28/19 Completed both focus groups. 10/4/19 All transcription completed and checked for accuracy. Sent for member check. 10/17/19 All member checking has been completed. 10/17/19 Analysis began using NVivo 12 Plus 11/1/19 Analysis completed 11/22/19 Completed chapter 4 and 5 and submitted to my committee chair for review 1/16/20 Submitted updates to chapters 4 and 5. I am working on updates for the entire paper now. 2/2/20Completed updates and changes from my chair review. 2/13/20 Submitted completed dissertation for peer review.

Submitted completed dissertation to my dissertation committee member

Successfully defended dissertation

2/14/20

3/12/20

#### **Appendix M: Audit Trail**

## **Appendix N: Open Codes and Descriptions**

## **Open Codes and Descriptions**

Open Codes	Description
Characteristics of a great online support Group	What would be the best parts of an online support group for first year teachers?
Communication between new teachers and mentors	What role does communication between new teachers and mentors play during the new teacher induction experience?
Formal Mentors	These were mentors who were assigned either by the school, the district, or the certification organization
Informal Mentors	These are teachers who work with the new teacher at their school but were not assigned to the role of mentor.
Virtual Mentor	These are teachers and educators who were contacted via social media using blogs, Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, and teachers pay teachers
How do they describe their use of social media	How do second- or third-year teachers describe their use of social media during their new teacher induction year?
Frequency of use	How often does the teacher go to these social media sites
Putting Social Media Ideas to work in the classroom	Explain how you used an idea or information from social media and used it in your classroom.
Sharing my support on Social Media	What have you posted on social media?
Which sites were visited	what sites were discussed by the participants of the study
Reasons teachers quit teaching	These are reasons documented by participants for why other teachers have left the profession

Open Codes	Description
Lack of Resources	What do teachers need to be successful in the classroom?
Teacher Professional Development	What sort of PD did participants mention that teachers need to be successful?
Being able to choose what you need	Was the teacher given a choice as to what type of PD they wanted?
Classroom Management	Did the educators feel they had the skills needed to keep control in their classroom?
Lesson Planning	How comfortable teachers felt about their ability to create and execute their lesson plans.
Understanding and teaching TEKS	How well were participants taught about Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS)? Do teachers feel comfortable working the required information into their lesson plans?
Variety of training	Is the training offered by the TISD meeting your needs? Is it being provided in a way that you will retain it?
Why teachers quit	The motivating factors that teachers listed as to why they believed other teachers left the profession.
Teacher induction experiences	This code is a combination of positive and negatives examples of what the teacher's experience was like during their first year in the classroom.
Best Day during the first year	What was the best success you experienced during the first year?
Best Lesson Learned During New Teacher Induction	What was the best takeaway from your time in the induction program?
First Problems you needed help with	What issues were the first ones that caused you to reach out for help?

Open Codes	Description
First thoughts of the new teacher induction program	What was the first impression when you started the induction training or if you did not attend training, your first days in the classroom.
How would you say the induction program helped you	Teachers explain what helped them during their first year.
Least favorite part of teacher induction	Teachers explain the part of the induction experience the liked the least.
Worst Day during the first year	Teachers discussed what they remember as their most difficult issue during their first year.
What are the characteristics of a virtual role model	When viewed from an adult learner's perspective, what are the characteristics of a virtual role model that provide a useful support system to a first-year teacher?
What kind of support do they need	What kind of support do they need
Administration	This type of support would come from Assistant Principals and Principals,
Mentor support	This is support provided by an assigned mentor either by the school, district, or certification organization.
Teacher support	This type of support would come from teachers who work at their school but are not formal mentors
Virtual Mentor support	This is support received from the online resources, in blogs, discussion boards, Facebook pages, etc.
Why teachers stay	The motivations that teachers use to justify not quitting when situations become difficult.